
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL SESSION 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBER CONFERENCE ROOM 

MONDAY, MAY 5, 2014, 5:15 T0 to 7:00 PM 
 
1.  Call to Order 
  
2.  Interviews  
  
 5:20 Scott Sorensen – Planning Board Vacancy   
 5:30 Scott Wurster – Planning Board Vacancy 
 5:40  Jim Trout – Police Commission 
 5:50 Ron Brunk – Park Board 
 6:00 John Phelps – Pedestrian & Bike Path Advisory Committee, extra-territorial 
 6:10 Susan Schnee – Park Board 
 6:20 Jim DeHerrera – Pedestrian & Bike Path Advisory Committee 
 6:30 Emily Hutchins – Pedestrian & Bike Path Advisory Committee 
 6:40 Dylan Boyle – Pedestrian & Bike Path Advisory Committee, extra-territorial 
 
3.  Public Comment 
 
4.  Appointments   
 
     a.   Planning Board – 1 Position to fill the remainder of a term expiring 12-31-14 – Council 

appointment 
 
     b.   Police Commission – 1 Position – Mayoral Appointment, confirmed by Council 
  
     c.   Park Board – 2 Positions - Mayoral Appointments, confirmed by Council 
 
     d. Pedestrian and Bicycle Path Advisory Committee – 2 Positions – Council appointments 
  a – 1 position for resident inside the City 
  b – 1 position for resident of the extra-territorial zoning jurisdiction 
 
Note  -  If time runs out before all appointments are made, time has been set aside to make them 
during the Regular Council Session under Communications from Mayor and City Councilors. 
 
5.  Adjourn 
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PUBLIC NOTICE 
THE CITY OF WHITEFISH HAS POSITIONS OPEN 

ON THE FOLLOWING VOLUNTEER COMMITTEES 

PARK BOARD- Residency requirement: Applicants must have resided within the City Limits for 2 years and 
within the State for 3 years, and must be at least 2 1  years old. 2 Positions, 2-year terms. 

POLICE COMMISSION- Open to City residents who have maintained residency within the City for one year 
prior to appointment to the Commission. 1 Position, 3-year term. 

ARCHITECTURAL REVIEW COMMITTEE- open to residents of the City or the Zoning Jurisdiction who 

are either employed by or is an owner of a business in the city of Whitefish, or owner of property in the city 
of Whitefish. One position is open for licensed architects or licensed design professionals, one opening for a 

Member at Large. 2 Positions, 3-year terms. 

PEDESTRIAN & BICYCLE PATH ADVISORY COMMITTEE- open to residents of the City or the Zoning 
Jurisdiction, who have maintained their residency for a minimum of one year prior to appointment. Vacancies 
this year are for two Members at Large, one who lives inside the City Limits, and one who lives outside the City 
Limits but within the Zoning Jurisdiction. 2 Positions, 2-year terms. 

TREE ADVISORY COMMITTEE- open to residents of the City or the Zoning Jurisdiction, who have 

maintained their residency for a minimum of one year prior to appointment. 2 Positions, 2-year terms. 

WEED CONTROL ADVISORY COMMITTEE- open to residents of the City and the Zoning jurisdiction. 2 
Positions, 2-year tenns. 

RESORT TAX MONITORING COMMITTEE -applicants can be an owner, operator or representative of 
any of a Bar/Restaurant, Lodging Business, or a Retail Business in the City Limits of Whitefish, or an interested 

City resident as a Member at Large. The two (2) positions expiring this year are both Members at Large. 3-ycar 

terms. 

WHITEFISH CONVENTION AND VISITOR BUREAU COMMITTEE- Three (3) Committee positions 
expire this year-3-year terms. Open to residents of the City of Whitefish and the Whitefish planning 

jurisdiction. Up to 2 positions may be residents in Flathead County outside of the Whitefish Planning 

Jurisdiction if they are an owner or manager of a business located and operating within the City of Whitefish 

zoning jurisdiction. Committee Membership includes representatives of Whitefish Mountain Resort, Finance, 

Large and Small Lodging properties, Restaurant and Bar Businesses, Retail Businesses, Transportation 
Businesses and the Whitefish Lake Golf Course. Openings include preference for representatives of Retail 

Businesses, Transportation Businesses, and one for any category. 

LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES- One (1) position open to residents who live inside the City Limits. 

5-year term. 

IMPACT FEE ADVISORY COMMITTEE- 2-Year term-One ( 1) Position -The open position is for a 
person from the Development Community. Committee specifications require the applicant either lives or works 

within the Whitefish zoning jurisdiction. The Committee meets once a year. 

WHITEFISH CITY-COUNTY PLANNING BOARD- One (I) position to fill the remainder of a term 
expiring December 3 1 ,  20 1 4. Applicants must reside within the City Limits. 

Please submit a letter of interest to serve on any of the above committees to the Whitefish City Clerk's Office 

at 4 1 8  E. 2nd Street or mail to P.O. Box 158, Whitefish, MT 59937, by Wednesday, April23, 2014. Interviews 
will be scheduled for May and June as needed. Thereafter, if vacancies still exist, letters of interest will be 
accepted until the positions are filled. If you have any questions please call the City Clerk's Office at 863-2400. 

These are also posted on the City's website: www.cityofwhitefish.org. 
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Scott C. Wurster 

222 Montana Avenue 

Whitefish, Montana 59937 

April 23, 2014 

Hon. John Muhlfeld 

Mayor, City of Whitefish 

P.O. Box 158 

418 East 2nd Street 

Whitefish, MT 59937 

Dear Mayor Muhlfeld I Council, 

Please accept this letter as indicating my interest in being appointed to the fill the currently vacant City 

seat on the Whitefish City County Planning Board. 

I've lived in Whitefish for well over ten years. I care deeply about my community. I feel privileged and 

extremely fortunate to live here. 

I believe in the process, in following the rules, and being accountable to those I'd be selected to 

represent. 

Thank you for your time and thoughtful consideration. 

Sincerely, 
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Montana c.ode Annotated 2009 

76-1-201. Membership of city-county planning board. (1) Except as provided in subsection (2), a city-county 

planning board consists of no fewer than nine members to be appointed as follows: 

(a) two official members who reside outside the city limits but within the jurisdictional area of the city-county 

planning board to be appointed by the board of county commissioners, who may in the discretion of the board of 

county commissioners be employed by or hold public office in the county; 

(b) two official members who reside within the city limits to be appointed by the city council, who may in the 

discretion of the city council be employed by or hold public office in the city; 

(c) two citizen members who reside within the city limits to be appointed by the mayor of the city; 

(d) two citizen members who reside within the jurisdictional area of the city-county planning board to be 

appointed by the board of county commissioners; 

(e) the ninth member to be appointed by the board of supervisors of a conservation district provided for in 76-
15-311 from the members or associate members of the board of supervisors, subject to approval of the members 

provided for in subsections (1)(a) through (1)(d). 

(2) Subsection (1)(e) does not apply if there is no member or associate member of the board of supervisors of a 

conservation district who is able or willing to serve on the city-county planning board. In that case, the ninth 

member of the city-county planning board must be selected by the eight officers and citizen members pursuant to 

subsections (1)(a) through (1)(d), with the consent and approval of the board of county commissioners and the city 

council. 

11-7-4: ZONING COMMISSION, Whitefish Municipal Code 

A. Creation, Composition And Compensation: 

1. The zoning commission for the city shall be the Whitefish city/county planning board, which shall then 
be referred to as the planning board. 

2. The membership of the planning board shall consist of nine (9) members representative of areas, both 
within and without the incorporated limits of the city whose terms, etc. , are set forth in state law, and the 
rules of procedure adopted by the Whitefish city/county planning board. 

3. The members of the planning board shall serve without compensation, other than reimbursement for 
approved budgeted expenditures incurred in carrying out the functions of the zoning commission. (Ord. A-
407, 3-15-1982) 

4. It is hereby established as city policy that the city council shall not appoint to the city/county planning 
board or to the board of adjustment on a permanent basis any member of the Whitefish city council; 
provided, however, that members of the city council may be appointed to such boards on a temporary 
basis (not exceeding 3 consecutive months) in order to fill in for an absent board member or to fill a 
vacant position. (Ord. 02-02, 2-4-2002) 

B. Powers And Duties: It shall be the duty of the planning board to hold public hearings where necessary 
and make recommendations to the city council on all matters concerning or relating to the creation of 
zoning districts, the boundaries thereof, the appropriate regulations to be enforced therein, the 
amendments of these regulations and any other matter within the scope of the zoning power. The 
planning board shall give to the city council, not less than biennially, a brief report of the state of the 
zoning ordinance and map. The planning board is also authorized to confer and advise with other city, 
county, regional or state planning or zoning commissions. (Ord. A-407, 3-15-1982) 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 5 of 226



WHITEFISH CITY-COUNTY PLANNING BOARD-WCC 11-7-4-2 YEAR TERMS -MEET 3Ro THURSDAY 

Chad Phillips 

Ken Stein (Vice-Chair) 

Vacancy 

Greg Gunderson (Chair) 

Vic Workman 

Vacancy 

Vacancy 

Diane Smith 

307 Wisconsin Ave 

509 E. 6111 Street 

840 E. 1'1 Street 

PO Box 1726, WF 

2060 Houston Dr 

407-02478 

250-0599 

863-9947 (W) 

250-5944 

250-4328 

Member-At-Large- One Year Term, appointed by FCD or CCPB 

John Ellis PO Box 520, WF 862-3798 

TERM EXPIRATION DATE 
12/31/2014 City Mayoral Appt 

12/31/2015 City Mayoral Appt 

12/31/2014 City Council Ap t 

12/31/2015 City Council Appt 

12/31/2015 County Member 

12/31/2015 County Member 

12/31/2014 County Member 

12/31/2014 County Member 

12/31/2014 Member at Large 
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March 27, 2014 

Dear JL/l1V 
Your term on the Wh/ fe�i s /1 
expires this year on 

City of Whitefish, City Clerk's Office 
418 E. znd Street, PO Box 158 
Whitefish, Mt 59937 
406-863-2400 
nlorang@cityofwhitefish.org 

\ 
I ()71 

As a matter of course, the City will also be advertising this position along with 
others also expiring at this time. The deadline to receive letters of application, 
and to receive your letter of interest if you want to reapply to serve another term, 
is April 23, 2014. Interviews with the Council will be scheduled in May and June 
as needed; I will call you to set up your specific interview time if you are re­
applying. If you wish, you can complete the blank lines below and return this 
notice to me in place of a new letter of interest. 

I have enclosed a copy of the ad we will be running. 

If you are not planning to 're-up' for your position again, please let me know. 

Thank you, and thank you for your service to the community of Whitefish! 

��� 
Necile Lorang, CMC 
Whitefish City Clerk 

To Whitefish City Council: 
I am interested in serving another term on the __________ _ 

Y(!)" 1 JCF= CotMrn ;?S � 

Daytime Phone # 
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POLICE COMMISSION 

2-5-1: COMMISSION ESTABLISHED: 
There is hereby established a police commission for the city, hereinafter referred to as 
the commission. (Ord. 02-08, 4-1-2002) 

2-5-2: PURPOSE, POWERS, PROCESSES AND DUTIES: 

The powers and duties of the commission are set forth in Montana code 7-32-4151 
through 7-32-4164, this chapter and rules of procedure adopted by the commission. 
Consistent with state statutes and this chapter, these powers and duties of the 
commission shall include: 

A Review of police officer applicants when such review is sought by the chief of police 
or city manager; 

B. Hear and decide appeals by any member or officer of the police department who has 
been disciplined, suspended, removed or discharged by an order of the city 
manager; and 

C. Provide comment and recommendations to the chief of police or city manager on 
matters related to the police department. (Ord. 02-08, 4-1-2002) 

2-5-3: MEMBERSHIP: 

A Appointment; Compensation: The commission shall have three (3) members. 
Members shall be appointed by the mayor and ratified by the city council. Members 
shall reside within the corporate limits of the city and shall have maintained 
residency within the city for one year prior to appointment to the commission. 
Commission members shall receive no compensation. 

B. Terms; Positions: Commission terms shall be three (3) years. There are hereby 
created positions numbered 1 through 3 inclusive of the members of the 
commission. Members serving on the effective date of this chapter shall be assigned 
to positions that correspond with the expiration dates of their existing terms: 

Number jTerm Expiration Date 
1 -TFirst regular council meeting in May 2002 
2 
3 

regular council meeting in May 2003 
First regular council meeting in May 2004 

As each of the above listed expiration dates is completed, members shall be 
appointed successively to three (3) year terms. Terms shall begin upon appointment 
at the first regular city council meeting held in May of each year. However, a 
member serving on the commission during an appeal proceeding under Montana 
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code 7-32-4155 shall continue to serve on the commission until such time that a 
decision on the appeal is rendered. In such case, a new member may not sit on the 
commission for business. At the discretion of the city council, members may be 
appointed to more than one term. 

C. Removal Of Member: A member may be removed from the commission by majority 
vote of the city council for cause upon written charges and after a public hearing. 
Wilful disregard of state statutes, city ordinances and the rules of procedures of the 
commission, or absences from three (3) consecutive meetings, including regular and 
special meetings, or absences from more than fifty percent (50%) of such meetings 
held during the calendar year, shall constitute cause for removal. Circumstances of 
the absences shall be considered by the city council prior to removal. Any person 
who knows in advance of his inability to attend a specific meeting shall notify the 
chair or secretary of the commission at least twenty four (24) hours prior to any 
scheduled meeting. 

D. Vacancy: Pursuant to subsections A and B of this section, any vacancy on the 
commission shall be filled by the mayor and ratified by the city council acting in a 
regular or special session for the unexpired term of the position wherein the vacancy 
exists. The city council may appoint members of the city council to temporarily fill 
vacant positions on the commission. (Ord. 02-08, 4-1-2002) 

2-5-4: ORGANIZATION: 
At its first meeting after June 1 of each year, the commission shall elect a chair, vice 
chair and secretary for the next twelve ( 12) month period. Upon the absence of the 
chair, the vice chair shall serve as chair pro tern. If the secretary is absent from a 
specific meeting, the attending members shall elect a secretary pro tern for the meeting. 
If a vacancy occurs in the chair, vice chair or secretary positions, the commission shall 
elect a member to fill the vacancy at the next meeting. The secretary need not be a 
member of the commission and shall keep an accurate record of all commission 
proceedings. (Ord. 02-08, 4-1-2002) 

2-5-5: MEETINGS, RULES AND REGULATIONS: 
Two (2) members of the commission shall constitute a quorum. Not less than a quorum 
of the commission may transact any business or conduct any proceedings before the 
commission. The concurring vote of two (2) members of the commission shall be 
necessary to decide any question or matter before the commission. The commission 
shall adopt rules of procedure for the conduct of meetings consistent with statutes, the 
city charter, ordinances and resolutions. Meetings of the commission shall be held at 
least once every three (3) months or at the call of the chair, chief of police or city 
manager, and at such other times as the commission may determine. All meetings shall 
be open to the public. (Ord. 02-08, 4-1-2002) 

2-5-6: ENFORCEMENT OF DECISIONS: 
Pursuant to Montana code 7-32-4161, the city manager shall make orders enforcing the 
decisions of the commission. (Ord. 02-08, 4-1-2002) 
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2-5-7: STAFF SUPERVISION: 
The commission shall have no supervisory control and shall not direct the chief of police 
or other staff in the performance of their official duties. Commission involvement in the 
operations of the police department shall be limited to comment and recommendations. 
(Ord. 02-08, 4-1-2002) 

2-5-8: EXPENDITURES: 
The commission shall have no authority to make any expenditures on behalf of the city 
or disburse any funds provided by the city or to obligate the city for any funds. (Ord. 02-
08, 4-1-2002) 
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POLICE COMMISSION - WCC 2-5-1 - 3 YEAR TERMS- Mayoral Appointments confirmed by Council 
TERM EXPIRATION DATE 

Ross Doty 2019 Ridgecrest Drive 730-2926 First Monday ofMay, 2016 

Gene Gemignani PO Box 5256 270-0447 (C) 752-2575 (W) First Monday of May, 2015 

Jim Trout PO Box 695 863-2265 (W) First Monday of May, 2014 
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City of Whitefish, City Clerk's Office 
418 E. 2"d Street, PO Box 158 
Whitefish, Mt 59937 

March 27, 2014 

Dear ___ /(....>.....;;;;.l--�.·, )__,1 ____ _ 

Your term on the .Pa.tk 13or:2;' oJ 
expires this year on IJZ!f/T:_ / / ,;? D / ';/ 

406-863-2400 
nlorang@cityofwhitefish.org 

As a matter of course, the City will also be advertising this position along with 
others also expiring at this time. The deadline to receive letters of application, 
and to receive your letter of interest if you want to reapply to serve another term, 
is April 23, 2014. Interviews with the Council will be scheduled in May and June 
as needed; I will call you to set up your specific interview time if you are re­
applying. If you wish, you can complete the blank lines below and return this 
notice to me in place of a new letter of interest. 

I have enclosed a copy of the ad we will be running. 

If you are not planning to 're-up' for your position again, please let me know. 

Thank you, and thank you for your service to the community of Whitefish! 

��� 
Necile Lorang, CMC 
Whitefish City Clerk 

To Whitefish City Council: 
I am interested in serving another term on the __ B.J......::D-=f'�/s_ .__r:13'"""-"'(.:=cv-."'--'-\c(,-----

Signature Daytime Phone # 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 12 of 226



March 27, 2014 

Dear ___ ������= ·�·��,���----------

City of Whitefish, City Clerk's Office 
418 E. 2nd Street, PO Box 158 
Whitefish, Mt 59937 
406-863-2400 
nlorang@cityofwhitefish.org · 

Your term on the __ ·-w__:.I_CL-=--:..r___;_V-__ __;:b�c:.......J) a-""-=-'-l _a"=' �"----------
expires this year on /11 t:uc; 

J 
1 ) c)__ () IY 

As a matter of course, the City will also be advertising this position along with 
others also expiring at this time. The deadline to receive letters of application, 
and to receive your letter of interest if you want to reapply to serve another term, 
is April 23, 2014. Interviews with the Council will be scheduled in May and June 
as needed; I will call you to set up your specific interview time if you are re­
applying. If you wish, you can complete the blank lines below and return this 
notice to me in place of a new letter of interest. 

I have enclosed a copy of the ad we will be running. 

If you are not planning to 're-up' for your position again, please let me know. 

Thank you, and thank you for your service to the community of Whitefish! 

��� 
Necile Lorang, CMC 
Whitefish City Clerk 

To Whitefish City Council: 
I am interested in serving another term on the Vvc:IL bcp-rc::f 

Signature Daytime Phone# 
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BOARD OF PARK COMMISSIONERS 

2-2-1: BOARD CREATED; MEMBERSHIP: 

The board of park commissioners must be composed of the mayor, or the mayor's designee, and six (6) 
other persons to be appointed by the mayor, with the approval of the city council. The seven (7) persons 
to be so appointed shall have the same qualifications for the office of park commissioner as are required 
by Montana code 7-4-4301 for the office of mayor.** 

**Montana Code Annotated 2009: 
7-4-4301. Qualifications for mayor. (1) A person is not eligible for the office of mayor unless the person: 

(a) is at least 21 years old; 

(b) has been a resident of the state for at least 3 years; and 

(c) has been a resident for at least 2 years preceding the election to office of the city or town or an 

area that has been annexed by the city or town. 

(2) The office of mayor of a city or town is considered vacant if the individual elected as mayor ceases 

to be a resident of the city or town.** 

A. Term Of Office: 

1. Except as provided in subsection A2 of this section, the term of office of each park commissioner shall 
be two (2) years from and after May 1 of the year in which he is appointed and until his successor is 
appointed and qualified. 

2. Three (3) of the commissioners first appointed shall hold office for the period of one year from and after 
May 1 and until their successors are appointed and qualified. 

B. Vacancy: Any park commissioner who shall refuse or neglect to attend three (3) meetings of the board 
between May 1 and April 30 of the following year shall be deemed to have vacated his office, and 
thereupon his successor may be appointed. 

C. Compensation: No park commissioner shall receive compensation for his service rendered under the 
provisions of this chapter, but the actual and necessary expenses incurred by any member of the 
board while acting under the orders of the board in the transaction of any business in its behalf may 
be paid upon being allowed and audited by the board. 

D. Oath Of Office: Before entering upon the discharge of his duties, each park commissioner shall take 
and subscribe the oath provided by Montana code 2-16-211. The oath shall be filed in the office of the 
city clerk. (Ord. 96-15, 2-18-1997) 

2-2-2: ORGANIZATION OF BOARD: 

A. On the second Tuesday in May in each year, the board of park commissioners shall meet and organize 
by electing one of their number president and one of their number vice president, who shall hold their 
offices, respectively, for the term of one year. 

B. The city clerk or the city clerk's designee shall be ex officio clerk of the board of park commissioners. 
(Ord. 96-15, 2-18-1997) 
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2-2-3: CONDUCT OF PARK BOARD BUSINESS: 

A The board of park commissioners shall hold an annual meeting on the second Tuesday of May and a 
meeting at least once in each month in each year at such times as the board shall by rule prescribe. 
Special meetings may also be held at the call of the president or, in his absence, the vice president, 
upon giving to each member of the board at least twenty four (24) hours' notice in writing of the time 
and place of holding such meeting. 

B. A majority of the entire board shall be necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of the 
business of the board. (Ord. 96-15, 2-18-1997) 

2-2-4: POWERS AND DUTIES: 
A Officers: Except as provided in Montana code 7-16-4228(2), the president, and in the president's 
absence the vice president, shall preside at all meetings of the board. (Ord. 96-15, 2-18-1997; amd. 2003 
Code) 

B. Park Board Minutes: The minutes of the meeting contained in the record book, when approved by the 
board, shall be prima facie evidence of the matters and things therein recited in any court of this 
state. 

C. Park Board Powers And Duties: 

1. The board of park commissioners shall have the management and control of all parks belonging to the 
city. 

2. The board of park commissioners shall have the following powers and be charged with the fol lowing 
duties: 

a. To lay out, establish, improve and maintain parkways, drives and walks in the parks of the city; and to 
determine when and what parks shall be opened to the public; 

b. To plant, cultivate, maintain and improve al l trees and other plants required to be planted, cultivated 
and maintained in the parks belonging to the city; 

c. If directed by the city council, to plant, cultivate, maintain and improve all trees and other plants 
required to be planted, cultivated and maintained in the streets, avenues, boulevards and public places in 
the city and for that purpose to establish and maintain nurseries for the growth of trees and plants; 

d. Upon receiving approval from the city council, to purchase or otherwise acquire, and sell or otherwise 
transfer, real property; to make plats thereof; and to file the same in the office of the city clerk; 

e. To provide written comments and recommendations to the city council prior to any action by the city 
council to acquire or transfer land used, or to be used, for a city park; 

f. To pay all obligations authorized to be incurred by the provisions of this part; 

g. To exercise all other powers incident to the duties enjoined by the provisions of this part. (Ord. 96-15, 
2-18-1997) 

2-2-5: CONTRACTS AND EMPLOYMENT: 

A The board of park commissioners has the following powers and duties: 
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1. To employ and discharge workers, laborers, engineers, foresters and others, and to fix their 
compensation; and 

2. To make all contracts necessary or convenient for carrying out any and all of the powers conferred and 
duties enjoined upon the board by this part; provided, however, that any contract having a term of more 
than five (5) years must be approved by the city council. 

B. All contracts made by the board must be in the name of the city and must be signed by the city clerk 
and by the president of the board or, in the president's absence, by the vice president of the board; 
provided, however, that any contract having a term of one year or less may be signed by the parks 
and recreation director. 

C. An order or resolution authorizing the making of any contract may not be passed or adopted except by 
a yea and nay vote, which must be recorded in full in the minutes by the city clerk. 

D. The board may elect to have all , or certain, personnel decisions made by the mayor, the city manager 
or the parks and recreation director pursuant to the policies and regulations governing other city 
personnel decisions. (Ord. 96-15, 2-18-1997) 
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PARK BOARD- WCC 2-2-1- 2 YEAR TERMS- Mayoral Appointments confirmed by Council (2nci Tuesdays@ 7 pm) 
TERM DATE 

Councilor Frank Sweeney PO Box 158 863-4848 (0) Mayor/Designee (Richard Hildner, Alternate) 

Susan Schnee 1405 E. 2"d Street 863-9856 5/01/2014 

Ron Brunk 130 E. 41h St 862-6466,862-6858 5/01/2014 

Chris Hyatt 61 1 Somers Ave 261-7541 5/01/2016 

Doug Wise 1 000 Birch Point Dr 862-1463,407-0927 5/01/2015 President 

Teni Dunn 6211 D Shiloh Ave 862-8276,250-7182 5/0112015 

Jim DeHenera 339 Fairway Drive 407-730-2424 5/01/2015 
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March 27, 2014 

Dear Je h tl ----����-�- -----------

Your term on the -:ped<!2Sfr··, a,z Gi- B ){_yt-f-e 
expires this year on J1'1 a� 31 )dD!Lj 

City of Whitefish, City Clerk's Office 
418 E. 2nd Street, PO Box 158 
Whitefish, Mt 59937 
406-863-2400 
nlorang@cityofwhitefish.org 

As a matter of course, the City will also be advertising this position along with 
others also expiring at this time. The deadline to receive letters of application, 
and to receive your letter of interest if you want to reapply to serve another term, 
is April 23, 2014. Interviews with the Council will be scheduled in May and June 
as needed; I will call you to set up your specific interview time if you are re­
applying. If you wish, you can complete the blank lines below and return this 
notice to me in place of a new letter of interest. 

I have enclosed a copy of the ad we will be running. 

If you are not planning to 're-up' for your position again, please let me know. 

Thank you, and thank you for your service to the community of Whitefish! 

��� 
Necile Lorang, CMC 
Whitefish City Clerk 

To Whitefish City Council: 
(3 j R � I am interested in serving another term on the \. ,/'CL � 

C 
I 

U t::crn .ti---ze. (/ 
86J-333 3 

Daytime Phone # 
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March 27, 2014 

Dear J/ f/11 

City of Whitefish, City Clerk's Office 
418 E. 2"d Street, PO Box 158 
Whitefish, Mt 59937 
406-863-2400 
nlorang@cityofwhitefish.org 

Your term on the _)-=-i'?���c::>._.�..�-' ....!:........l��----=::........:..._=--¥.::::..J....:::::.....:..�L....L"=...:..._-'-=-��..:......::::t----'-..L·'---"-/ pz 11-1_; '/Jeu 
expires this year on 

As a matter of course, the City will also be advertising this position along with 
others also expiring at this time. The deadline to receive letters of application, 
and to receive your letter of interest if you want to reapply to serve another term, 
is April 23, 2014. Interviews with the Council will be scheduled in May and June 
as needed; I will call you to set up your specific interview time if you are re­
applying. If you wish, you can complete the blank lines below and return this 
notice to me in place of a new letter of interest. 

I have enclosed a copy of the ad we will be running. 

If you are not planning to 're-up' for your position again, please let me know. 

Thank you, and thank you for your service to the community of Whitefish! 

��� 
Necile Lorang, CMC 
Whitefish City Clerk 

-{h#AkS {A,v � 
Yl (::)h c.ec._ __ 

To Whitefish City Council: o / .. ( d 
I am interested in serving another term on the {' -Pt?{ .P .J!'Yt'ttCI a=· /�t-c Y c{p 

(I 

Signature 

. I 

�Cl\YY\( .Y-Lze 

Daytime Phone # 
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Emily Hutchins 

1000 Mountain Park Dr., Whitefish, MT 

emilykhutchins@gmail.com 

(425} 623-2813 

To Whom It May Concern: 

I am interested in being considered for a position on the Pedestrian and Bicycle Path Advisory 

Committee. I have been a resident of Whitefish since May 2013 and am actively pursuing opportunities 

to become more involved in the community I now consider home. Being a very physically active mother 

in this community, I would be honored to be part of a committee who can assist the City of Whitefish in 

supporting other families and active community members with amenities such as pedestrian and bicycle 

paths. This is an excellent resource for our community. I thank you for your consideration and look 

forward to hearing from you. 

Sincerely, 

Emily K Hutchins 
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City of Whitefish 

418 E. 2nd Street 

Whitefish, MT 59937 

April 17, 2014 

To Whom I t  May Concern, 

My name is Dylan Boyle and I am interested in serving on the Pedestrian & Bicycle Path Advisory 

Committee for the City of Whitefish. As stated in the requirements of the public notice, applicants for 

the open positions must have maintained their residency within the City or the Zoning Jurisdiction for a 

minimum of one year prior to appointment. From August 2010 until September 2012, I resided full-time 

within the City Limits but did not return to full-time residency again until December 2013. Since my 

return, I have been working as the Executive Director of the Whitefish Convention and Visitors Bureau 

and I have no intention of leaving the position nor my residence in Whitefish. 

I believe that our pedestrian walkways and bicycle paths are essential to the character of Whitefish, at a 

community and business level. As a tourism industry professional who promotes Whitefish to non­

resident visitors, I know that the continued support and expansion of our walkways and bicycle paths 

greatly enhance the visitor experience throughout our town and are a true asset to the long term 

viability of our tourism economy. I believe that I would bring a valuable and unique perspective to the 

Pedestrian & Bicycle Path Advisory Committee. 

I would be happy to answer any questions that you have. 

Sincerely, 

Dylan Boyle 

150 Reservoir Road 

Whitefish, MT 59937 

(406) 862-3390 

dylan@expiorewhitefish.com 
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PEDESTRIAN AND BICYCLE PATH ADVISORY COMMITTEE 

2-8-1: STANDING COMMITTEE ESTABLISHED: 
There is hereby established a pedestrian and bicycle path advisory committee 
(hereinafter "committee"). (Ord. 05-30, 12-5-2005) 

2-8-2: PURPOSE, POWERS, PROCESSES AND DUTIES: 

The purpose and duties of the committee are to provide advice and recommendations 
to the city council, park board of commissioners, pedestrian and bicycle path easement 
negotiators1 (hereinafter "easement negotiators") and city staff on matters of pertinence 
and interest related to the development of pedestrian and bicycle trails pursuant to the 
Whitefish pedestrian and bicycle path master plan. The committee shall report its advice 
and recommendations primarily to the park board of commissioners and the easement 
negotiators. The committee shall act in an advisory capacity only. Nothing in this 
chapter shall be construed to provide the committee with the power to authorize or 
prohibit the use of public funds. The committee shall be entitled to conduct fund raising 
activities and expend any funds raised for purposes related to the city's pedestrian and 
bicycle paths. In conducting fundraising activities, the committee shall not be entitled to 
incur indebtedness that could be charged against the city. (Ord. 05-30, 12-5-2005) 

2-8-3: MEMBERSHIP: 
A. Appointment; Compensation: The committee shall have seven (7) members. 
Members shall be appointed by the city council. Not less than four (4) members shall 
reside within the corporate limits of the city. Three (3) members may reside within the 
Whitefish planning jurisdictional boundary. Members shall have maintained residency 
within specified boundary requirements for one year prior to appointment to the 
committee. The city council shall appoint members according to the following 
representation categories: one member who is also the mayor or a city councilor; one 
member who is also a member of the park board of commissioners; one member who is 
also a member of the resort tax monitoring committee; and four (4) members who are 
citizen members at large. The city manager shall serve on the committee in an ex officio 
capacity. The city clerk shall make appropriate notation of a member's representation 
category on the official committee roster. Committee members shall receive no 
compensation. Contracted consultants and city staff, except as otherwise provided for 
by the city manager, shall not serve as members, but may assist and participate in the 
facilitation of committee business. 

B. Terms; Positions: Committee terms shall be two (2) years. There are hereby created 
positions numbered 1 through 7 inclusive of the members of the committee. The 
term for members serving pursuant to this chapter terminate on the date specified 
below for each position: 

Position !Representation-­
Number !Category 
- -1-- !Mayor or councilOr 
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-2-- -!Member at large - [May 31 �2-007 · 
3 [Member at large !May 31, 2007 

---4- -- [Resort tax committee [MaY31�2oo6 
5 - !Member at large !May 31, 2006 

-6- jPark board !May 31, 2006 
7 I Member at large !May 31, 2006 

Thereafter members appointed to each position shall serve for two (2) year terms; 
the first of such terms beginning on June 1 of the year in which the term for the 
position expires. At the discretion of the city council, members may be appointed for 
more than one term. 

C. Removal Of Member: A member may be removed from the committee by majority 
vote of the city council for cause upon written charges and after a public hearing. 
Wilful disregard of this chapter and the rules of procedures of the committee, or 
absences from three (3) consecutive meetings, including regular and special 
meetings, or absences from more than fifty percent (50%) of such meetings held 
during the calendar year, shall constitute cause for removal. Circumstances of the 
absences shall be considered by the city council prior to removal. Any person who 
knows in advance of his or her inability to attend a specific meeting shall notify the 
chairperson or secretary of the committee at least twenty four (24) hours prior to any 
scheduled meeting. 

D. Vacancy: Pursuant to subsections A and B of this section, any vacancy on the 
committee shall be filled by the city council acting in a regular or special session for 
the unexpired term of the position wherein the vacancy exists. The city council may 
appoint members of the city council to temporarily fill vacant positions on the 
committee. (Ord. 05-30, 12-5-2005) 

2-8-4: ORGANIZATION: 
The committee, at its first meeting after June 1 of each year, the committee shall elect a 
chairperson, vice chairperson and secretary for the next twelve (12) month period. Upon 
the absence of the chairperson, the vice chairperson shall serve as chairperson pro 
tern. If the secretary is absent from a specific meeting, the attending members shall 
elect a secretary pro tern for the meeting. If a vacancy occurs in the chairperson, vice 
chairperson or secretary positions, the committee shall elect a member to fill the 
vacancy at the next meeting. The secretary need not be a member of the committee 
and shall keep an accurate record of all committee proceedings. (Ord. 05-30, 12-5-
2005) 

2-8-5: MEETINGS; RULES AND REGULATIONS: 
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Four (4) members of the committee shall constitute a quorum. Not less than a quorum 
of the committee may transact any business before the committee. The concurring vote 
of a simple majority of members present shall be necessary to decide any question or 
matter before the committee. The committee shall adopt rules of procedure for the 
conduct of meetings consistent with statutes, the city charter, ordinances and 
resolutions. Meetings of the committee shall be held at least once every three (3) 
months or at the call of the chairperson or the easement negotiators, and at such other 
times as the committee may determine. All meetings shall be open to the public. (Ord. 
05-30, 12-5-2005) 

2-8-6: STAFF SUPERVISION: 
The committee shall have no supervisory control and shall not direct city staff in the 
performance of their official duties. (Ord. 05-30, 12-5-2005) 

2-8-7: NO EXPENDITURES AUTHORIZED: 
The committee shall have not have authority to make any expenditures on behalf of the 
city or disburse any funds provided by the city or to obligate the city for any funds. (Ord. 
05-30, 12-5-2005) 

2-8-8: EASEMENT NEGOTIATORS: 
A. Negotiators Established: There are hereby established two (2) appointive positions to 
be known as the pedestrian and bicycle path easement negotiators (hereinafter 
"negotiators"). 

B. Purpose, Powers And Duties: The purpose and duties of the negotiators are to 
represent the city in easement negotiations related to the development of pedestrian 
and bicycle trails pursuant to the Whitefish pedestrian and bicycle path master plan. 
The negotiators shall be the only individuals authorized to represent the city in trail 
easement negotiations. All agreements developed between the negotiators and 
property owners shall require approval by the city council to gain acceptance by the 
city. 

C. Membership: The city council shall appoint two (2) negotiators and designate a lead 
negotiator from among the two (2) appointments. Except for city employees, 
negotiators shall receive no compensation. Negotiators shall serve indefinite terms 
at the pleasure and discretion of the city council. Negotiators serving on the effective 
date of this chapter shall, within the discretion of the city council, continue in their 
respective positions. 

D. Lead Negotiator: The lead negotiator shall decide plans, methods used, offers 
tendered and concessions made in negotiating easement agreements. The lead 
negotiator is authorized to include other individuals in negotiation meetings if, in his 
discretion, such individuals would be helpful in developing an easement agreement. 
(Ord. 02-12, 4-1-2002) 

2-8-9: FISH TRAILS COORDINATORS: 
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There is hereby established the positions within the committee of "Fish Trails 
coordinators". There shall be three (3) Fish Trails coordinators appointed by the 
committee from among its members or from the two (2) easement negotiators 
(established by ordinance 02-12). Committee members and easement negotiators may 
serve as Fish Trails coordinators only so long as they remain members of the 
committee or appointed as easement negotiators. The terms for Fish Trails coordinators 
shall terminate on the date specified for each position. 

------ r------·----111 Position j 
Number Expiration Date 

1 May 31, 2006 
�2-------rM8Y3u606-

3 May 31, 2006 

Thereafter Fish Trails coordinators shall serve one year terms, the first of such terms 
beginning on June 1 of the year in which the term for the position expires. Coordinators 
may be appointed for more than one term. The parks and recreation director shall serve 
as an ex officio Fish Trails coordinator. 

The Fish Trails coordinators shall endeavor to promote awareness of and enthusiasm 
for the Whitefish trails system. The Fish Trails coordinators shall, with the assistance of 
volunteers, be responsible for the following matters, and for any other matters that the 
committee assigns that are consistent with this chapter: 

A. Maintenance of the Fish Trails website; 

B. Publishing of the Fish Trails newsletter; 

C. Organizing events related to the city's trails system; 

D. Handling public relations for Fish Trails events and the city's trails system; 

E. Attracting and increasing Fish Trails membership as a method of fund raising; 

F. Attracting and directing volunteers to assist with various Fish Trails projects and 
activities; and 

G. Conducting fundraising efforts. 

Fish Trails Coordinators may be removed, and vacancies may be filled, by the 
committee. Fish Trails coordinators shall make decisions by majority vote. Fish Trails 
coordinators shall be primarily advisory to the committee, and shall obtain committee 
approval of projects that it undertakes. All meetings shall be open to the public. The 
coordinators shall not make expenditures or disburse funds on behalf of the city. (Ord. 
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05-30, 12-5-2005) 

Footnote 1: See section 2-8-8 of this chapter. 

2-8-8: EASEMENT NEGOTIATORS: 
A. Negotiators Established: There are hereby established two (2) appointive positions to 
be known as the pedestrian and bicycle path easement negotiators (hereinafter 
"negotiators"). 

B. Purpose, Powers And Duties: The purpose and duties of the negotiators are to 
represent the city in easement negotiations related to the development of pedestrian 
and bicycle trails pursuant to the Whitefish pedestrian and bicycle path master plan. 
The negotiators shall be the only individuals authorized to represent the city in trail 
easement negotiations. All agreements developed between the negotiators and 
property owners shall require approval by the city council to gain acceptance by the 
city. 

C. Membership: The city council shall appoint two (2) negotiators and designate a lead 
negotiator from among the two (2) appointments. Except for city employees, 
negotiators shall receive no compensation. Negotiators shall serve indefinite terms 
at the pleasure and discretion of the city council. Negotiators serving on the effective 
date of this chapter shall, within the discretion of the city council, continue in their 
respective positions. 

D. Lead Negotiator: The lead negotiator shall decide plans, methods used, offers 
tendered and concessions made in negotiating easement agreements. The lead 
negotiator is authorized to include other individuals in negotiation meetings if, in his 
discretion, such individuals would be helpful in developing an easement agreement. 
(Ord. 02-12, 4-1-2002) 
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PEDESTRIAN & BICYCLE PATH P...DVISORY COMMITTEE-WCC 2-8-1 
*(Minimum of 4 Whitefish City Limit residents required)* 

Position # 
I. *Richard Hildner, Councilor PO Box 158 862-2831 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

*Mike Fitzgerald, Member at Large 412 Lupfer Avenue 

John Phelps, Extra-territorial 
Member at Large 

':'Doug Reed, Resort Tax 
Representative 

615 Monegan Road 

Whitefish Lake Golf Club 
Restaurant, PO Box 1719 

*Jim DeHerrera, Member at Large 339 Fairway Drive 

862-7426 
862-9977 (W) 
862-3333 

862-5285 

407-730-2424 

*Ron Bmnk, Park Board Representative, 130 E. 4111 St, 862-6466, 862-6858 

Two-year terms, pt Monday/month 
@ 8:00 AM Council Conference Room 

Term Expiration Date 
May 31,2016 

May 31,2015 

May 31,20Q4 

May 31,2015 

lV[_ay 31,2014 

May 31,2014 

7. *Hunter Homes, Member at Large (233 Woodland PI) PO Box 194 314-1417 May 31,2015 

Easement Negotiation Delegation - WCC 2-8-8 
City Manager Steams PO Box 158, WF 863-2406 (W) 863-2419 (F) City Manager 

Doug Adams 214 Rusty Spur Trail, WF 
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CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
 
The following is a summary of the items to come before the City Council at its regular session to 
be held on Monday, May 5, 2014, at 7:10 p.m. at City Hall, 402 East Second Street. 
 
Ordinance numbers start with 14-05.  Resolution numbers start with 14-12. 
 
 
1) CALL TO ORDER 
 
2) PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3) PRESENTATION – FY13 Audit presentation for fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 – Denning, 

Downey and Associates  (p. 41) 
 
4) COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE PUBLIC – (This time is set aside for the public to comment on items that are 

either on the agenda, but not a public hearing or on items not on the agenda.   City officials do not respond during these comments, but may 
respond or follow-up later on the agenda or at another time.   The Mayor has the option of limiting such communications to three minutes 
depending on the number of citizens who want to comment and the length of the meeting agenda)    

 
5) COMMUNICATIONS FROM VOLUNTEER BOARDS 

 
6) CONSENT AGENDA (The consent agenda is a means of expediting routine matters that require the Council’s action.  Debate 

does not typically occur on consent agenda items.  Any member of the Council may remove any item for debate.   Such items will typically 
be debated and acted upon prior to proceeding to the rest of the agenda.  Ordinances require 4 votes for passage – Section 1-6-2 (E)(3) WCC) 

a) Minutes from the April 21, 2014 Council regular meeting (p. 110) 
b) Consideration of approving an amendment to the Declaration of Condominium Covenants, 

Conditions, and Restrictions for Great Northern Heights Phases 3 and 3A subdivisions  
(p. 118) 

c) Resolution No. 14-___;  A Resolution extending the corporate limits of the City of 
Whitefish, Montana, to annex within the boundaries of the City a certain tract of land 
known as 1726 West Lakeshore Drive, for which the owner has petitioned for and 
consented to annexation  (p. 134) 
 

7) PUBLIC HEARINGS (Items will be considered for action after public hearings) (Resolution No. 07-33 establishes a 30 minute 
time limit for applicant’s land use presentations.  Ordinances require 4 votes for passage – Section 1-6-2 (E)(3) WCC)) 

 
None 
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8) COMMUNICATIONS FROM PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 

a) Resolution No. 14-___;   A Resolution establishing "No Parking" Zones along portions of 
West Sixth Street, West Fifth Street, Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West Third Street 
and Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West Second Street (p. 146) 

b) Consideration of a recommendation from the Resort Tax Monitoring Committee to move 
Somers Avenue up on the Resort Tax street reconstruction priority list to be the next project 
after the West 7th Street project (p.  161) 

 
9) COMMUNICATIONS FROM CITY MANAGER  

a) Written report enclosed with the packet.  Questions from Mayor or Council?  (p. 166) 
b) Other items arising between April 30th  and May 5th  
c) Consideration of awarding a construction contract to Meredith Construction for Depot Park 

restrooms as an addition to the O’Shaughnessy Center   (p.  169) 
d) Consideration of approving an architectural agreement with Mosaic Architects of Helena, 

MT  for the design of a new City Hall and Parking Structure   (p. 179) 
 

10) COMMUNICATIONS FROM MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

a) Consideration of making temporary appointments to the Whitefish City-County Planning 
Board to ensure a quorum until permanent appointments are made   (p. 206) 

b) Committee/board appointments not made during prior Special Meeting  
 

11) ADJOURNMENT  (Resolution 08-10 establishes 11:00 p.m. as end of meeting unless extended to 11:30 by majority) 

 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 30 of 226



Adopted by Resolution 07-09 
February 20, 2007 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The following Principles for Civil Dialogue are adopted on 2/20/2007 
for use by the City Council and by all boards, committees and 
personnel of the City of Whitefish: 

 
 We provide a safe environment where individual 

perspectives are respected, heard, and 
acknowledged. 

 
 We are responsible for respectful and courteous 

dialogue and participation. 
 

 We respect diverse opinions as a means to find 
solutions based on common ground. 

 
 We encourage and value broad community 

participation. 
 

 We encourage creative approaches to engage 
public participation. 

 
 We value informed decision-making and take 

personal responsibility to educate and be educated. 
 

 We believe that respectful public dialogue fosters 
healthy community relationships, understanding, 
and problem-solving. 

 
 We acknowledge, consider and respect the natural 

tensions created by collaboration, change and 
transition. 

 
 We follow the rules and guidelines established for 

each meeting. 
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April 30, 2014 
 
The Honorable Mayor Muhlfeld and City Councilors 
City of Whitefish 
Whitefish, Montana 
 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and City Councilors: 
 

Monday, May 5, 2014 City Council Agenda Report 
 

There will be a work session beginning at 5:15 p.m. for interviews for various boards and 
commission vacancies.     Food will be provided.    
 
The regular Council meeting will begin at 7:10 p.m. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA (The consent agenda is a means of expediting routine matters that require the Council’s action.  
Debate does not typically occur on consent agenda items.  Any member of the Council may remove any item for debate.   Such items 
will typically be debated and acted upon prior to proceeding to the rest of the agenda.  Ordinances require 4 votes for passage – 
Section 1-6-2 (E)(3) WCC) 

a) Minutes from the April 21, 2014 Council regular meeting (p. 110) 
b) Consideration of approving an amendment to the Declaration of Condominium 

Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Great Northern Heights Phases 3 and 3A 
subdivisions  
(p. 118) 

c) Resolution No. 14-___;  A Resolution extending the corporate limits of the City of 
Whitefish, Montana, to annex within the boundaries of the City a certain tract of land 
known as 1726 West Lakeshore Drive, for which the owner has petitioned for and 
consented to annexation  (p. 134) 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Staff respectfully recommends the City Council approve 
the Consent Agenda.   
 
Item a is an administrative matter, item b is a quasi-judicial matter, and item c 
is a legislative matter.  
 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS (Items will be considered for action after public hearings) (Resolution No. 07-33 establishes a 30 
minute time limit for applicant’s land use presentations.  Ordinances require 4 votes for passage – Section 1-6-2 (E)(3) WCC)) 

 
None 
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COMMUNICATIONS FROM PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 

a) Resolution No. 14-___;   A Resolution establishing "No Parking" Zones along 
portions of West Sixth Street, West Fifth Street, Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, 
West Third Street and Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West Second Street 
(p. 146) 
 
From Public Works Director John Wilson’s staff report: 
 
The Public Works Department presented a proposal at the April 21st City Council 
meeting to create No Parking zones along all or portions of West 6th Street, West 5th 
Street (aka North Street), Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West 3rd Street and 
Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West 2nd Street, as was contemplated 
during design of the 6th and Geddes Street Reconstruction Project. 
 
After considering the staff report and public comment, the City Council directed 
Public Works to prepare a resolution for consideration at the May 5th Council 
meeting, including provisions for No Parking zones and limited areas with parking 
allowed on one side of the street. 
 
Copies of the staff memo and minutes from the April 21st Council meeting are 
attached, as well as a notice of the proposed resolution which was mailed to property 
owners and residents along the route. 
 
Current Report 
Staff recommends the following areas be designated as No Parking zones.  A map is 
included with the attached resolution. 

• Both sides of West 6th Street from the west edge of the Baker Avenue right of way to 
points 40 feet west, 

• The north side of West 6th Street, starting at a point 10 feet west of the projected west 
edge of the Lupfer Avenue right of way and ending at a point 95 feet to the east, 

• Both sides of West 5th Street (aka North Street) between Flint and Geddes Avenues, 
• Both sides of Geddes Avenue between West 5th Street (aka North Street) and West 4th 

Street, excluding a 130 foot long section on the west side of Geddes Avenue located 
between two points 50 and 180 feet south of the south edge of the West 4th Street 
right of way as measured along the curb line, 

• Both sides of Jennings Avenue between West 4th Street and West 3rd Street, excluding 
a 65 foot long section along the east side of Jennings Avenue located between two 
points 40 and 105 feet north of the projected north edge of the West 4th Street right of 
way, 

• Both sides of West 3rd Street east of the projected west edge of Jennings Avenue, and 
• Both sides of Good Avenue, excluding a 90 foot long section on the east side of the 

road between two points located 90 and 180 feet north of the south edge of the West 
3rd Street right of way. 
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The recommended No Parking zones will ensure safe passage for emergency vehicles 
and enable more efficient snow removal.  Those areas with parking on one side of the 
street will allow reasonable passage of vehicles while providing a moderate level of 
traffic calming. 
 
The cost to install the necessary No Parking signs will be less than $1000.  The work 
will be performed by the Public Works Department and all costs will be paid out of 
the Street Fund. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Staff respectfully recommends the City Council adopt a 
Resolution establishing "No Parking" Zones along portions of West Sixth Street, 
West Fifth Street, Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West Third Street and Good 
Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West Second Street. 
 
This item is a legislative matter. 
 
 

b) Consideration of a recommendation from the Resort Tax Monitoring Committee to 
move Somers Avenue up on the Resort Tax street reconstruction priority list to be the 
next project after the West 7th Street project (p. 161) 

 
From Public Works Director John Wilson’s staff report: 
 
At their last meeting on April 16th, the Resort Tax Monitoring Committee (RTMC) 
voted to recommend Somers Avenue be designated as the project to follow the West 
7th Street on the Street Reconstruction Priority List.  The scope of work would 
include roadway reconstruction, water main replacement and drainage improvements 
from East 2nd to East 8th Street, with new curb, gutters, sidewalks and street lights. 
 
The next four priority projects following West 7th Street are Edgewood Place, Karrow 
Avenue, State Park Road and Somers Avenue, in that order. 
 
The greatest need on East Edgewood Place is for storm drainage and sidewalk 
improvements.  Karrow Avenue is in reasonable condition, although a new bicycle 
and pedestrian path would provide a useful connection in the City trial system.  State 
Park Road has substantial needs for drainage improvements to serve the surrounding 
area.  A proposed bicycle/pedestrian trail would also provide a useful connection 
between Highway 93 and the State Park.  Somers Avenue has the greatest 
infrastructure needs of the four, with deteriorated asphalt, an 80+ year old cast iron 
water main subject to leaks and ineffective storm drainage. 
 
Our recent Capital Improvement Plans have included a concept to reconstruct Somers 
Avenue from East 2nd to East 8th street as a phased project, over a 7 to 8 year period, 
using a combination of Street, Water, and Stormwater funds.  We tried this approach 
because the need is so great and Somers Avenue is currently 7 to 8 years out on the 
priority list.  We budgeted for design and Phase I construction in FY 2014, but soon 
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discovered the grades to be such that extensive sections of new curb and gutter would 
be required.   
 
This project was conceived as a bare bones project, without new curb and gutter; and 
for that matter without new sidewalks or street light improvements.  Additional Street 
funds are not available for a Somers Avenue project while continuing to meet needs 
in other areas.  A full street reconstruction is needed, but that requires a higher level 
of funding that is available only to Resort Tax projects.  So the choices for Somers 
Avenue are to move it up on the Resort Tax priority list and plan a project for 
sometime around 2017/2018 or work with the current priority list and wait for a 
project sometime around 2021/2022. 
 
Council direction on this matter will facilitate Public Works’ planning for interim 
maintenance on Somers Avenue. 
 
The proposed action does not involve an immediate financial requirement.  Although 
a detailed estimate is not available, we expect the cost of engineering and 
construction for a Somers Avenue project would be around $1,500,000 to $1,750,000 
in today’s dollars.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: Staff respectfully recommends the City Council amend the 
Street Reconstruction Priority List to rank Somers Avenue as the #2 project, 
immediately following the West 7th Street project. 
 
This item is a legislative matter. 

 
 

7) COMMUNICATIONS FROM CITY MANAGER  
a) Written report enclosed with the packet.  Questions from Mayor or Council?  (p. 166) 
b) Other items arising between April 30th  and May 5th  
c) Consideration of awarding a construction contract to Meredith Construction for Depot 

Park restrooms as an addition to the O’Shaughnessy Center   (p. 169) 
 
Karl Cozad, former Parks and Recreation Director, came to the City Council on 
March 17th, 2014 for authorization to go out to bid for the Depot Park Restrooms as 
an addition to the O’Shaughnessy Center.    The City Council approved going out to 
bid for the restrooms which had an engineer’s estimate of $191,838.   Karl’s staff 
report, architectural drawings, and the engineer’s cost estimate are attached in the 
packet.    
 
We opened bids on April 16th and the following were the bid results: 
 
Meredith Construction - $191,500.00 
Swank Enterprises -  $213,500.00 
Camas Creek Contracting - $218,757.00 
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All three bidders said they could meet the August 8, 2014 completion date. 
 
Karl’s original budget request one year ago was $100,000 so that is what was 
budgeted in the Tax Increment Fund.   However,  the rest of Depot Park Master Plan 
Phase 2 project had an additional budget of $547,000 in the TIF, so this contract 
award will cut into the remainder of the Depot Park Phase 2 improvements.  The 
primary remaining improvement in Phase 2 is the construction of a gazebo in the 
southeast corner of Depot Park.    
 
RECOMMENDATION: City staff respectfully recommends that the City Council 
award the construction contract for the Depot Park Restrooms at the O’Shaughnessy 
Center to Meredith Construction in the amount of $191,500.00 and direct us to return 
the bid security at the appropriate time.   
 
This item is a legislative matter. 
 
 

d) Consideration of approving an architectural agreement with Mosaic Architects of 
Helena, MT  for the design of a new City Hall and Parking Structure   (p. 179) 
 
On December 11, 2013, the City Hall Steering Committee held a design competition 
among four architectural firms who were the finalists selected for the City Hall 
architectural design project.    The City Hall Steering Committee subsequently met 
and decided to recommend Mosaic Architecture of Helena, MT as the preferred 
architectural firm to negotiate a contract with.   The City Council approved their 
recommendation that we negotiate a contract with Mosaic Architecture at the City 
Council meeting on January 21, 2014.   
 
I have worked with Ben Tintinger of Mosaic Architecture since January on a contract 
and scope of services.    Attached in the packet is the proposed contract and Mary 
VanBuskirk prepared and reviewed the contract form (not the exhibits).    The 
contract will outline all the phases of architectural and engineering work, however, 
we will only authorize proceeding with one phase at a time.   The contract can be 
terminated by either party at the end of each phase, so our initial obligation is only for 
Phase 1 work of design and development.   Much of that work will involve meeting 
with each department that will be located in City Hall and meeting with the City Hall 
Steering Committee.     
 
The cost of the work for Phase 1 is estimated to be $ 65,650.00 for architectural 
services and $8,000.00 for Phase 1 services of Kimley-Horn, the engineering 
company.    There is a spreadsheet attached to the contract as Exhibit B providing 
showing the cost for Phase 1.    
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RECOMMENDATION: City staff respectfully recommends that the City Council 
approve a Professional Architectural Services Contract with Mosaic Architecture of 
Helena, MT with the first phase not to exceed $73,650.00.    
 
This item is a legislative matter. 
 
 

8) COMMUNICATIONS FROM MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS 

a) Consideration of making temporary appointments to the Whitefish City-County 
Planning Board to ensure a quorum until permanent appointments are made   (p. 206) 
 
Mary VanBuskirk has a detailed memo in the packet describing the applicable state 
statutes, city ordinances, and documents related to this matter.   
 

b) Committee/board appointments not made during prior Special Meeting  
 

ADJOURNMENT  (Resolution 08-10 establishes 11:00 p.m. as end of meeting unless extended to 11:30 by majority) 

 
 

 
 

Sincerely, 

 
Chuck Stearns 
City Manager 
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"Cheat Sheet" for Robert's Rules 
 
Motion In Order  

When 
Another has 
the Floor? 

Second 
Required? 

Debatable? Amendable? Vote Required 
for Adoption 

Can be 
reconsidered? 

 
Main Motion 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
Y 

 
Y 

Majority 
unless other spec'd 

by Bylaws 

 
Y 

 
Adjournment 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
Majority 

 
N 

Recess (no question 
before the body) 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
Majority 

 
N 

Recess (question  
before the body) 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
Y 

 
Y 

 
Majority 

 
N 

 
Accept Report 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
Y 

 
Y 

 
Majority 

 
Y 

Amend Pending 
Motion 

 
N 

 
Y 

If motion to be 
amended is 
debatable 

 
Y 

 
Majority 

 
Y 

Amend an  
Amendment of  
Pending Motion 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
See above 

 
N 

 
Majority 

 
Y 

Change from  
Agenda to Take a 
Matter  out  of  Order 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
N 

 
Two-thirds 

 
N 

Limit Debate  
Previous Question /  
Question 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
Two-thirds 

Yes, but not if 
vote taken on 

pending motion. 

Limit Debate or  
extend limits for 
duration of meeting 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
Y 

 
Y 

 
Two-thirds 

 
Y 

 
Division of 
Assembly (Roll Call) 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
N 

 
N 

Demand by a 
single member 

compels 
division 

 
N 

Division of 
Ques/ Motion 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
Majority 

 
N 

 
Point of  
Information 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
N 

 
N 

 
Vote is not 

taken 

 
N 

Point of  Order / 
Procedure 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
N 
 

 
N 

 
Vote is not 

taken 

 
N 

 
Lay on Table 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
N 

 
Majority 

 
N 

 
Take from Table 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
N 

 
Majority 

 
N 

Suspend the Rules 
as applied to rules of 
order or, take motion out 
of order 

 
N 

 
Y 

 
N 

 
N 

 
Two-thirds 

 
N 

Refer (Commit) N Y Y N Majority Neg. vote 
only 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 39 of 226

Chuck Stearns
Text Box



 

 

 

 

 

 

(This page left blank intentionally to separate printed sections) 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 40 of 226



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF WHITEFISH 
 

FLATHEAD COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 
 

AUDIT REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Denning, Downey & Associates, P.C. 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 41 of 226



 

-i- 

CITY OF WHITEFISH 
 

FLATHEAD COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

Organization 1 
  
Management Discussion and Analysis 2-8 
  
Independent Auditor’s Report 9-11 
  
Financial Statements  
  
Government-wide Financial Statements  

Statement of Net Position 12 
Statement of Activities 13 

  
Fund Financial Statements  

Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds 14 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net 

Position 
 
15 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Governmental 
Funds 

 
16 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund 
Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities 

 
17 

Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Fund Types 18 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position – Proprietary Fund 

Types 
19 

Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Fund Types 20 
Statement of Net Position – Fiduciary Fund Types 21 
Statement of Changes in Net Position – Fiduciary Fund Types 22 

  
Notes to Financial Statements 23-48 

  
Required Supplemental Information  
   Budgetary Comparison Schedule 49-53 
   Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Budget-to-GAAP Reconciliation 54 
   Schedule of Funding Progress – Other Post Employment Benefits Other Than Pensions 55 
  
Single Audit Section  

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 56 
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 57 

  
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 

Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed 
in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

 
 
58-59 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 42 of 226



 

-ii- 

 
CITY OF WHITEFISH 

 
FLATHEAD COUNTY, MONTANA 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS – Continued 

 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Requirements that could have a 
Direct and Material Effect on Each Major Program and on Internal Control Over 
Compliance in  Accordance with OMB Circular A-133 

 
 
60-61 

  
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 62 
  
Report on Prior Audit Recommendations 63 
  

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 43 of 226



 

-1- 

CITY OF WHITEFISH 
 

FLATHEAD COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

ORGANIZATION 
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 
 

  
CITY COUNCIL 

  
John Anderson Council Member 
Frank Sweeney Council Member 
Richard Hildner Council Member 
Bill Kahle Council Member 
Phillip Mitchell Council Member 
Chris Hyatt Council Member 
  

CITY OFFICIALS  
  
Chuck Stearns City Manager 
Mary VanBuskirk City Attorney 
Bradley Johnson Municipal Judge 
Necile Lorang City Clerk, Administrative Services Director 
William Dial Chief of Police 
Rich Knapp Assistant City Manager, Finance Director 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 44 of 226



 

-2- 

CITY OF WHITEFISH 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013 
 
The discussion and analysis of the City of Whitefish’s financial performance provides an 
overview of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.  The City 
encourages readers to consider the information presented in conjunction with the City’s financial 
statements and accompanying notes. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
● The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at the fiscal year end by $75,993,995 as 

reported in the statement of net position.  Of this amount, ($49,464) is unrestricted and may 
be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors in accordance with 
the City’s fund designations. 

 
● The total fiscal year end governmental fund balance was $13,696,193 as reported in the 

balance sheet. 
 
● The unassigned general fund balance at fiscal year-end was $1,397,827. 
 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial 
statements, which are comprised of three components: 
 

1. Government-wide financial statements 
2. Fund Financial Statements 
3. Notes to the Financial Statements 

 
Other supplementary information is also included at the end of the financial section. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad 
overview of the City’s finances using the accrual basis of accounting, the basis of accounting 
used by most private-sector businesses. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, 
with the difference between the two reported as net position.  Over time, increases and decreases 
in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the City’s financial position is 
improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information reflecting how the City’s net position have 
changed during the fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, 
revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash 
flows in future fiscal periods (e.g. delinquent taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 
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The government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees 
and charges (business-type activities).  The governmental activities of the City include general 
government, public safety, public works, planning, culture and recreation, housing and economic 
development, and debt service.  The business-type activities of the City include water, 
wastewater, solid waste, and ambulance operations. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have 
been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The City, like other state and local 
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related 
legal requirements.  All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories:  
governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds - Governmental funds are used to account for those same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, 
unlike the government-wide statements, the fund financial statements are prepared on the 
modified accrual basis in which revenues are recognized when they become measurable and 
available, and expenditures are recognized when the related fund liability is incurred, with the 
exception of long-term debt and similar long-term items which are recorded when due.  
Therefore, the focus is on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources as well as on 
the balance of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
Since the focus of the governmental funds is on near-term resources, it is useful to compare the 
information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for 
governmental activities in the government-wide statements.  Both the governmental fund balance 
sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balance provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison. 
 
Proprietary Funds - There are two types of proprietary funds:  enterprise and internal service 
funds.  The City maintains only enterprise funds, which are used to report the same functions 
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide statements.  The City uses 
enterprise funds to account for its water, sewer, solid waste and ambulance operations. 
 
Fiduciary Funds - Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of 
parties outside the government and are not included in the government-wide financial statements 
as the resources of these funds are not available to support the City’s own programs. 
 
The City has two agency-type fiduciary funds, the Volunteer Fire Pension and Relief Fund, and 
the Whitefish Trail Fund.  The Volunteer Fire agency fund is used as a clearing account for 
assets held by the City until the funds are disbursed to the Fire Department Relief Association.  
Two administrative clearing funds for payroll and claims are included in this category.  The 
Whitefish Trail Fund was funded by a private donation, and is used at the discretion of the 
Whitefish Trail Steering Committee.  
 
Notes to Financial Statements 
These notes provide additional narrative and tabular information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
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Other Required Supplementary Information 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, these reports present 
certain required supplementary information concerning the City’s budgetary control. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
NET POSITION 
 
Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position.  The 
net position for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2013 were $75,993,995 an increase of 
$3,773,405. 
 
The City’s largest portion of net position reflects investment in capital assets (land, buildings, 
machinery and equipment, etc.) less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still 
outstanding.  These assets are used to provide services to citizens.  Although the City’s 
investment in its capital assets are reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the 
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.  Restricted net position represent 
resources that are subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.  The unrestricted 
assets may be used to meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 
 
The following tables presents consolidated information on the City’s net position as of June 30, 
2012 and June 30, 2013. 
 

City of Whitefish - Net position 
 

Table 1 - Net Assets

Change Change
FY13 FY12 Inc (Dec) FY13 FY12 Inc (Dec)

Current and other assets 16,593,450$       16,270,702$       322,748$            4,269,000$           5,418,994$          (1,149,994)$          
Capital assets 54,444,896         52,692,497         1,752,399           23,690,955           22,624,436          1,066,519             

Total assets 71,038,346         68,963,199         2,075,147           27,959,955           28,043,430          (83,475)                 
Long-term debt outstanding 15,195,954$       15,687,683$       (491,729)$           6,799,618$           8,133,225$          (1,333,607)$          
Other liabilities 431,848              348,945              82,903                576,886                616,186               (39,300)                 

Total liabilities 15,627,802         16,036,628         (408,826)             7,376,504             8,749,411            (1,372,907)            
Invested in capital assets, net of debt 41,489,842         38,460,321         3,029,521           17,617,190           15,422,672          2,194,518             
Restricted 14,879,442         10,912,532         3,966,910           2,056,985             2,405,573            (348,588)               
Unrestricted (deficit) (958,740)            3,553,718           (4,512,458)          909,276                1,465,774            (556,498)               

Total net position 55,410,544$       52,926,571$       2,483,973$         20,583,451$         19,294,019$        1,289,432$           

Governmental  Business-type
Activities Activities
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CHANGES in Net Position 
 

Table 2 - Changes in Net Assets

Change Change
FY13 FY12 Inc (Dec) FY13 FY12 Inc (Dec)

Revenues
Program revenues (by major source):

Charges for services 4,401,363$         3,272,520$         1,128,843$         5,883,386$           6,317,407$          (434,021)$             
Operating grants and contributions 428,565              529,882              (101,317)             28,000                  -                          28,000                  
Capital grants and contributions 495,387              3,416,537           (2,921,150)          372,750                870,162               (497,412)               

General revenues (by major source):
Property taxes for general purposes 8,664,032           7,745,163           918,869              -                           294,835               (294,835)               
Liquor tax apportionment -                         59,611                (59,611)               -                           -                          -                            
Video poker apportionment -                         19,925                (19,925)               -                           -                          -                            
Miscellaneous 396,801              132,955              263,846              -                           -                          -                            
Interest/investment earnings 36,369                112,550              (76,181)               10,704                  40,527                 (29,823)                 
Bureau of Indian Affairs -                         -                         -                          -                           45,605                 (45,605)                 
State entitlement 902,680              862,537              40,143                -                           -                          -                            
On behalf payments 606,149              323,488              282,661              -                           220,939               (220,939)               
Total revenues 15,931,346$       16,475,168$       (543,822)$           6,294,840$           7,789,475$          (1,494,635)$          

Program expenses
General government 1,002,334$         523,770$            478,564$            -$                         -$                        -$                          
Public safety 5,574,407$         3,554,516$         2,019,891.00      -                       -                      -                        
Public works 2,089,494$         2,390,278$         (300,784.00)        -                       -                      -                        
Social and economic services 1,500$                1,250$                250.00                -                       -                      -                        
Culture and recreation 2,035,725$         2,043,382$         (7,657.00)            -                       -                      -                        
Housing and community development 2,167,449$         976,312$            1,191,137.00      -                       -                      -                        
Debt service  - interest 614,469$            610,386$            4,083.00             -                       -                      -                        
Miscellaneous 37,770$              39,638.00           (1,868.00)            -                       -                      -                        
Water -                     -                     -                      1,910,091.00        1,881,971.00       28,120.00             
Wastewater -                     -                     -                      709,352.00           2,226,197.00       (1,516,845.00)       
Solid Waste -                     -                     -                      -                       691,826.00          (691,826.00)          
Ambulance -                     -                     -                      -                       1,936,203.00       (1,936,203.00)       
Total expenses 13,523,148$       10,139,532$       3,383,616$         4,881,809$           6,736,197$          (1,854,388)$          

Excess (deficiency) before
special items and transfers 2,408,198           6,335,636           (3,927,438)          1,413,031             1,053,278            359,753                

Gain (loss) on sale of capital assets -                         -                         -                          -                           -                          -                            
Transfers - net -                         (464,255)            464,255              -                           464,255               (464,255)               

Increase (decrease) in net position 2,408,198$         5,871,381$         (3,463,183)$        1,413,031$           1,517,533$          (104,502)$             

Governmental  Business-type
Activities Activities

 
 
The City’s revenues totaled $22,226,186 fiscal year ending June 30, 2013.  The total cost of all 
programs and services for that same period were $18,404,957.  Therefore, the increase in net 
position was $3,821,229. The table above presents consolidated information on the City’s change 
in net position for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2013. 
 

City of Whitefish – Changes in Net position 
 
Governmental activities 
Revenues for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2013 from governmental activities were 
$15,931,346 while expenses were $13,523,148. Net position thus increased $2,408,198.  General 
government related revenues decreased by $543,822 from the previous year and expenses 
increased by $3,383,616. 
 
Business-type activities 
Revenues for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2013 from business-type activities were $6,294,840.  
Expenses were $4,881,809 resulting in a decrease in net position of $104,502.  Business-type 
related revenues decreased by $1,494,635 from the previous year and expenses decreased by 
$1,854,388. 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 48 of 226



 

-6- 

Significant Changes 
At the beginning of fiscal year 2013, the ambulance fund, a business type fund, was combined 
with the fire fund, and governmental fund, now showing as the fire and ambulance fund, a 
governmental fund, on the fiscal year 2013 financial statements.  
 
THE CITY’S FUNDS 
The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements.  Governmental funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of 
accounting.  As of the end of fiscal year 2013, the City governmental funds reported a combined 
fund balance of $13,696,193. Of that fund balance $594,098 is unassigned. 
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
The City’s budget is prepared in accordance with Title 7, Chapter 6, Part 40, MCA (Local 
Government Budget Act).   
 
Variance between the final revenue budget and actual resulted from better than expected building 
permit revenue, court revenue, and ambulance revenue. There were no significant variances 
between the final expenditure budget and actual.  
 
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of 
June 30, 2013 totals $59,107,032 (net of related debt).  The City’s capital investment includes 
land, buildings, improvements, machinery and equipment, infrastructure, and construction in 
progress.  The depreciation of capital assets is reflected in the various governmental and 
business-type expense activities. 
 
City of Whitefish – Capital Assets 
(net of depreciation) 

 
Major capital assets events during FY2013 included the following: 
 

 Continued design of E. 2nd Street Reconstruction and Trail 
 Donation of $25k for new baseball stadium improvements 
 Began infrastructure component of Safe Routes to School project 
 Completed initial phase of citywide wireless communications network 
 Completed construction process on hydroelectric project 
 Continued design for utility improvements on the US Hwy 93 Whitefish West Reconstruction 

Project 
 Identified energy efficiency measures in the water and sewer system and began implementation and 

construction 
 Completed improvements to Ice Rink refrigeration system ~$170k 
 Began design work on $800k Sky Park Bridget project 
 Completed most $150k way finding signage project 
 Purchased new street snow blower attachment for commercial loader 
 Installed ~$150k of raw water system controls in the water treatment plant 
 Purchased an ~$85k dump truck in the Public Works Department 
 Completed Phase I of 6th and Gedddes street reconstruction project using Resort Tax Funds 
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LONG-TERM DEBT 
The City’s FY2012 total debt was decreased by 11.2%.  New debt was incurred for a for the Ice 
Rink. No general obligation bonds were issued.   
 

Outstanding Debt  
 Rate/TIC Annual % 

Reduction 
Amount Due 

w/n Year 
June 30, 

2013 
June 30, 

2012 
Revenue 
Bonds: 
 

     

TIF ESC 4.23% -9.5% 1,305,000 12,020,000 13,285,000 
Water ~2.1% -12.2% 387,000 3,740,000 4,262,000 
Sewer ~2.3% -20.6% 64,000 2,328,000 2,939,764 
      
Special 
Assessment 
Bonds: 

     

SID 166 4.18% -7.5% 70,000 865,000 935,000 
      
Intercap 
Loans: 

     

Ice Rink 1.25% NA 13,663 140,000 - 
      
Capital 
Leases: 

     

Copier 7.27% 100% - - 1,196 
Sharp 
MX5111 

16.07 -33% 3,623 7,357 10,981 

      
OPEB:      
Governmental NA NA - 1,304,250 795,512* 
Business type NA NA - 439,500 530,166* 
      
Compensated 
Absences: 

     

Governmental NA NA 740,223 936,650 659,994 # 
Business type NA NA 177,399 286,353 401,295 # 
      
Total   -7.6% $2,760,908 21,995,571 23,820,908 
 
*The business type for fiscal year 2012 includes the ambulance OPEB liability in the amount of $186,823. In fiscal 
year 13 an adjustment was made to move this amount from a business liability to a governmental liability as the 
fund changed to a governmental fund. 
# The business type for fiscal year 2012 includes the ambulance compensated absences liability in the amount of 
$128,757. In fiscal year 13 an adjustment was made to move this amount from a business liability to a governmental 
liability as the fund changed to a governmental fund 
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ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET 
The City of Whitefish at mid-year FY14, found itself with Property tax supported Funds in an 
increasingly stronger financial position. As compared to the previous year at the same period the 
City’s General Fund cash balance has increased by 22%.  Building License and Permit revenue 
is continuing to follow a strong trend which began in 2012. Building plan review fees for the 
year have already exceeded the entire year’s revenue estimates by 12% while permit fees are at 
98% of the entire year’s estimates.  Due to construction activity Impact Fee collections are 
strong and will exceed budget projections. Economic activity in the City continues to be robust 
as Resort Tax collections continue to track ahead  the previous year which was a very successful 
year (up 10%).  Water and Wastewater charges are trending positively due to a combination of 
increased consumption, additional customers and modest rate increases. The City’s interest 
earnings show a large increase throughout all Funds which is due to the distribution of interest 
earnings from a large, multi-year certificate of deposit.   
 
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those 
with an interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the 
Finance Director, City of Whitefish, P O Box 158, Whitefish MT 59937. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
Mayor and City Council 
City of Whitefish 
Flathead County 
Whitefish, Montana 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of 
Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related 
notes to the financial statements which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial 
statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the City’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, 
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 
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Opinions 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each 
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Whitefish, Flathead 
County, Montana, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the respective changes in 
financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and schedule of 
funding for other post employment benefits other than pensions on pages 2 through 8, 49 through 
54, and 55 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.  Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
 
Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The accompanying schedule of 
expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by 
U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, 
and Non-Profit Organizations, and is also not a required part of the financial statements.   
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements.   Such information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, schedule of expenditures of 
federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a 
whole.   
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 
28, 2014, on our consideration of the City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana’s internal 
control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.  The purpose of that report 
is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit preformed in accordance 
with Government Auditing Standards in considering City of Whitefish, Flathead County, 
Montana’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.  
 

 
March 28, 2014 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 54 of 226



 

-12- 

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and investments $ 10,593,821                 $ 1,569,176                 $ 12,162,997         
Taxes and assessments receivable, net 1,318,962                   584                           1,319,546           
Other receivable 85,662                        -                                85,662                
Accounts receivable - net 164,046                      463,144                    627,190              
Notes and loans receivable 35,603                        -                                35,603                
Unamortized bond premium and costs 132,893                      -                                132,893              

Total current assets $ 12,330,987              $ 2,032,904              $ 14,363,891      

Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and investments $ 3,116,016                   $ 2,215,567                 $ 5,331,583           
Capital assets - land 8,353,129                   602,783                    8,955,912           
Capital assets - construction in progress 19,022,250                 2,385,661                 21,407,911         
Capital assets - depreciable, net 27,069,517                 20,702,511               47,772,028         
Special assessments receivable deferred 1,146,447                   20,529                      1,166,976           

Total noncurrent assets $ 58,707,359              $ 25,927,051            $ 84,634,410      
Total assets $ 71,038,346              $ 27,959,955            $ 98,998,301      

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accrued payroll $ 151,366                   $ 41,057                      $ 192,423              
Current portion of long-term capital liabilities 1,392,286                451,000                    1,843,286           
Current portion of compensated absences payable 740,223                   177,399                    917,622              
Contracts payable 280,482                   -                                280,482              
Deferred revenue - hydro power -                               347,177                    347,177              

Total current liabilities $ 2,564,357                $ 1,016,633              $ 3,580,990        

Noncurrent liabilities
Deposits payable $ -                               $ 188,652                    $ 188,652              
Noncurrent portion of long-term liabilities 1,304,250                439,500                    1,743,750           
Noncurrent portion of long-term capital liabilities 11,562,768              5,622,765                 17,185,533         
Noncurrent portion of compensated absences 196,427                   108,954                    305,381              

Total noncurrent liabilities $ 13,063,445              $ 6,359,871              $ 19,423,316      
Total liabilities $ 15,627,802              $ 7,376,504              $ 23,004,306      

NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt $ 41,489,842              $ 17,617,190               $ 59,107,032         
Restricted for capital projects 1,989,007                -                                1,989,007           
Restricted for debt service 4,456,946                2,056,985                 6,513,931           
Restricted for special projects 8,433,489                -                                8,433,489           
Unrestricted (958,740)                  909,276                    (49,464)               

Total net position $ 55,410,544                 $ 20,583,451               $ 75,993,995         

Total liabilities and net position $ 71,038,346                 $ 27,959,955               $ 98,998,301         

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2013
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Net (Expenses) Revenues and
Changes in Net Assets

Indirect Operating Capital Business-
Expense Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental type

Functions/Programs Expenses Allocation Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total
Primary government:

Governmental activities:
General government $ 1,158,756       $ (156,422)         $ 401,689                    $ -                                     $ -                                     $ (600,645)                 $ -                              $ (600,645)                 
Public safety 5,494,147       80,260            2,024,719                 183,246                         62,823                           (3,303,619)              -                              (3,303,619)              
Public works 2,074,319       15,175            1,412,787                 145,709                         432,564                         (98,434)                   -                              (98,434)                   
Social and economic services 1,500              -                      -                               -                                     -                                     (1,500)                     -                              (1,500)                     
Culture and recreation 2,021,821       13,904            559,683                    53,023                           -                                     (1,423,019)              -                              (1,423,019)              
Housing and community development 2,162,787       4,662              2,485                        46,587                           -                                     (2,118,377)              -                              (2,118,377)              
Debt service  - interest 614,469          -                      -                               -                                     -                                     (614,469)                 -                              (614,469)                 
Miscellaneous 37,770            -                      -                               -                                     -                                     (37,770)                   -                              (37,770)                   

Total governmental activities $ 13,565,569     $ (42,421)           $ 4,401,363                 $ 428,565                         $ 495,387                         $ (8,197,833)              $ -                              $ (8,197,833)              

Business-type activities:
Water $ 1,890,908       $ 19,183            $ 2,841,061                 $ -                                     $ 200,000                         $ -                              1,130,970               1,130,970               
Wastewater 2,240,770       21,596            2,297,669                 28,000                           172,750                         -                              236,053                  236,053                  
Solid Waste 707,710          1,642              744,656                    -                                     -                                     -                              35,304                    35,304                    

Total business-type activities $ 4,839,388       42,421            $ 5,883,386                 $ 28,000                           $ 372,750                         $ -                              $ 1,402,327               $ 1,402,327               

Total primary government $ 18,404,957     -                      $ 10,284,749               $ 456,565                         $ 868,137                         $ (8,197,833)              $ 1,402,327               $ (6,795,506)              

General Revenues:
Property taxes for general purposes $ 8,664,032               $ -                              $ 8,664,032               
Miscellaneous 396,801                  -                              396,801                  
Interest/investment earnings 36,369                    10,704                    47,073                    
State entitlement 902,680                  -                              902,680                  
On behalf payments 606,149                  -                              606,149                  

Total general revenues, special items and transfers $ 10,606,031             $ 10,704                    $ 10,616,735             
Change in net position $ 2,408,198               $ 1,413,031               $ 3,821,229               

Net position - beginning $ 52,926,571             $ 19,294,019             $ 72,220,590             
Restatements 75,775                    (123,599)                 (47,824)                   
Net position - beginning - restated $ 53,002,346             $ 19,170,420             $ 72,172,766             

Net position - end $ 55,410,544             $ 20,583,451             $ 75,993,995             

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

Program Revenues Primary Government

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013
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 General  Resort Tax 
 Tax 

Increment 
 Fire and 

Ambulance 

 Tax Increment 
Revenue Bond 

Debt 
 SID 166 Bond 

Debt 

 Other 
Governmental 

Funds 

 Total 
Governmental 

Funds 
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and investments $ 721,512           $ 2,142,223     $ 2,015,177       $ 523,280         $ -                           $ -                       $ 5,191,629          $ 10,593,821        
Taxes and assessments receivable, net 298,281           -                    733,389          81,607           -                           10,063              195,622             1,318,962          
Other receivable -                      -                    85,662            -                     -                           -                       -                         85,662               
Accounts receivable - net -                      -                    -                      164,046         -                           -                       -                         164,046             
Notes and loans receivable 35,603             -                    -                      -                     -                           -                       -                         35,603               
Due from other funds 90,162             -                    43,578            -                     -                           -                       6,533                 140,273             
Unamortized bond premium and costs -                      -                    -                      -                     132,893               -                       -                         132,893             
Total current assets $ 1,145,558        $ 2,142,223     $ 2,877,806       $ 768,933         $ 132,893               $ 10,063              $ 5,393,784          $ 12,471,260        

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and investments $ -                      $ -                    $ -                      $ -                     $ 3,116,016            $ -                       $ -                         $ 3,116,016          
Advances to other funds 593,010           -                    -                      -                     -                           -                       48,740               641,750             
Special assessments receivable deferred -                      -                    81,286            -                     -                           1,059,184         5,977                 1,146,447          

Total noncurrent assets $ 593,010           $ -                    $ 81,286            $ -                     $ 3,116,016            $ 1,059,184         $ 54,717               $ 4,904,213          
Total assets $ 1,738,568        $ 2,142,223     $ 2,959,092       $ 768,933         $ 3,248,909            $ 1,069,247         $ 5,448,501          $ 17,375,473        

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accrued payroll $ 42,460             $ -                    $ 5,181              $ 53,161           $ -                           $ -                       $ 50,564               $ 151,366             
Due to other funds -                      -                    -                      -                     -                           6,533                133,740             140,273             
Deferred revenue - taxes 298,281           -                    814,675          81,607           -                           1,069,247         201,599             2,465,409          
Contracts payable -                      -                    280,482          -                     -                           -                       -                         280,482             

Total current liabilities $ 340,741           $ -                    $ 1,100,338       $ 134,768         $ -                           $ 1,075,780         $ 385,903             $ 3,037,530          

Noncurrent liabilities:
Advances payable $ -                      $ -                    $ -                      $ -                     $ -                           $ 48,740              $ 593,010             $ 641,750             

Total liabilities $ 340,741           $ -                    $ 1,100,338       $ 134,768         $ -                           $ 1,124,520         $ 978,913             $ 3,679,280          

FUND BALANCES
Restricted $ -                      $ 2,142,223     $ 1,858,754       $ 634,165         $ 3,248,909            $ -                       $ 5,218,044          $ 13,102,095        
Unassigned fund balance 1,397,827        -                    -                      -                     -                           (55,273)            (748,456)            594,098             

Total fund balance $ 1,397,827        $ 2,142,223     $ 1,858,754       $ 634,165         $ 3,248,909            $ (55,273)            $ 4,469,588          $ 13,696,193        
Total liabilities and fund balance $ 1,738,568        $ 2,142,223     $ 2,959,092       $ 768,933         $ 3,248,909            $ 1,069,247         $ 5,448,501          $ 17,375,473        

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds
June 30, 2013
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Total fund balances - governmental funds $ 13,696,193            

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and, 
therefore, are not reported in the funds. 54,444,896            

Property taxes receivable will be collected this year, but are not available soon 
enough to pay for the current period's expenditures, and therefore are deferred 
in the funds. 2,465,409              

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and 
therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds. (15,195,954)           

Total net position - governmental activities $ 55,410,544            

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the 

Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2013
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 General  Resort Tax 
 Tax 

Increment 
 Fire and 

Ambulance 

 Tax Increment 
Revenue Bond 

Debt 
 SID 166 

Bond Debt 

 Other 
Governmental 

Funds 

 Total 
Governmental 

Funds 
REVENUES

Taxes and assessments $ 1,885,754        $ 1,966,425      $ 4,237,148     $ 515,049           $ -                           $ -                     $ 1,348,408           $ 9,952,784           
Licenses and permits 63,053             -                     -                    78,391             -                           -                     655,255              796,699              
Intergovernmental 1,177,313        -                     171,325        417,479           -                           -                     666,410              2,432,527           
Charges for services 218,123           -                     -                    1,152,214        -                           -                     736,596              2,106,933           
Fines and forfeitures 251,958           -                     -                    -                       -                           -                     8,172                  260,130              
Miscellaneous 50,194             -                     2,186            105,440           -                           106,154         109,569              373,543              
Investment earnings 14,944             5,528             -                    -                       8,548                    81                  9,753                  38,854                

Total revenues $ 3,661,339        $ 1,971,953      $ 4,410,659     $ 2,268,573        $ 8,548                    $ 106,235         $ 3,534,163           $ 15,961,470         

EXPENDITURES
General government $ 480,655           $ -                     $ -                    $ -                       $ -                           $ -                     $ 8,172                  $ 488,827              
Public safety 2,461,428        -                     -                    2,725,235        -                           -                     279,681              5,466,344           
Public works 11,435             -                     -                    -                       -                           -                     1,011,840           1,023,275           
Social and economic services 1,500               -                     -                    -                       -                           -                     -                          1,500                  
Culture and recreation 18,988             23,630           -                    -                       -                           -                     1,394,201           1,436,819           
Housing and community development -                       -                     2,120,862     -                       -                           -                     46,587                2,167,449           
Debt service  - principal 4,036               -                     -                    -                       1,265,000             70,000           7,686                  1,346,722           
Debt service  - interest -                       -                     -                    -                       571,401                42,768           300                     614,469              
Miscellaneous -                       -                     -                    -                       -                           -                     37,770                37,770                
Capital outlay 55,444             1,631,074      441,150        42,905             -                           -                     1,292,994           3,463,567           

Total expenditures $ 3,033,486        $ 1,654,704      $ 2,562,012     $ 2,768,140        $ 1,836,401             $ 112,768         $ 4,079,231           $ 16,046,742         
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures $ 627,853           $ 317,249         $ 1,848,647     $ (499,567)          $ (1,827,853)           $ (6,533)            $ (545,068)             $ (85,272)              

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds of general long term debt $ -                       $ -                     $ -                    $ -                       $ -                           $ -                     $ 69,599                $ 69,599                
Transfers in 2,393,007        -                     1,935            494,594           1,789,836             -                     855,442              5,534,814           
Transfers out (2,860,071)       (598,007)        (2,065,609)    -                       -                           -                     (11,127)               (5,534,814)         

Total other financing sources (uses) $ (467,064)          $ (598,007)        $ (2,063,674)    $ 494,594           $ 1,789,836             $ -                     $ 913,914              $ 69,599                
Net Change in Fund Balance $ 160,789           $ (280,758)        $ (215,027)       $ (4,973)              $ (38,017)                $ (6,533)            $ 368,846              $ (15,673)              

Fund balances - beginning $ 1,237,038        $ 2,422,981      $ 2,073,781     $ 353,496           $ 3,286,926             $ (48,740)          $ 4,100,742           $ 13,426,224         
Restatements -                       -                     -                    285,642           -                           -                     -                          285,642              
Fund balances - beginning, restated $ 1,237,038        $ 2,422,981      $ 2,073,781     $ 639,138           $ 3,286,926             $ (48,740)          $ 4,100,742           $ 13,711,866         

Fund balance - ending $ 1,397,827        $ 2,142,223      $ 1,858,754     $ 634,165           $ 3,248,909             $ (55,273)          $ 4,469,588           $ 13,696,193         

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013
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Amounts reported for governmental activities  in the statement of 
activities are different because:

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ (15,673)                      

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures while governmental activities report 
depreciation expense to allocate those expenditures over the life of the assets:

 - Capital assets purchased 3,463,567                  
 - Depreciation expense (1,816,881)                 

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported 
as revenues in the funds:

 - Long-term receivables (deferred revenue) (30,124)                      

The change in compensated absences is shown as an expense in the 
Statement of Activities (147,899)                    

Repayment of debt principal is an expenditures in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces 
long-term debt in the Statement of Net Assets:

 - Long-term debt principal payments 1,346,722                  

Long term debt proceeds provide current financial resources to the governmental funds, but issuing debt 
increases long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Assets:
 - Proceeds from the sale of long-term debt (69,599)                      

Termination benefits are shown as an expense in the Statement of Activities and not reported on the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance:

 - Post-employment benefits other than retirement liability (321,915)                    

Change in net position - Statement of Activities $ 2,408,198                  

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures.

to the Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013

and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
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 Water  Wastewater 
 Non-major 
Enterprise  Totals 

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and investments $ 987,713             $ 506,197           $ 75,266              $ 1,569,176        
Taxes and assessments receivable, net 249                    335                  -                       584                  
Accounts receivable - net 230,590             168,930           63,624              463,144           
Total current assets $ 1,218,552          $ 675,462           $ 138,890            $ 2,032,904        

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and investments $ 1,448,854          $ 766,713           $ -                       $ 2,215,567        
Capital assets - land 335,283             267,500           -                       602,783           
Capital assets - construction in progress 1,993,589          392,072           -                       2,385,661        
Capital assets - depreciable, net 8,377,312          12,325,199      -                       20,702,511      
Special assessments receivable deferred 8,745                 11,784             -                       20,529             

Total noncurrent assets $ 12,163,783        $ 13,763,268      $ -                       $ 25,927,051      
Total assets $ 13,382,335        $ 14,438,730      $ 138,890            $ 27,959,955      

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accrued payroll $ 19,442               $ 20,012             $ 1,603                $ 41,057             
Deferred revenue - hydro power 347,177             -                       -                       347,177           

Total current liabilities $ 837,933             $ 169,113           $ 9,587                $ 1,016,633        

Noncurrent liabilities:
Deposits payable $ 188,550             $ 74                    $ 28                     $ 188,652           
Noncurrent portion of long-term liabilities 204,262             222,088           13,150              439,500           
Noncurrent portion of long-term capital liabilities 3,354,000          2,268,765        -                       5,622,765        
Noncurrent portion of compensated absences 55,910               47,206             5,838                108,954           

Total noncurrent liabilities $ 3,802,722          $ 2,538,133        $ 19,016              $ 6,359,871        
Total liabilities $ 4,640,655          $ 2,707,246        $ 28,603              $ 7,376,504        

NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt $ 6,965,184          $ 10,652,006      $ -                       $ 17,617,190      
Restricted for debt service 1,290,272          766,713           -                       2,056,985        
Unrestricted 486,224             312,765           110,287            909,276           

Total net position $ 8,741,680          $ 11,731,484      $ 110,287            $ 20,583,451      
Total liabilities and net position $ 13,382,335        $ 14,438,730      $ 138,890            $ 27,959,955      

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

Proprietary Funds

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2013
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 Water  Wastewater 
 Non-major 
Enterprise  Totals 

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 2,835,924     $ 2,273,228       $ 744,656        $ 5,853,808        
Miscellaneous revenues 5,137            24,441            -                    29,578             

Total operating revenues $ 2,841,061     $ 2,297,669       $ 744,656        $ 5,883,386        

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personal services $ 832,035        $ 911,843          $ 69,433          $ 1,813,311        
Supplies 139,710        223,349          1,897            364,956           
Purchased services 271,448        207,064          634,316        1,112,828        
Fixed charges 180,417        150,315          3,706            334,438           
Depreciation 363,734        690,177          -                    1,053,911        

Total operating expenses $ 1,787,344     $ 2,182,748       $ 709,352        $ 4,679,444        
Operating income (loss) $ 1,053,717     $ 114,921          $ 35,304          $ 1,203,942        

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Intergovernmental revenue $ 200,000        $ 200,750          $ -                    $ 400,750           
Interest revenue 6,771            3,739              194               10,704             
Debt service interest expense (116,080)       (72,952)           -                    (189,032)          
Grants and donations to other institutions (6,667)           (6,666)             -                    (13,333)            

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) $ 84,024          $ 124,871          $ 194               $ 209,089           
Income (loss) before contributions and transfers $ 1,137,741     $ 239,792          $ 35,498          $ 1,413,031        

Change in net position $ 1,137,741     $ 239,792          $ 35,498          $ 1,413,031        

Net Position - Beginning of the year $ 7,603,939     $ 11,491,692     $ 198,388        $ 19,294,019      
Restatements -                    -                      (123,599)       (123,599)          
Net Position - Beginning of the year - Restated $ 7,603,939     $ 11,491,692     $ 74,789          $ 19,170,420      

Net Position - End of the year $ 8,741,680     $ 11,731,484     $ 110,287        $ 20,583,451      

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

Business-Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds
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Water Wastewater
 Nonmajor 
Enterprise Totals

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from providing services $ 2,772,522      $ 2,271,106      $ 741,929     $ 5,785,557     
Cash received from miscellaneous sources 5,137             24,441           -                 29,578          
Cash payments to suppliers (311,381)        (361,880)       (1,897)        (675,158)       
Cash payments for professional services (271,448)        (207,064)       (634,316)    (1,112,828)    
Cash payments to employees (773,841)        (853,078)       (72,042)      (1,698,961)    

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 1,420,989      $ 873,525         $ 33,674       $ 2,328,188     

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets $ (1,729,176)     $ (496,967)       $ -                 $ (2,226,143)    
Principal paid on debt (521,000)        (606,999)       -                 (1,127,999)    
Interest paid on debt (116,080)        (72,952)         -                 (189,032)       

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities $ (2,366,256)     $ (1,176,918)    $ -                 $ (3,543,174)    

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
Tax levies and contributions from the County $ 191,502         $ 189,300         $ -                 $ 380,802        
Grants and donations to other institutions (6,667)            (6,666)           -                 (13,333)         

Net cash provided (used) from non-capital financing activities $ 184,835         $ 182,634         $ -                 $ 367,469        

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest on investments $ 6,771             $ 3,739             $ 194            $ 10,704          

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities $ 6,771             $ 3,739             $ 194            $ 10,704          

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ (753,661)        $ (117,020)       $ 33,868       $ (836,813)       

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning $ 3,190,228      $ 1,389,930      $ 41,398       $ 4,621,556     
Cash and cash equivalents at end $ 2,436,567      $ 1,272,910      $ 75,266       $ 3,784,743     

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash provided 
(used) by operating activities:
  Operating income (loss) $ 1,053,717      $ 114,921         $ 35,304       $ 1,203,942     
  Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
  provided (used) by operating activities:
    Depreciation 363,734         690,177         -                 1,053,911     

Other post-employment benefits 45,988           50,169           -                 96,157          
  Changes in assets and liabilities:

Change in accounts receivable (10,579)          (2,122)           (2,727)        (15,428)         
Change in deferred revenue (52,823)          -                    -                 (52,823)         
Change in special assessment receivable deferred 8,746             11,784           -                 20,530          
Change in accrued payables 4,713             3,037             333            8,083            
Change in compensated absences 7,493             5,559             764            13,816          

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities $ 1,420,989      $ 873,525         $ 33,674       $ 2,328,188     

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

Business - Type Activities - Enterprise Funds

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 63 of 226



 

-21- 

 Pension Private Purpose Agency
 Trust Funds  Trust Funds  Funds 

ASSETS
Cash and short-term investments $ 26,073                    $ 82,560                    $ 492,508                  
Interest and dividends receivable 13,415                    -                              -                              

Total assets $ 39,488                    $ 82,560                    $ 492,508                  
LIABILITIES

Warrants payable $ -                              $ -                              $ 492,508                  
Deferred revenue 13,415                    -                              -                              

Total liabilities $ 13,415                    $ -                              $ 492,508                  

NET POSITION
Assets held in trust $ 26,073                    $ 82,560                    

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Statement of  Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2013
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 Pension Trust 
Funds 

 Private Purpose 
Trust Funds 

ADDITIONS
Contributions:

Tax $ 86,503                    $ -                              
Intergovernmental -                              231,611                  
Total contributions $ 86,503                    $ 231,611                  

Investment earnings:
Interest and change in fair value of investments $ 40                           $ 322                         

Total additions $ 86,543                    $ 231,933                  

DEDUCTIONS
Distributions from investment trust fund $ 60,470                    $ 252,350                  
Change in net position $ 26,073                    $ (20,417)                   

Net Position - Beginning of the year $ -                              $ 102,977                  

Net Position - End of the year $ 26,073                    $ 82,560                    

See accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Statement of Changes in  Net Position

Fiduciary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The City complies with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  GAAP 
includes all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
pronouncements.   
 
GASBS No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance 
Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, incorporates 
the pre-November 30, 1989 FASB, APB and ARB pronouncements that the GASB 
considers to be applicable to state and local governments.  This standard is effective for 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2013.  
 
Financial Reporting Entity  

  
In determining the financial reporting entity, the City complies with the provisions of 
GASB statement No, 14, The Financial Reporting City, and includes all component units 
of which the City appointed a voting majority of the component units’ board; the City is 
either able to impose its’ will on the unit or a financial benefit or burden relationship 
exists.  In addition, the City complies with GASB statement No. 39 Determining Whether 
Certain Organizations Are Component Units which relates to organizations that raise and 
hold economic resources for the direct benefit of the City.   In complying with GASBS 
No. 62, the City will no longer report the Whitefish Housing Authority as a component 
unit.  The Authority was previously reported as a discretely presented component unit.  
This change has no effect on beginning net position or fund balance. 
 
Primary Government 
 
The City is a political subdivision of the State of Montana governed by an elected Mayor 
and Council duly elected by the registered voters of the City.  The City utilizes the 
manager form of government.    The City is considered a primary government because it 
is a general purpose local government.  Further, it meets the following criteria: (a) It has a 
separately elected governing body (b) It is legally separate and (c) It is fiscally 
independent from the State and other local governments.  
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Basis of Presentation, Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements: 

 

Basis of Presentation 
The Government-wide Financial Statements (the Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities) display information about the reporting government as a whole 
and its component units.  They include all funds of the reporting City except fiduciary 
funds.  The statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities.  
Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental 
revenues, and other non-exchange revenues.  Business-type activities are financed in 
whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or services.  Eliminations 
have been made in the consolidation of business-type activities.  
 
The Statement of Activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program 
revenues for each function of the City’s governmental activities.  Direct expenses are 
those that are specifically associated with a program or function.  The City charges 
indirect expenses to programs or functions.  The types of transactions reported as 
program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or 
directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or 
activity and 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions.  
Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all property taxes, are 
presented as general revenues.  
 
Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by GASB 34 in regards to inter-fund 
activities, payables and receivables.  All internal balances in the Statement of Net 
Position have been eliminated except those representing balances between the 
governmental activities and the business-type activities, which are presented as internal 
balances and eliminated in the total primary government column. In the Statement of 
Activities, internal service fund transactions have been eliminated; however, those 
transactions between governmental and business-type activities have not been eliminated.  
 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting  
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
On the government-wide Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, both 
governmental and business-type activities are presented using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Under the accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the 
liability is incurred regardless of the timing of the cash flows.  Property taxes are 
recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items 
are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider 
have been met.  The City generally applies restricted resources to expenses incurred 
before using unrestricted resources when both restricted and unrestricted net assets are 
available.  
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Fund Financial Statements: 

 
Basis of Presentation 
Fund financial statements of the reporting City are organized into funds, each of which is 
considered to be separate accounting entities.  Each fund is accounted for by providing a 
separate set of self-balancing accounts.  Fund accounting segregates funds according to 
their intended purpose and is used to aid management in demonstrating compliance with 
finance-related legal and contractual provisions.  The minimum number of funds is 
maintained consistent with legal and managerial requirements.  Funds are organized into 
three categories: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary.  An emphasis is placed on 
major funds within the governmental and proprietary categories. Each major fund is 
displayed in a separate column in the governmental funds statements.  All of the 
remaining funds are aggregated and reported in a single column as non-major funds.   A 
fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the City or meets the 
following criteria:  
  

a. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that individual 
governmental or enterprise fund are at least 10 percent of the corresponding 
total for all funds of that category or type; and  

b. Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses of that individual 
governmental or enterprise funds are at least 5 percent of the corresponding 
total for all governmental and enterprise funds combined.  

 
Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting  
 
Governmental Funds 

Modified Accrual 
All governmental funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible 
to accrual; i.e., both measurable and available. “Measurable” means the amount of the 
transaction can be determined. “Available” means collectible within the current period or 
soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period.  
 
The City defined the length of time used for “available” for purposes of revenue 
recognition in the governmental fund financial statements to be upon receipt.  
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for 
unmatured interest on general long-term debt which is recognized when due, and certain 
compensated absences and claims and judgments which are recognized when the 
obligations are expected to be liquidated with expendable available financial resources. 
General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds and 
proceeds of general long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as 
other financing sources.  
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Property taxes, franchise fees, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal 
period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as 
revenues of the current fiscal period. Only the portion of special assessments receivable 
due within the current fiscal period is considered to be susceptible to accrual as revenue 
of the current period. Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the 
qualifying expenditures have been incurred and all other grant requirements have been 
met. Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded at the time of receipt or earlier if the 
susceptible to accrual criteria are met. All other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available only when cash is received by the government.  
 
Major Funds: 
The City reports the following major governmental funds:  
 

General Fund – This is the City’s primary operating fund and it accounts for all 
financial resources of the City except those required to be accounted for in other 
funds. 
 
Resort Tax Fund – A special revenue fund established in 1995 to provide budget 
authority to implement City Ordinance 95-15, the Resort Tax Ordinance.  The 
ordinance imposes a 2% resort tax on a range of goods and services sold by 
establishments within the City.  The Ordinance specifies that property tax relief 
should be provided to Whitefish taxpayers in an amount equal to 25% of resort 
tax revenues derived during the preceding fiscal year.  An amount equal to 65% 
of these revenues shall be used for repair and improvement of existing 
infrastructure.  An amount equal to 5% of the revenues shall be used for bicycle 
paths and other park improvements.  Finally each collecting merchant is entitled 
to withhold 5% to defray costs of collecting the tax. 
 
Tax Increment Fund – A special revenue fund that was established in 1987 is used 
to account for urban renewal activities within the boundaries of the Whitefish Tax 
Increment District.  In accordance to Montana Code Annotated (MCA) 7-15-
4292, tax increment districts must be terminated 15 years after their creation or at 
a later date necessary to pay all bond obligations, termination of the district is 
projected to be July 15, 2021. 
 
Fire and Ambulance Fund – A special revenue fund established to account for the 
activities of the City’s fire and ambulance services. 
 
Tax Increment Revenue Bond Debt Fund – A debt service fund that was 
established to account for the payment of interest and principal on long-term debt. 
 
Special Improvement District 166 – A debt service fund created to service special 
assessment bonds for the JP Road Project. 
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Proprietary Funds: 
All proprietary funds are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. These funds 
account for operations that are primarily financed by user charges.  The economic 
resource focus concerns determining costs as a means of maintaining the capital 
investment and management control.  Revenues are recognized when earned and 
expenses are recognized when incurred.  Allocations of costs, such as depreciation, are 
recorded in proprietary funds.  
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing 
and delivering goods in connections with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing 
operations.  The principal operating revenues for enterprise funds are charges to 
customers for sales and services.  Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the 
cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  
All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating 
revenues and expenses.  When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for 
use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as 
they are needed.  
 
Major Funds:  
The City reports the following major proprietary funds:  

 
Water Fund – An enterprise fund that accounts for the activities of the City’s 
water distribution operations. 
 
Wastewater Fund – An enterprise fund that accounts for the activities of the 
City’s sewer collection and treatment operations and includes the storm sewer 
system. 

 
Fiduciary Funds 

Fiduciary funds presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the 
accrual basis of accounting (except for the recognition of certain liabilities of defined 
benefit pension plans and certain postemployment healthcare plans).  The required 
financial statements are a statement of fiduciary net assets and a statement of changes in 
fiduciary net assets. The fiduciary funds are: 
 

Private Purpose Trust – The City maintains a trust fund to record activity of the 
trail project. 
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Cost Allocation Plan 
The City allocates administrative service costs to each of the funds based on a percentage 
of the budgeted salary.  Administrative cost allocation percentages are listed below: 
 

General Fund 7.07% 
Street and Alley 7.52% 
Parks and Recreation 9.04% 
Library 1.73% 
Law Enforcement 21.48% 
Tax Increment 2.43% 
Fire and Ambulance 24.49% 
Building Codes 3.50% 
Light #1 0.25% 
Light #4 0.25% 
Water Fund 10.02% 
Wastewater Fund 11.34% 
Solid Waste Fund    0.88% 
Total     100% 

   
NOTE 2. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS 
 
 Cash Composition 

Composition of cash, deposits and investments at fair value on June 30, 2013, are as 
follows:    

Primary 
Government

Cash on hand and deposits:
Petty Cash $ 1,225              
Cash in banks:

Demand deposits 15,341,182     
Savings deposits 383,882          
Time deposits 2,342,138       

Investments:
State Short-Term Investment Pool (STIP) 27,294            

Total $ 18,095,721     

 
Credit Risk 
Section 7-6-202, MCA, limits investments of public money of a local government in the 
following eligible securities: 
 (a) United States government treasury bills, notes and bonds and in the United 
States treasury obligations, such as state and local government series (SLGLS), separate 
trading of registered interest and principal of securities (STRIPS), or similar United 
States treasury obligations; 
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(b) United States treasury receipts in a form evidencing the holder’s ownership of 
future interest or principal payments on specific United States treasury obligations that, in 
the absence of payment default by the United States, are held in a special custody account 
by an independent trust company in a certificate or book entry form with the federal 
reserve bank of New York; or 
 (c) Obligations of the following agencies of the United States, subject to the 
limitations in subsection 2 (not included): 
  (i)  federal home loan bank; 
  (ii)   federal national mortgage association; 

(iii) federal home mortgage corporation; and 
(iv) federal farm credit bank. 
 

With the exception of the assets of a local government group self-insurance program, 
investments may not have a maturity date exceeding 5 years except when the investment 
is used in an escrow account to refund an outstanding bond issue in advance. 
 
Section 7-6-205 and Section 7-6-206, MCA, state that demand deposits may be placed 
only in banks and Public money not necessary for immediate use by a county, city, or 
town that is not invested as authorize in Section 7-6-202 may be place in time or savings 
deposits with a bank, savings and loan association, or credit union in the state or place in 
repurchase agreements as authorized in Section 7-6-213. 
 
Section 7-6-202, MCA, as amended, now limits authorized investments in certain 
securities that previously were permissible investments.  The amendment does not apply 
to and does not require the sale of securities that were legal investments before the 
effective date of this act.  However, the investments reported as collateralized mortgage 
obligations above are not authorized investments at the current time. 
 
The government has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. 

 
The government has the following investments and their related credit risk: 
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Short Term Investment Pool (STIP) Credit Quality ratings by the NRSRO as of June 30, 
2013:    
 

 
*“As of June 30, 2013, the Securities Lending Quality Trust liquidity pool had an average 
duration of 48 days and an average weighted final maturity of 99 days for U.S. dollar 
collateral. The duration pool had an average duration of 36 days and an average weighted 
final maturity of 679 days for U.S. dollar collateral.” 
 
Audited financial statements for the State of Montana’s Board of Investments are 
available at 555 Fuller Avenue in Helena, Montana. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk  
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the government’s 
deposits may not be returned to it.  The government does not have a deposit policy for 
custodial credit risk. All deposits are carried at cost plus accrued interest.  As of June 30, 
2013 $17,292,718 of the government’s bank balance of $18,042,718 was exposed to 
custodial credit risk as follows:   
 

Security Investment Type Amortized Cost 
Credit 
Quality 
Rating 

Weighted 
Average 
Maturity 

Asset Backed Commercial Paper $ 907,892,295 A1 44 
Corporate Commercial Paper  150,768,775 A1 105 
Corporate Variable-Rate  663,143,336 A3 41 
Certificates of Deposit Fixed Rate  50,000,000 A1 222 
Certificates of Deposit Variable-Rate  435,974,196 A2 35 
Other Asset Backed  17,987,295 BBB- NA 
U.S. Government Agency Fixed  25,000,000 A1 3 
U.S. Government Agency Variable -Rate  182,700,345 A1 17 
Money Market Funds (Unrated)  168,232,935 NR 1 
Money Market Funds (Rated)  15,000,000 A1+ 1 
Structured Investment Vehicles (SIV)  29,561,449 NR 4 
Total Investments $ 2,395,388,093 A2 43 
    
Securities Lending Collateral Investment 
Pool 

$ 7,182,928 NR * 
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Balance
Depository Account
Insured $ 750,000          

 - Collateral held by the pledging bank's trust
department in the City's name. 10,653,871     

Uninsured and uncollateralized 6,638,847       
Total deposits and investments $ 18,042,718     

 
Deposit Security 
Section 7-6-207, MCA, states (1) The local governing body may require security only for 
that portion of the deposits which is not guaranteed or insured according to law and, as to 
such unguaranteed or uninsured portion, to the extent of: 
 (a)  50% of such deposits if the institution in which the deposit is made has a net 
worth of total assets ratio of 6% or more; or  
 (b)  100% if the institution in which the deposit is made has a net worth of total 
assets ration of less than 6%.  
 
The amount of collateral held for City deposits at June 30, 2013, equaled or exceeded the 
amount required by State statutes.  
 
Cash equivalents 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the enterprise funds consider all funds 
(including restricted assets) held in the  City’s cash management pool to be cash 
equivalents.  

 
NOTE 3. RESTRICTED CASH/INVESTMENTS 

 
The following restricted cash/investments were held by the City as of June 30, 2013.   
These amounts are reported within the cash/investment account on the Statement of Net 
Position. 
 

Description Amount 
Debt Service $ 3,932,307 
Construction  1,192,891 
Replacement and depreciation     206,405 
     Total $ 5,331,583 

 
 
NOTE 4. RECEIVABLES   

 
An allowance for uncollectible accounts was not maintained for real and personal 
property taxes receivable.  The direct write-off method is used for these accounts. 
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Property tax levies are set in August, after the County Assessor delivers the taxable 
valuation information to the County, in connection with the budget process and are based 
on taxable values listed as of January 1 for all property located in the City.    Taxable 
values are established by the Montana Department of Revenue, and a revaluation of all 
property is required to be completed on a periodic basis.  Taxable value is defined by 
Montana statute as a fixed percentage of market value. 
 
Real property (and certain attached personal property) taxes are billed within ten days 
after the third Monday in October and are due in equal installments on November 30 and 
the following May 31.  After those dates, they become delinquent (and a lien upon the 
property).  After three years, the County may exercise the lien and take title to the 
property.  Special assessments are either billed in one installment due November 30 or 
two equal installments due November 30 and the following May 31.  Personal property 
taxes (other that those billed with real estate) are generally billed no later then the second 
Monday in July (normally in May or June), based on the prior November’s levies.  
Personal property taxes, other than mobile homes, are due thirty days after billing.  
Mobile home taxes are billed in two halves, the first due thirty days after billing; the 
second due September 30.  The tax billings are considered past due after the respective 
due dates and are subject to penalty and interest charges. 

 
Taxes that become delinquent are charged interest at the rate of 5/6 of 1% a month plus a 
penalty of 2%.  Real property on which taxes remain delinquent and unpaid may be sold 
at tax sales.  In the case of personal property, the property is to be seized and sold after 
the taxes become delinquent. 

 
NOTE 5. INVENTORIES 
 

The cost of inventories are recorded as an expenditure when purchased  
 

NOTE 6. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

The City’s assets are capitalized at historical cost or estimated historical cost. City policy 
has set the capitalization threshold as noted below. Gifts or contributions of capital assets 
are recorded at fair market value when received. The costs of normal maintenance and 
repairs are charged to operations as incurred. Improvements are capitalized and 
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related fixed assets, as applicable. 
Depreciation is recorded on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets as 
follows:   

 
 
 
Buildings 

Useful Life 
 

10 – 40 years 

 Capitalization 
Threshold 
$25,000 

Improvements  5 – 20 years years  $25,000 
Equipment  3 – 40 years years  $5,000 
Infrastructure  10 – 40 years years  $75,000 
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In June 1999, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement 
No. 34 which requires the inclusion of infrastructure capital assets in local governments’ 
basic financial statements. In accordance with Statement No. 34, the City has included 
the value of all infrastructures into the Basic Financial Statements.  The government has 
elected not to retroactively report general infrastructure assets. 

 
A summary of changes in governmental capital assets was as follows: 
 

Governmental activities
Balance Balance

July 1, 2012 Additions Transfers June 30, 2013
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land $ 8,353,129       $ -                      $ -                    $ 8,353,129         
Construction in progress 16,197,760     2,824,490       -                    19,022,250       

Total capital assets not being depreciated $ 24,550,889     $ 2,824,490       $ -                    $ 27,375,379       
Other capital assets:

Buildings $ 13,729,591     $ 73,183            $ -                    $ 13,802,774       
Improvements other than buildings 1,656,182       191,699          -                    1,847,881         
Machinery and equipment 4,423,191       374,195          565,352         5,362,738         
Infrastructure 22,460,087     -                      -                    22,460,087       

Total other capital assets at historical cost $ 42,269,051     $ 639,077          $ 565,352         $ 43,473,480       
Less: accumulated depreciation $ (14,127,443)    $ (1,816,881)      $ (459,639)       $ (16,403,963)      

Total $ 52,692,497     $ 1,646,686       $ 105,713         $ 54,444,896       

Governmental activities depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows: 
 

Governmental Activities:  
General government $ 43,693      
Public safety 108,063 
Public works   1,066,219 
Culture and recreation        598,906 
Total governmental activities depreciation expense $ 1,816,881  
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A summary of changes in business-type capital assets was as follows: 
 

Business-type activities
Balance Balance

July 1, 2012 Additions Transfers June 30, 2013
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land $ 602,783          $ -                      $ -                    $ 602,783            
Construction in progress 621,271          1,764,390       -                    2,385,661         

Total capital assets not being depreciated $ 1,224,054       $ 1,764,390       $ -                    $ 2,988,444         
Other capital assets:

Buildings $ 170,980          $ -                      $ -                    $ 170,980            
Pumping Plant 2,880,335       -                      -                    2,880,335         
Treatment Plans 16,332,389     107,180          -                    16,439,569       
Tansmission and distribution 14,636,984     97,666            -                    14,734,650       
General Plant 1,169,130       256,906          -                    1,426,036         
Machinery and equipment 565,486          -                      (565,352)       134                   

Total other capital assets at historical cost $ 35,755,304     $ 461,752          $ (565,352)       $ 35,651,704       
Less: accumulated depreciation $ (14,354,922)    $ (1,053,910)      $ 459,639         $ (14,949,193)      

Total $ 22,624,436     $ 1,172,232       $ (105,713)       $ 23,690,955       

 
NOTE 7. LONG TERM DEBT OBLIGATIONS 

  
In the governmental-wide and proprietary financial statements, outstanding debt is 
reported as liabilities.  Bond issuance costs, bond discounts or premiums, are amortized 
over the life of the bonds. 

 
The governmental fund financial statements recognize the proceeds of debt and 
premiums as other financing sources of the current period.  Issuance costs are reported as 
expenditures. 
 
Changes in Long-Term Debt Liabilities - During the year ended June 30, 2013, the 
following changes occurred in liabilities reported in long-term debt: 
 

Governmental Activities:
Balance Balance Due Within

July 1, 2012 Additions Deletions Restatements June 30, 2013 One Year
Revenue bonds $ 13,285,000    $ -             $ (1,265,000)   $ -                   $ 12,020,000    $ 1,305,000  
Special assessment bond 935,000         -             (70,000)        -                   865,000         70,000       
Compensated absences 659,994         147,899  128,757       936,650         740,223     
Intercap loans -                    69,599    (6,902)          -                   62,697           13,663       
Capital leases 12,177           (4,820)          -                   7,357             3,623         
Other post-employment 795,512         321,915  -                   186,823       1,304,250      -                 

benefits*
Total $ 15,687,683    $ 539,413  $ (1,346,722)   $ 315,580       $ 15,195,954    $ 2,132,509  

*See Note 8 
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In prior years the general fund was used to liquidate compensated absences and claims 
and judgments. 
 

Business-type Activities:
Balance Balance Due Within

July 1, 2012 Additions Deletions Restatements June 30, 2013 One Year
Revenue bonds $ 7,201,764      $ -              $ (1,128,000)  $ -                   $ 6,073,764      $ 451,000     
Compensated absences 401,294         13,816    -                  (128,757)      286,353         177,399     
Other post-employment 530,166         96,157    -                  (186,823)      439,500         -                
benefits*

Total $ 8,133,224      $ 109,973  $ (1,128,000)  $ (315,580)      $ 6,799,617      $ 628,399     

*See Note 8 
 
General Obligation Bonds - The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for 
the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities.  General obligation bonds are 
direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the City.  General obligation 
bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2013 were as follows: 
 

 
Purpose 

Origination 
Date 

Interest 
 Rate 

 
Term 

Maturity 
Date 

Principal 
Amount 

Annual 
Payment 

Balance 
June 30, 

2013 
2009 Tax Increment 
Urban Renewal 
Revenue Bonds  

7/14/09 3-4.625% 11 yrs 7/15/20 $ 15,695,000 varies $ 12,020,000 

Reported in the governmental activities. 
  
Annual requirement to amortize debt: 

For Fiscal
Year Ended Principal Interest

2014 $ 1,305,000     $ 478,824        
2015 1,350,000     428,986        
2016 1,405,000     373,886        
2017 1,460,000     316,586        
2018 1,525,000     255,933        
2019 1,590,000     189,898        
2020 1,655,000     117,665        
2021 1,730,000     40,006          
Total $ 12,020,000   $ 2,201,784     
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Special Assessment Debt - Special assessment bonds are payable from the collection of 
special assessments levied against benefited property owners within defined special 
improvement districts.  The bonds are issued with specific maturity dates, but must be 
called and repaid earlier, at par plus accrued interest, if the related special assessments are 
collected.  Rural special improvement districts bonds were issued with revolving fund 
backing.   The City is not obligated to levy and collect a general property tax on all 
taxable property in the City to provide additional funding for the debt service payments.  
The cash balance in the Revolving Fund must equal at least 5% of the principal amount 
of bonds outstanding. Special assessment bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2013 were as 
follows: 
 

 
Purpose 

Origination 
Date 

Interest  
Rate 

Bond 
Term 

Maturity 
Date 

Bonds 
Amount 

Annual 
Payment 

Balance 
June 30, 2013 

SID #166 – JP Road 
Project  

7/6/06 3.65-
4.80% 

20 yrs 7/1/26 $ 1,360,000 varies $ 865,000 

Reported in the governmental activities. 
 

Annual requirement to amortize debt: 
For Fiscal

Year Ended Principal Interest
2014 $ 70,000          $ 39,597          
2015 70,000          36,622          
2016 70,000          33,577          
2017 70,000          30,498          
2018 70,000          27,382          
2019 65,000          24,232          
2020 65,000          21,274          
2021 65,000          18,286          
2022 65,000          15,263          
2023 65,000          12,208          
2024 65,000          9,120            
2025 65,000          6,000            
2026 60,000          2,880            
Total $ 865,000        $ 276,939        
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Revenue Bonds - The City also issues bonds where the City pledges income derived from 
the acquired or constructed assets to pay debt service.  Revenue bonds outstanding at year 
end were as follows: 
 

 
Purpose 

Origination 
Date 

Interest  
Rate 

Bond 
Term 

Maturity 
Date 

Bonds 
Amount 

Annual 
Payment 

Balance 
June 30, 2013 

DNRC - Water 1998 7/6/98 4.00% 20 yrs 7/1/18 $ 400,000 varies $ 131,000 
DNRC - Water 1999 6/21/99 4.00% 20 yrs 7/1/19 5,839,000 varies 2,234,000 
Water DWSRF 
#06098-2006 

6/15/06 3.75% 20 yrs 7/1/26 248,699 varies 628,000 

Water WRF #08110 – 
2007 

9/6/07 3.75% 20 yrs 7/1/27 900,000 varies 652,000 

Water SRF (2009B) 10/21/09 0.75% 20 yrs 7/1/29 120,100 varies 96,000 
Sewer SRF 2002 Series 7/1/02 3.00% 20 yrs 7/1/22 200,000 varies 97,000 
Sewer DNRC (2008A) 12/11/08 2.75% 20 yrs 7/1/28 500,000 varies 350,000 
Sewer DNRC (2008B) 1/16/09 3.75% 20 yrs 1/1/29 1,711,000 varies 1,188,000 
Sewer DNRC (2010B) 2/4/10 0.75% 20 yrs 1/1/30 48,211 varies 42,000 
Sewer 2011B 8/1/11 3.75% 20 yrs 7/1/31 340,000 varies 315,000 
Sewer 2011C 8/1/11 3.75% 20 yrs 7/1/31 350,000 varies 340,764 
        
   Total     $ 10,657,010  $ 6,073,764 

Reported in the business-type activities. 
 
Revenue bond resolutions include various restrictive covenants.  The more significant 
covenants 1) require that cash be restricted and reserved for operations, construction, debt 
service, and replacement and depreciation; 2) specify minimum required operating 
revenue; and 3) specific and timely reporting of financial information to bond holders and 
the registrar.  The City was in compliance with applicable covenants as of June 30, 2013. 
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Annual requirement to amortize debt: 
 

For Fiscal
Year Ended Principal Interest

2014 $ 451,000        $ 164,488        
2015 599,000        202,206        
2016 623,000        179,110        
2017 650,000        155,202        
2018 670,000        130,088        
2019 646,000        104,744        
2020 264,000        83,999          
2021 271,000        74,676          
2022 280,000        65,062          
2023 278,000        55,215          
2024 288,000        45,252          
2025 298,000        34,924          
2026 306,000        24,248          
2027 231,000        13,788          
2028 53,000          7,131            
2029 54,000          5,410            
2030 48,000          3,726            
2031 41,764          1,979            
2032 22,000          487               
Total $ 6,073,764     $ 1,351,735     

 
Intercap Loans 
Intercap loans have variable interest rates.  Interest rates are subject to change annually.  
Interest rates to the borrower are adjusted on February 16th of each year and are based on 
a spread over the interest paid on one-year term, tax-exempt bonds which are sold to fund 
the loans.  

 
 Intercap loans outstanding as of June 30, 2013 were as follows:  
 

 
Purpose 

Origination 
Date 

Interest  
Rate 

 
Term 

Maturity 
Date 

Principal 
Amount 

Balance 
June 30, 2013 

Ice Rink  10/1/2012 1.25% 5 yrs 8/15/17 $ 69,599 $ 62,697 
Reported in the governmental activities. 
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Annual requirement to amortize debt: 
Year Ended Principal Interest

2014 $ 13,663          $ 784               
2015 13,833          613               
2016 14,007          440               
2017 14,183          615               
2018 7,011            617               
Total $ 62,697          $ 3,069            

 
Capital Leases 
The City has entered into several leases which meet the criteria of a capital lease as 
defined by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13, "Accounting for 
Leases," which defines a capital lease generally as one which transfers benefits and risks 
of ownership to the lessee when all terms of the lease agreements are met. Capital lease 
obligations outstanding as of June 30, 2013 were as follows: 
  

 
 
Purpose 

 
Origination 

Date 

 
Interest  

rate 

Capitalized 
Original 

Cost   

Remaining 
Payments as of 
June 30, 2013 

Sharp MX5111 4/4/12 16.7%      10,981               7,357 
     Total   $ 17,755 $ 7,357 

Reported in the governmental activities. 
 

Annual requirement to amortize debt: 
For Fiscal

Year Ended Principal Interest
2014 $ 3,623            $ 625               
2015 3,734            280               
Total $ 7,357            $ 905               

 
Compensated Absences 
Compensated absences are absences for which employees will be paid for time off earned 
for time during employment, such as earned vacation and sick leave.  It is the City’s 
policy and state law to permit employees to accumulate a limited amount of earned but 
unused vacation benefits, which will be paid to employees upon separation from City 
service. Employees are allowed to accumulate and carry over a maximum of two times 
their annual accumulation of vacation, but no more than 90 days into the new calendar 
year. There is no restriction on the amount of sick leave that may be accumulated. Upon 
separation, employees are paid 100 percent of accumulated vacation and 25 percent of 
accumulated sick leave. The liability associated with governmental fund-type employees 
is reported in the governmental activities, while the liability associated with proprietary 
fund-type employees is recorded in the business-type activities/respective proprietary 
fund. 
 

NOTE 8. POSTEMPLOYMENT HEALTHCARE PLAN 
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Plan Description.  The healthcare plan provides for, and Montana State Law (2-18-704) 
requires local governments to allow employees with at least 5 years of service and who 
are at least age 50 along with surviving spouses and dependents to stay on the 
government's health care plan as long as they pay the same premium.  Since retirees are 
usually older than the average age of the plan participants they receive a benefit of lower 
insurance rates.  This benefit is reported as the Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) 
liability.  The government has less than 100 plan members and thus qualifies to use the 
"Alternative Measurement Method" for calculating the liability.  The above described 
OPEB plan does not provide a stand-alone financial report. 
    
Funding Policy.  The government pays OPEB liability costs on a pay-as-you-go basis.  
A trust fund for future liabilities has not been established. 
    
Funding Status and funding Progress.  The funded status of the plan as of June 30, 
2013, was as follows: 
 

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL)  $ 2,917,871     
Actuarial value of plan assets   $    -    
Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL)  $ 2,917,871    
Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0% 
Covered payroll (active plan members)  $ 4,966,132 
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 58.76% 

 
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation.  The government's annual other post 
employment benefit (OPEB) cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required 
contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount determined in accordance with the 
parameter of GASB statement 45.  The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid 
on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any 
unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed thirty (30) 
years.  The following table shows the components of the government's annual OPEB 
cost for the year, the amount actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the 
government's net OPEB obligation. 
 

Annual Required Contribution (ARC)  $   418,072    
Interest on net OPEB obligation  $   -    
Adjustment to ARC  $   -    

Annual OPEB cost (expense)  $ 418,072   
Contributions made  $   -    

Increase in net OPEB obligation  $   418,072    
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year  $    1,325,678   
Net OPEB obligation - end of year  $   1,743,750   
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Actuarial Methods and Assumptions.  The following actuarial methods and assumptions 
were used: 
 

Actuarial cost method Unit Credit Cost Method 
Average age of retirement  (based on historical data) 62  
Discount rate (average anticipated rate) 2.00%  
Average salary increase (Consumer Price Index) 2.80%  
Health care cost rate trend (Federal Office of the Actuary)  

Year % Increase  
2012 3.80%  
2013 4.00%  
2014 7.80%  
2015 6.40%  
2016 6.20%  
2017 6.00%  
2018 6.40%  
2019 6.80%  
2020 6.90%  
2021 6.70%  

2022 and after 6.90%  
 

NOTE 9. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
 
The composition of interfund balances as of June 30, 2013, was as follows: 
 

 Due to/from other funds:   
Purpose Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount 
To cover negative cash General – Major Governmental Recreation – Nonmajor Governmental $ 90,162 
    
To cover negative cash Tax Increment – Major 

Governmental 
Emergency Services – Nonmajor 
Governmental 43,578 

    
To cover negative cash SID Revolving – Nonmajor 

Governmental 
SID 166 Bond Debt – Major Governmental 

        6,533 
   Total   $ 140,273 
    
 Advances to/from other funds:   
Purpose Payable Fund Receivable Fund Amount 
Half of annual 
assessment to SID 

SID 166 – Major Governmental SID Revolving – Nonmajor Governmental 
$ 48,741 

    
Cover negative cash Building Codes – Nonmajor 

Governmental 
General – Major Governmental 

401,847 
    
Cover negative cash Drug Forfeiture – Nonmajor 

Governmental 
General – Major Governmental 

     191,162 
   Total   $ 641,750 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 84 of 226



CITY OF WHITEFISH  
FLATHEAD COUNTY, MONTANA 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
June 30, 2013 

 

-42- 

Interfund Transfers 
 
The following is an analysis of operating transfers in and out during fiscal year 2013: 
 

Purpose Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount 
25 % Taxpayer Relief General – Major 

Governmental 
Resort Tax – Major 
Governmental 

$ 598,007 

    
Transfer excess funds 
back to financing fund 

Street & Alley – Nonmajor 
Governmental 

SID 151 Bond Debt – 
Nonmajor Governmental 

768 

    
Transfer excess funds 
back to financing fund 

Street & Alley – Nonmajor 
Governmental 

SDI 154 Bond Debt – 
Nonmajor Governmental 

8,327 

    
Close Fund Parks, Recreation – Nonmajor 

Governmental 
Bike & Pedestrian – 
Nonmajor Governmental 

97 

    
Budget Operating 
Transfer 

Parks, Recreation – Nonmajor 
Governmental 

General – Major 
Governmental 

536,106 

    
Budget Operating 
Transfer 

Library – Nonmajor 
Governmental 

General – Major 
Governmental 

34,374 

    
Budget Operating 
Transfer 

Law Enforcement – Nonmajor 
Governmental 

General – Major 
Governmental 

1,795,000 

    
Transfer impact fees to 
correct fund 

Tax Increment –Major 
Governmental 

Impact Fees – Nonmajor 
Governmental 

1,935 

    
Budget Operating 
Transfer 

Fire & Ambulance –Major 
Governmental 

General – Major 
Governmental 

494,594 

    
Move taxes from the 
TIF 

Tax Increment Revenue Bond 
Debt –Major Governmental 

Tax Increment –Major 
Governmental 

1,789,836 

    
Move taxes from the 
TIF 

City Hall Project – Nonmajor 
Governmental 

Tax Increment –Major 
Governmental 

250,000 

    
Move taxes from the 
TIF 

Emergency Services Center – 
Nonmajor Governmental 

Tax Increment –Major 
Governmental 

       25,773 

    
   Total   $ 5,534,814 
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NOTE 10. STATE-WIDE RETIREMENT PLANS 
 

All full-time City employees are covered under one of the following retirement plans:  
Montana Public Employees Retirement System (PERS), Municipal Police Officers 
Retirement System (MPORS) and Firefighters Unified Retirement System (FURS).  The 
plans are established by State law and administered by the State of Montana.  The plans 
are cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plans that provide retirement, 
disability and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries, with amounts determined 
by the State.  However, PERS members may have chosen the defined contribution 
retirement plan.  Under this plan it puts the employee in control of investments options 
and their retirement is based upon the cash in their investment account.  
 
Contribution rates are required and determined by State law.  The contribution rates, 
expressed as a percentage of covered payroll for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 for 
the defined benefit plans, were: 
 
 PERS** MPORS FURS 
    
Employer 7.07%  14.41% 14.36% 
Employee 6.90%* If first employed: 

on or before 6/30/75- 5.8% 
after 6/30/75 - 7%  

after 6/30/79 - 8.5%  
on & after 7/1/97 - 9%  

w/ GABA - 9% 

9.5% w/o GABA 
10.7% w/GABA 

Also – 1% withheld & 
paid to Montana State 
Firemen’s Association 

State 0.10% 29.37% 32.61% 
    

 
The State contribution qualifies as an on-behalf payment.  These amounts have been 
recorded in the City’s financial statements except for PERS which was considered 
immaterial. 

 
Publicly available financial reports that include financial statements and required 
supplementary information may be obtained for the plans by writing or calling: 

 
1. Montana Public Employee Retirement Administration, P.O. Box 200131, Helena, 

Montana 59620-0131 Phone: 1-406-444-3154.   
 

The City's contributions for the years ended June 30, 2011, 2012, and 2013, as listed 
below, were equal to the required contributions for each year. 
 

 PERS MPORS FURS 
2011 $ 208,269 $ 123,221 $ 140,093 
2012 $ 218,100 $ 108,124 $ 138,988 
2013 $ 217,963 $ 113,228 $ 136,154 
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NOTE 11. LOCAL RETIREMENT PLANS 
 
Deferred Compensation Plan 
The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with 
Internal Revenue Code Section 457.  The plan available to all City employees permits 
them to defer a portion of their salary until future years.  Participation in the plan is 
optional.  The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, 
retirement, death or unforeseeable emergency. 

 
Fire Department Relief Association Disability and Pension Fund  
City volunteer firefighters are covered by the Fire Department Relief Association 
Disability and Pension Fund, which is established by State Law.  The Association is 
managed by a Board of Trustees made up of members of the fire department, and is 
accounted for as a an agency fund of the town. 
 
A member of a volunteer fire department who has served 20 years or more is entitled to 
benefits regardless of age.  Volunteer serving less that 20 years but more than 10 years 
may receive reduced benefits.  The amount of the pension benefits are set by the 
Association’s Board of Trustees. 
 

NOTE 12 FUND BALANCE CLASSIFICATION POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

The government considers restricted amounts to have been spent first when an 
expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund 
balance is available.  
 
The government considers that committed amounts would be reduced first, followed by 
assigned amounts, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for 
purposes for which amounts in any of those unrestricted fund balance classifications 
could be used.  
  
Restricted Fund Balance  
Major Fund Amount Purpose of Restriction 
Resort Tax $ 2,142,223 Public Works 
Tax Increment 1,858,754 Housing and Community Development 
Fire and Ambulance 634,165 Public Safety 
Tax Increment Revenue 
Bond Debt 

3,248,909 Debt Service 

Aggregate Remaining Funds:   
 3,050,305 Public Works 
 129,532 Culture & Recreation 
 5,573 Housing & Community Development 
 49 Public Safety 
         2,032,585 Capital Projects 
 $ 13,102,095  
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NOTE 13. DEFICIT FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION 
 

Fund Name Amount Reason for Deficit How Deficit will be Eliminated 
Parks, Recreation and 
Community Services $ (112,806) 

Delinquent taxes 
receivable Future revenues 

Drug Forfeiture  (191,162) Excess payroll payments Future drug forfeitures 
Building Codes  (400,910) Excess expenditures Future revenues 

SID 166 Bond Debt 
Emergency Services Center 

 
(55,273) 

     (43,578) 

Deferred assessment 
receivable 
Excess expenditures 

Future assessments 
Future TIF transfers 

    Total $ (803,729)   
 
NOTE 14. RESTATEMENTS 

 
During the current fiscal year, the following adjustments relating to prior years' 
transactions were made to fund balance and net position. 
 

Fund Amount Reason for Adjustment 
Fire and Ambulance $ 285,642 Combine Ambulance Enterprise Fund balance sheet 

accounts with Fire Governmental Fund 
Ambulance (123,599) Combine beginning fund balance of Ambulance 

Enterprise Fund with Fire Governmental Fund 
Governmental Activities:   
 (186,823) Remove Ambulance OPEB Fund Level Restatement 
 (128,757) Reclassify Ambulance Compensated absences to 

Governmental from Enterprise 
   105,713 Remove Ambulance Capital Assets Fund Level 

Restatement 
 $ (47,824)  

 
NOTE 15. JOINT VENTURES  

 
Joint ventures are independently constituted entities generally created by two or more 
governments for a specific purpose which are subject to joint control, in which the 
participating governments retain 1) an ongoing financial interest or 2) an ongoing 
financial responsibility. 
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Flathead County 911 Emergency Coordination Center 
Flathead County along with the City of Kalispell, the City of Columbia Falls, and the 
City of Whitefish, participate in a County-wide enhanced 911 public safety answering 
point called Flathead County 911 Emergency Coordination Center (ECC) that was 
established by an interlocal agreement in February, 1999.  The ECC was formed for the 
purpose of providing for police/law enforcement public safety dispatch point (PSDP) 
selective call transfers, basic emergency dispatch services for all fire departments, fire 
districts, fire service areas, and licensed emergency dispatch services, and coordination of 
local and county-wide multi-agency and/or multi-jurisdictional emergencies and disaster 
response.  The Board consists of five members; the Flathead County Sheriff, one member 
of the Flathead County Board of Commissioners, and one member from each of the 
City’s operations for the ECC are accounted for in the 911 Fund and are reported in the 
general purpose financial states of Flathead County within the Special Revenue Fund.  
The salaries for the dispatch services are reported under the participating entities sheriff 
and police departments. 
 
Big Mountain County Sewer District 
The City permits the District to connect with the City’s sanitary sewage collection 
system.  The usage rate charged by the City to the District is $40.00 for each customer 
classified as SC2/Outside. 
 

NOTE 16. SERVICES PROVIDED TO OTHER GOVERNMENTS  
 
County Provided Services 
The City is provided various financial services by Flathead County. The County also 
serves as cashier and treasurer for the City for tax and assessment collections and other 
revenues received by the County which are subject to distribution to the various taxing 
jurisdictions located in the County.  The collections made by the County on behalf of the 
City are accounted for in an agency fund in the City’s name and are periodically remitted 
to the City by the County Treasurer. No service charges have been recorded by the City 
or the County. 
 

NOTE 17. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The City faces considerable number of risks of loss, including (a) damage to and loss of 
property and contents, (b) employee torts, (c) professional liability, i.e., errors and 
omissions, (d) environmental damage, (e) workers' compensation, i.e., employee injuries, 
and (f) medical insurance costs of employees.  Settled claims resulting from these risks 
have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.  
 
Insurance Polices:  
Commercial policies transferring all risks of loss, except for relatively small deductible 
amounts are purchased for property and content damage, employees torts, and 
professional liabilities.  Employee medical insurance is provided for by a commercial 
carrier.  And, given the lack of coverage available, the City has no coverage for potential 
losses from environmental damages.   
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Insurance Pools: 
In 1986, the City joined together with other Montana cities to form the Montana 
Municipal Insurance Authority which established a workers’ compensation plan and a 
tort liability plan. Both public City risk pools currently operate as common risk 
management and insurance programs for the member governments. The liability limits 
for damages in tort action are $750,000 per claim and $1.5 million per occurrence with a 
$3,750 deductible per occurrence. State tort law limits the City’s liability to $1.5 million. 
The City pays an annual premium for its employee injury insurance coverage, which is 
allocated to the employer funds based on total salaries and wages. The agreements for 
formation of the pools provide that they will be self-sustaining through member 
premiums.  
 
Separate audited financial statements are available from the Montana Municipal 
Insurance Authority. 

 
NOTE 18. RESORT TAX 
 

In 1995, the citizens of the City of Whitefish approved a 2% resort tax.  City Ordinance 
95-15 restricted the tax proceeds as follows: 
 

Administration fee to the business owners 5% 
Park Improvements 5% 
Street Improvements 65% 
Tax Relief 25% 

 
On June 30, 2013 the resort tax fund had a cash balance of $2,142,224.  This balance was 
restricted as follows: 

 
Park Improvements $   473,898 
Street Improvements $   974,694 
Tax Relief $   693,632 
  Total Resort Tax Cash $ 2,142,224 

 
NOTE 19. WHITEFISH LAKE GOLF COURSE LEASE 
 

In January 2011, the City leased the Whitefish Lake Golf Course to the Whitefish Lake 
Golf Club, Inc.  The term of the lease is for 30 years beginning January 1, 2011 and 
ending December 21, 2040.  The annual rental payments due to the City are $22,375 per 
year and shall increase by the December to December change in the Consumer Price 
Index every five years beginning with the payment due in June 2016.  In addition, the 
City will receive a net profits payment beginning February 2012 of 3% of the prior year’s 
net profit for the Whitefish Lake Golf Club, Inc. 
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NOTE 20. REDEMPTION OF INTERFUND LOANS 
 

The Drug forfeiture and Building Code funds currently owe $191,162 and $401,847 
respectively to the General fund which is to be paid back by fiscal year 2015.  The Drug 
Forfeiture fund is currently operating at a deficit and had no revenue during the year 
ending June 30, 2013.  The Building Code fund is also operating at a deficit and had net 
income of only $63,535 during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2013.  As such, both of 
these funds will have significant difficulty in repaying the interfund loans in the time 
frame allotted. 

 
NOTE 21. PENDING LITIGATION 

 
The following is a list of litigation pending against the City and the amount of damages 
claimed by the Plaintiff.  The City Attorney has made no evaluation as to the outcome of 
each case. The City has liability insurance which may cover all or part of the damages 
requested. 
 
 
Case 

Damages 
Requested 

Potential 
of Loss 

   
Rosaaen v. City of Whitefish Not stated Not stated 
   
T. Warren Schweitzer and Ingela Schnittger v. City of 
Whitefish 

Not stated Not stated 

   
City of Whitefish and Flathead County v. Linda Babiak 
and Tim Babiak 

Not stated Not stated 

   
Ella Marzean Quay v. LHC, Inc., Town of Whitefish, et. 
al.  

Not stated Not stated 
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ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS VARIANCE

(BUDGETARY WITH FINAL
ORIGINAL FINAL BASIS) See Note A BUDGET

RESOURCES (INFLOWS):
Taxes and assessments $ 1,903,954               $ 1,903,954               $ 1,885,754               $ (18,200)                   
Licenses and permits 59,300                    59,300                    63,053                    3,753                      
Intergovernmental 758,300                  758,300                  757,000                  (1,300)                     
Charges for services 125,350                  125,350                  218,123                  92,773                    
Fines and forfeitures 238,750                  238,750                  251,958                  13,208                    
Miscellaneous 36,375                    36,375                    32,596                    (3,779)                     
Investment earnings 25,000                    25,000                    14,944                    (10,056)                   
Amounts available for appropriation $ 3,147,029               $ 3,147,029               $ 3,223,428               $ 76,399                    

CHARGES TO APPROPRIATIONS (OUTFLOWS):
General government $ 520,171                  $ 520,171                  $ 480,655                  $ 39,516                    
Public safety 302,698                  302,698                  266,889                  35,809                    
Public works 33,338                    33,338                    26,232                    7,106                      
Social and economic services 1,500                      1,500                      1,500                      -                          
Culture and recreation 20,860                    20,860                    18,988                    1,872                      
Housing and community development -                          -                          -                          -                          
Debt service  - principal -                          -                          4,036                      (4,036)                     
Debt service  - interest -                          -                          -                          -                          
Miscellaneous 10,000                    10,000                    -                          10,000                    
Capital outlay -                          -                          56                           (56)                          
Total charges to appropriations $ 888,567                  $ 888,567                  $ 798,356                  $ 90,211                    

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ 598,007                  $ 598,007                  $ 598,007                  $ -                          
Transfers out (2,795,965)              (2,795,965)              (2,860,071)              (64,106)                   

Total other financing sources (uses) $ (2,197,958)              $ (2,197,958)              $ (2,262,064)              $ (64,106)                   

Net change in fund balance $ 163,008                  

Fund balance - beginning of the year $ 1,167,307               
Restatements -                          
Fund balance - beginning of the year - restated $ 1,167,307               
Fund balance - end of the year $ 1,330,315               

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

General

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013
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ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS VARIANCE

(BUDGETARY WITH FINAL
ORIGINAL FINAL BASIS) See Note A BUDGET

RESOURCES (INFLOWS):
Taxes and assessments $ 1,720,000               $ 1,720,000               $ 1,966,425               $ 246,425                  
Licenses and permits -                          -                          -                          -                          
Intergovernmental -                          -                          -                          -                          
Charges for services -                          -                          -                          -                          
Fines and forfeitures -                          -                          -                          -                          
Miscellaneous -                          -                          -                          -                          
Investment earnings 15,000                    15,000                    5,528                      (9,472)                     
Amounts available for appropriation $ 1,735,000               $ 1,735,000               $ 1,971,953               $ 236,953                  

CHARGES TO APPROPRIATIONS (OUTFLOWS):
General government $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          
Public safety -                          -                          -                          -                          
Public works 2,000,000               2,000,000               -                          2,000,000               
Social and economic services -                          -                          -                          -                          
Culture and recreation 285,000                  285,000                  23,630                    261,370                  
Housing and community development -                          -                          -                          -                          
Debt service  - principal -                          -                          -                          -                          
Debt service  - interest -                          -                          -                          -                          
Miscellaneous -                          -                          -                          -                          
Capital outlay -                          -                          1,631,074               (1,631,074)              
Total charges to appropriations $ 2,285,000               $ 2,285,000               $ 1,654,704               $ 630,296                  

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          
Transfers out (637,807)                 (637,807)                 (598,007)                 39,800                    

Total other financing sources (uses) $ (637,807)                 $ (637,807)                 $ (598,007)                 $ 39,800                    

Net change in fund balance $ (280,758)                 

Fund balance - beginning of the year $ 2,422,981               
Restatements -                          
Fund balance - beginning of the year - restated $ 2,422,981               
Fund balance - end of the year $ 2,142,223               

Resort Tax

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 94 of 226



 

 

ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS VARIANCE

(BUDGETARY WITH FINAL
ORIGINAL FINAL BASIS) See Note A BUDGET

RESOURCES (INFLOWS):
Taxes and assessments $ 4,245,596               $ 4,245,596               $ 4,237,148               $ (8,448)                     
Licenses and permits -                          -                          -                          -                          
Intergovernmental 148,194                  148,194                  171,325                  23,131                    
Charges for services -                          -                          -                          -                          
Fines and forfeitures -                          -                          -                          -                          
Miscellaneous -                          -                          2,186                      2,186                      
Investment earnings -                          -                          -                          -                          
Amounts available for appropriation $ 4,393,790               $ 4,393,790               $ 4,410,659               $ 16,869                    

CHARGES TO APPROPRIATIONS (OUTFLOWS):
General government $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          
Public safety -                          -                          -                          -                          
Public works -                          -                          -                          -                          
Social and economic services -                          -                          -                          -                          
Culture and recreation -                          -                          -                          -                          
Housing and community development 2,080,512               2,080,512               2,120,862               (40,350)                   
Debt service  - principal -                          -                          -                          -                          
Debt service  - interest -                          -                          -                          -                          
Miscellaneous -                          -                          -                          -                          
Capital outlay 2,048,737               2,048,737               441,150                  1,607,587               
Total charges to appropriations $ 4,129,249               $ 4,129,249               $ 2,562,012               $ 1,567,237               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ -                          $ -                          $ 1,935                      $ 1,935                      
Transfers out (2,153,000)              (2,153,000)              (2,065,609)              87,391                    

Total other financing sources (uses) $ (2,153,000)              $ (2,153,000)              $ (2,063,674)              $ 89,326                    

Net change in fund balance $ (215,027)                 

Fund balance - beginning of the year $ 2,073,781               
Restatements -                          
Fund balance - beginning of the year - restated $ 2,073,781               
Fund balance - end of the year $ 1,858,754               

Tax Increment

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013
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ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS VARIANCE

(BUDGETARY WITH FINAL
ORIGINAL FINAL BASIS) See Note A BUDGET

RESOURCES (INFLOWS):
Taxes and assessments $ 4,224,596               $ 4,224,596               $ 515,049                  $ (3,709,547)              
Licenses and permits -                          -                          78,391                    78,391                    
Intergovernmental 148,194                  148,194                  417,479                  269,285                  
Charges for services -                          -                          1,152,214               1,152,214               
Fines and forfeitures -                          -                          -                          -                          
Miscellaneous 21,000                    21,000                    105,440                  84,440                    
Investment earnings -                          -                          -                          -                          
Amounts available for appropriation $ 4,393,790               $ 4,393,790               $ 2,268,573               $ (2,125,217)              

CHARGES TO APPROPRIATIONS (OUTFLOWS):
General government $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          
Public safety 3,684,313               3,684,313               2,725,235               959,078                  
Public works -                          -                          -                          -                          
Social and economic services -                          -                          -                          -                          
Culture and recreation -                          -                          -                          -                          
Housing and community development -                          -                          -                          -                          
Debt service  - principal -                          -                          -                          -                          
Debt service  - interest -                          -                          -                          -                          
Miscellaneous -                          -                          -                          -                          
Capital outlay 165,000                  165,000                  42,905                    122,095                  
Total charges to appropriations $ 3,849,313               $ 3,849,313               $ 2,768,140               $ 1,081,173               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ -                          $ -                          $ 494,594                  $ 494,594                  
Transfers out (2,153,000)              (2,153,000)              -                          2,153,000               

Total other financing sources (uses) $ (2,153,000)              $ (2,153,000)              $ 494,594                  $ 2,647,594               

Net change in fund balance $ (4,973)                     

Fund balance - beginning of the year $ 353,496                  
Restatements 285,642                  
Fund balance - beginning of the year - restated $ 639,138                  
Fund balance - end of the year $ 634,165                  

Fire and Ambulance

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013
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ACTUAL 
AMOUNTS VARIANCE

(BUDGETARY WITH FINAL
ORIGINAL FINAL BASIS) See Note A BUDGET

RESOURCES (INFLOWS):
Taxes and assessments $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          
Licenses and permits -                          -                          -                          -                          
Intergovernmental -                          -                          -                          -                          
Charges for services -                          -                          -                          -                          
Fines and forfeitures -                          -                          -                          -                          
Miscellaneous -                          -                          -                          -                          
Investment earnings 12,000                    12,000                    8,548                      (3,452)                     
Amounts available for appropriation $ 12,000                    $ 12,000                    $ 8,548                      $ (3,452)                     

CHARGES TO APPROPRIATIONS (OUTFLOWS):
General government $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          $ -                          
Public safety -                          -                          -                          -                          
Public works -                          -                          -                          -                          
Social and economic services -                          -                          -                          -                          
Culture and recreation -                          -                          -                          -                          
Housing and community development -                          -                          -                          -                          
Debt service  - principal 1,265,000               1,265,000               1,265,000               -                          
Debt service  - interest 547,524                  547,524                  571,401                  (23,877)                   
Miscellaneous -                          -                          -                          -                          
Capital outlay -                          -                          -                          -                          
Total charges to appropriations $ 1,812,524               $ 1,812,524               $ 1,836,401               $ (23,877)                   

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in $ 1,778,000               $ 1,778,000               $ 1,789,836               $ 11,836                    
Transfers out -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total other financing sources (uses) $ 1,778,000               $ 1,778,000               $ 1,789,836               $ 11,836                    

Net change in fund balance $ (38,017)                   

Fund balance - beginning of the year $ 3,286,926               
Restatements -                          
Fund balance - beginning of the year - restated $ 3,286,926               
Fund balance - end of the year $ 3,248,909               

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013

BUDGETED AMOUNTS

Tax Increment Revenue Bond Debt
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Note A - Explanation of differences between budgetary inflows and outflows and GAAP Revenues and Expenditures

General Resort Tax
Tax 

Increment
Fire and 

Ambulance

Tax Increment 
Revenue Bond 

Debt
Sources/Inflows of resources
Actual amounts (budgetary basis) "available 
for appropriation" from the budgetary 
comparison schedule $ 3,223,428       $ 1,971,953        $ 4,410,659   $ 2,268,573     $ 8,548                 

Combined funds (GASBS 54) revenues 437,911          

Total revenues as reported on the statement of 
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund 
balances-governmental funds. $ 3,661,339       $ 1,971,953        $ 4,410,659   $ 2,268,573     $ 8,548                 

Uses/Outflows of resources
Actual amounts (Budgetary basis) "total 
charges to appropriations" from the budgetary 
comparison schedule $ 798,356          $ 1,654,704        $ 2,562,012   $ 2,768,140     $ 1,836,401          

Combined funds (GASBS 54) expenditures 2,235,130       -                  -              -               

Total expenditures as reported on the statement 
of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances - governmental funds $ 3,033,486       $ 1,654,704        $ 2,562,012   $ 2,768,140     $ 1,836,401          

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Budget-to-GAAP Reconciliation
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Actuarial UAAL as a 
Accrued Unfunded Percentage 

Actuarial Liability (AAL) AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Actuarial Value of Assets Unit Credit Cost Method (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

Valuation Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c ) ((b-a)/(c )
July 1, 2009  $                 -   2,138,344$                    2,138,344$   0% 5,340,571$      40.0%
July 1, 2012  $                 -   2,917,871$                    2,917,871$   0% 4,966,132$      58.8%

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Schedule of Funding Progress

City of Whitefish

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013
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Federal Pass-Through Federal
Federal Grantor/Pass-Through CFDA Entity Identifying Expenditures
Grantor/Program Title Number Number June 30, 2012

U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development
Passed through Montana Department of Commerce:
CDBG Community Development 14.228 MT-CDBG-PG-15 $ 11,748               
Community Development Block Grants 14.228 MT-CDBG-09HR-03 34,838               
Total U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development $ 46,586               

U.S. Department of Justice
Direct:
Public Safety Partnership and Community Policing Grants 16.710 2009-RKWX-0523 $ 35,580               
Total U.S. Department of Justice $ 35,580               

U.S. Department of Transportation
Passed through Montana Department of Transportation:
Highway Planning and Construction (Safe Routes to School) 20.205 7483 $ 33,215               
Highway Planning and Construction (Safe Routes to School) 20.205 106449 3,172                 
Direct:
ARRA - Transportation Investments Generating Economic Revenue (TIGER) 20.932 DTFH61-10-G-00009 437,319             
Total U.S. Department of Transportation $ 473,706             

U.S. Department of Energy
Passed through Montana Deparment of Enrivomental Quality:
ARRA - Enegy Efficient and Conservation block Grant Program 81.128 210153 $ 200,000             
Total U.S. Department of Energy $ 200,000             

U.S. Department of Homeland Security
Direct:
Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency Response 97.083 EMW-2008-FF-00288 $ 58,590               
Total U.S. Department of Homeland Security $ 58,590               

Total Federal Financial Assistance $ 814,462             

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013

City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana
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CITY OF WHITEFISH 
 

FLATHEAD COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 
 

 
Basis of Presentation 
 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal grant 
activity of City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana, and is presented on the modified 
accrual basis of accounting.  The information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the 
requirements of OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations.  Therefore, some amounts presented in this schedule may differ from amounts 
presented in, or used in preparation of, the basic financial statements. 
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Robert K. Denning, CPA ∙ Kim M. Downey, CPA 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED 

ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
Mayor and City Council 
City of Whitefish 
Flathead County 

Whitefish, Montana 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund, and the 
aggregate remaining fund information of City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana, as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City of Whitefish’s basic financial statements and have issued our 
report thereon dated March 28, 2014. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered City of 
Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) 
to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of 
expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the City’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or, significant deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.   
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Compliance and Other Matters 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Whitefish’s financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could 
have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  However, 
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, 
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards.   
 
Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the City’s internal control or compliance.  This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and 
compliance.  Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
March 28, 2014 
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Robert K. Denning, CPA ∙ Kim M. Downey, CPA 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR 

PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY 
OMB CIRCULAR A-133 

 
Mayor and City Council 
City of Whitefish 
Flathead County 
Whitefish, Montana 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
We have audited City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana, compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) 
Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of  
City of Whitefish’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2013.  The City’s major 
federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying 
schedule of findings and questioned costs.   
 
Management’s Responsibility 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grants applicable to its federal programs. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of City of Whitefish, Flathead 
County, Montana’s major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above.  We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable 
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments and 
Non-Profit Organizations.  Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of 
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a 
major federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about 
the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances.  
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each 
major federal program.  However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of City’s 
compliance. 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
In our opinion, City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana, complied, in all material respects, 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material 
effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2013. 
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
Management of City of Whitefish, Flathead County, Montana is responsible for establishing and 
maintaining effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above.  In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City’s 
internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and 
material effect on each major federal program to determine our auditing procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each 
major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance 
with OMB Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of internal control over compliance.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on 
a timely basis.  A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control 
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material 
weaknesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of OMB Circular A-133.  Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 
 

 
March 28, 2014 
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CITY OF WHITEFISH 
 

FLATHEAD COUNTY, MONTANA 
 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013 
 

 
Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 
Financial Statements 
 

Type of auditor’s report issued Unmodified 
Internal control over financial reporting: 
 Material weakness(es) identified? No 
 Significant deficiency(s) identified 

 not considered to be material weaknesses None Reported 
 
Noncompliance material to financial statements 
 noted? No 
 

Federal Awards 
 

Internal control over major programs: 
 Material weakness(es) identified? No 
 Significant deficiency(s) identified 

 not considered to be material weaknesses None Reported 
 
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance 
 for major programs: Unmodified 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required 
 to be reported in accordance with 
 Circular A-133, Section .510(a)? No 

 
Identification of major programs: 
 
CFDA Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
16.710 Public Safety Partnership and Community Policing Grants 
20.932 ARRA Transportation Investments Generating Economic Revenue  
 (TIGER) 
 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish 
 between Type A and Type B programs: $ 300,000 
  
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No 
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Denning, Downey & Associates, P.C. 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

 
1740 U.S. Hwy 93 South, P.O. Box 1957,  Kalispell, MT 59903-1957 

 

-63- 
Robert K. Denning, CPA ∙ Kim M. Downey, CPA 

 
REPORT ON PRIOR AUDIT REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
Mayor and City Council 
City of Whitefish 
Flathead County 
Whitefish, Montana 
 
The prior audit report contained three recommendations.  The action taken on each 
recommendation is as follows: 
 

Recommendation Action Taken 
City Court – Outstanding     Implemented 
   Bonds/Internal Controls 
Financial Reporting    Implemented 
Schedule of Expenditures    Implemented 
   of Federal Awards 

 
 

 
March 28, 2014 
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WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL 
CLOSED EXECUTIVE SESSION 

April 21, 2014 
5:30 P.M. to 7:00 P.M. 

 
Closed Session for City Attorney and City Manager annual evaluations.  Present were Mayor Muhlfeld 
and Councilors Sweeney, Hildner, Feury, and Frandsen; and City Attorney VanBuskirk and City 
Manager Stearns, separately.  Pursuant to §2-3-203(3) MCA, the presiding officer may close the 
meeting during the time the discussion relates to a matter of individual privacy and then if and only if 
the presiding officer determines that the demands of individual privacy clearly exceeds the merits of 
public disclosure.  The right of individual privacy may be waived by the individual about whom the 
discussion pertains and, in that event, the meeting must be open.   
 
 

WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 
April 21, 2014 

7:10 P.M. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

Mayor Muhlfeld called the meeting to order.  Councilors present were Sweeney, Hildner, Feury, 
and Frandsen. Councilors Anderson and Barberis were absent. City Staff present were City Manager 
Stearns, City Clerk Lorang, Assistant City Manager/Finance Director Swisher, City Attorney 
VanBuskirk, Planning and Building Director Taylor, Senior Planner Compton-Ring, Public Works 
Director Wilson, Parks and Recreation Interim Director Loveless, Police Chief Dial, and Fire Chief 
Kennelly.  Approximately 15 people were in attendance.   
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

Mayor Muhlfeld asked Dan Graves to lead the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  (CD 1:00)  –  (This time is set aside for the public to comment 

on items that are either on the agenda, but not a public hearing or on items not on the agenda.   City officials do not respond during 
these comments, but may respond or follow-up later on the agenda or at another time.   The Mayor has the option of limiting such 
communications to three minutes depending on the number of citizens who want to comment and the length of the meeting agenda)    

 
 Thomas Tornow, 309 Wisconsin Avenue, said he was here tonight as a member of the Chamber 
of Commerce’s Governmental Affairs Committee to help the Council help business. 
 
 Darwin Lee, a retired railroader, lives at 6300 Park Knoll Lane and said Mr. Lambert has 
approached them about a hotel they are going to build.  He said the revised plan is acceptable to them 
and to the folks at Park Knoll subdivision now that they have re-routed the location of a future Baker 
Avenue. 
 

Mayre Flowers, Citizens for a Better Flathead, thanked them for their time commitment to being 
on the Council.  She said a lot of incredible people support the work she does and urged them to dig into 
the wonky issues the public doesn’t easily dig in to.  She said at the last meeting the Mayor urged them 
to move forward with the Zoning Text Amendment for the WB-2, and she was disappointed to see that it 
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is on tonight’s Consent Agenda.  She thinks it should be pulled and fined tuned.  The findings they 
decide on tonight are the same questions they will answer if any other business comes before them, so 
she thought these findings have to say that this is a unique situation.  She asked them to consider the 
findings in a 2011 decision where it states the intent to recognize downtown as the commercial and 
financial center of Whitefish, and she submitted her recommendations for Council’s consideration. 
 
        Mayre Flowers, Citizens for a Better Flathead, also invited the public for an Earth Day celebration 
on Tuesday night at FVCC. 
 
4.  COMMUNICATIONS FROM VOLUNTEER BOARDS – None. 
 
5.  CONSENT AGENDA  (CD 7:55)  (The consent agenda is a means of expediting routine matters that require the Council’s 

action. Debate does not typically occur on consent agenda items. Any member of the Council may remove any item for debate. Such 
items will typically be debated and acted upon prior to proceeding to the rest of the agenda. Ordinances require 4 votes for passage – 
Section 1-6-2 (E)(3) WCC) 

 
5a. Minutes from the April 7, 2014 Council regular meeting (p. 66) 
5b. Ordinance No. 14-03; An Ordinance amending Zoning Regulations in Whitefish City 

Code Section 11-2K-2 to identify private postal services and shipping services as a 
permitted use in the Secondary Business District (WB-2) (2nd  Reading)   (p.82) 

5c. Ordinance No. 14-04; An Ordinance approving a commercial Planned Unit 
Development Overlay including a conditional use permit and zoning deviations on the 
easterly 690-feet of Tract 3ABO a 5.766 acre parcel at 6340 Highway 93 South to 
develop a hotel (2nd  Reading) (p. 90) 

5d. Consideration of approving an amendment to the Declaration of Condominium 
Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for River Crossing Condominiums River 
Crossing Condominiums  (p.  95) 

5e. Consideration of approving the Second Amendment to Declaration of Condominium 
Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for the Whitefish Lake Lodge Condominiums 
Under the Montana Unit Ownership Act  (p. 104) 

5f. Consideration of approving application from White Cloud Design on behalf of Melinda 
and Kevin Johnson for Whitefish Lake Lakeshore Permit (#WLP-14-W13) at 815 
Delrey Road for installation of dry-set stone stairs, low voltage pathway lighting, 
placement of 24 cubic yards of gravel, and pruning of mature trees subject to  25 
conditions  (p. 115) 

 
Councilor Sweeney offered a correction to the Minutes on page 6 (packet page 71) regarding 

Ordinance 14-03, to state he didn’t want to approve the ordinance, “without amending the finding of 
facts.”  Councilor Hildner, offered a correction on page 14 (packet page 79) last sentence, “The pond 
was constructed a number of years ago.” 

 
Councilor Hildner offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Feury, to approve the Consent 

agenda as amended.  The Consent Agenda, as amended, passed unanimously. 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS  (CD 10:05) (Items will be considered for action after public hearings) (Resolution No. 07-33 
establishes a 30 minute time limit for applicant’s land use presentations.  Ordinances require 4 votes for passage – Section 1-6-2 (E)(3) 
WCC) 
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6a. Consideration of a request by Larix LLC on behalf of the Center for Native Plants for a 
sign variance for size and architectural embellishments for their property at 5605 
Highway 93 South  (p. 136)  WZV-14-01 

 
Senior Planner Compton-Ring reported that Larix LLC, on behalf of the Center for Native 

Plants, is requesting a variance to install a freestanding sign along the frontage of their property at 5605 
Highway 93 S.  Planner Compton-Ring noted the staff report incorrectly lists the project address a couple 
times, the correct address is 5605 Hwy 93 South.  The application proposes a copy area of 46 square feet 
per side of the sign.  The total sign is 129 square feet per side and 10-feet tall from finished grade (8-feet 
from the centerline of the adjacent right-of-way).  The sign will be setback 5-feet from the property line, 
which, because of the wide right-of-way, is 75-feet from the edge of highway pavement. 

 
Planner Compton-Ring said they are requesting a variance to the sign size and architectural 

embellishments. This area is designated as a Residential Sign District; regulations allow one 4-foot tall, 
free standing sign with a copy area of 10 square feet, and architectural embellishments of an additional 
1-foot sign area and 5 additional square feet of area without copy.  She explained that areas outside the 
City Limits were designated with the Residential Sign District in 2005 when the City first obtained that 
planning jurisdiction.  It was anticipated this district would remain in place until such time as the City was 
able to either create a sign specific district or evaluate applying one of the existing sign districts once a 
Whitefish specific zoning district was applied.  An example is the WBSD zoning and complimentary sign 
district created at Highway 40 and Dillon/Conn Roads.  

 
This variance request is not based on a hardship related to lot size, shape or topography, or created 

by the applicant, but is related to the City not exerting its full control over the planning jurisdiction pending 
the outcome of litigation with the County and the applicant has no control over this.  Granting the variance 
will not adversely affect other businesses, and would allow this applicant to have commercial signage 
for a commercial business on commercial property.  The applicants are implementing dark sky lighting.  
The variance is the minimum needed to alleviate the hardship.  Staff suggested comparison with the 
WBSD which allows signs 8 feet high and 50 square feet of copy per side.  The WBSD allows a 50 % 
increase for embellishments.  The applicant worked with a sign professional to determine that the sign is 
of the right dimensions for visibility from Highway 93.  The Sign Ordinance allows the applicant to go 
to the ARC to review the sign if they want to have embellishments that are greater than 50%.  The 
applicant is requesting one 10-foot high sign with 46 square feet per side of copy, and a total size of 129 
square feet.  
 

Staff finds that the conditions for granting relief from the code set forth in Section 11-7-7 are met 
or not applicable.  Staff respectfully recommends the Council adopt the findings in staff report WZV-14-
01 and approve the variance as requested subject to three conditions of approval.  If the Council felt the 
applicant had provided their burden of proof that a hardship exists and wish to grant the variance for the 
sign as submitted by the applicant, the Council would need to eliminate condition #1, revise Finding of 
Fact 13 and delete Finding of Fact 14. 

 
Councilor Feury asked if all seven requirements need to be met for a variance and Planner 

Compton-Ring said they have to be met or deemed not applicable. 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld opened the public hearing. 
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Greg Gunderson, 840 E. 1st Street, distributed two handouts.  One was a mock-up photo of the 
sign.  The second was a design they created after the staff report.  They tweaked the measurements to 
bring it into the sizes and percentages Planner Compton-Ring was referring to.  He said he bought the 
property two years ago with Andrew Beltz and David Noftsinger and their goal is to have an attractive 
business with a safe entrance and proper signage.  He said last summer they learned about the residential 
sign overlay and realized that for a perpendicular sign placement they would only be allowed 5 square 
feet per side and they would have to be 75’ back from the white stripe on the highway.  He said that 
wouldn’t cut it, so they researched what would make an appropriate sized sign.  He said they have 300 
feet of frontage and the WBSD would allow two signs of this size, but they are only requesting one.  He 
said their buildings are set way back in the property so only landscaping and their sign will be seen from 
the highway which they feel is a minimal visual impact on the entrance into Whitefish.  Their sign is all 
natural materials and fits with their concept of “modern rustic”, a good fit with Whitefish.  The sign is 
two feet below grade, so their height request in the design is appropriate so people can read it while they 
are driving down the highway.  He said their only question of the staff report was the calculation of 129 
total square feet (packet page 141, #5); which includes the base of the sign in the square footage.  He 
said monument style signs are allowed and they are solid from the ground to the top.  He believes that 
Planner Compton-Ring agrees with him that the base wouldn’t have to be included.  The entire size is 
120 square feet with 48 square feet of copy.  He said they feel they fall within the WBSD guidelines. 

 
Mayor Muhlfeld closed the public hearing. 
 
Councilor Hildner asked where the monument portion of it ends and the architectural design 

begins.  Planner Compton-Ring said anything below the wording is considered to be part of the base.  
Councilor Hildner asked and Greg Gunderson said the sign is barnwood with lettering made out of steel.  
Councilor Hildner asked and Greg Gunderson said they won’t put anything on the west side of the sign. 

 
Councilor Sweeney asked if Planner Compton-Ring for clarification of the square feet of the 

base and embellishments, and asked if there is a time line for coming up with a Sign Ordinance for 
Highway 93 South.  Director Taylor said they are waiting for the donut legislation to be resolved.  
Councilor Sweeney said he would like to get some agreement on what would be allowed in the WBSD 
versus what they are being asked to approve here.  Mayor Muhlfeld summarized a comparison of the 
revised proposal with WBSD regulations and said the revised copy area is under the 50’ threshold.  The 
applicant makes a good argument that is makes sense to raise the sign due to the grade.  He said the 
Highway District would allow three signs, the WBSD would allow 2, and the applicant is only asking 
for one.   

 
Councilor Hildner offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Frandsen, to approve the sign 

variance as requested by Larix LLC on behalf of the Center for Native Plants (WZV-14-10) that 
conforms to the WBSD criteria; for one 2-sided sign on which the copy area is not to exceed 50 
square feet, total sign area not to exceed 75 square feet, and total height not to exceed 10 feet.   

 
Planner Compton-Ring offered the revised figures based on Gunderson’s revised design 

distributed tonight, and said it will have 48 square feet of copy, and 77 feet of architectural 
embellishment, now that she is subtracting the base from the calculations.   

 
Councilor Sweeney offered an amendment, seconded by Councilor Frandsen, to approve 

the requested variance from the revised diagram submitted tonight, given the recalculated 
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measurements of architectural embellishments not to exceed 77 and the copy area not to exceed 48 
square feet.  The amendment passed unanimously. 

 
Councilor Feury offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Frandsen, to add Finding #16 

stating that the sign is a monument style sign, therefore according to sign regulations the base is 
not included in calculating embellishments for total square foot calculation.  The amendment 
passed unanimously. 

 
The original motion, as amended, passed unanimously. 
 

7.  COMMUNICATIONS FROM PUBLIC WORKS (CD 41:18) 
 

7a. Resolution No. 14-10; A Resolution authorizing the City Manager to submit an 
application to the Montana Department of Commerce for TSEP and DNRC-RRGL 
grant funding associated with the 2104 Infiltration and Inflow Mitigation Project  (p. 
162) 

 
Public Works Director Wilson said this is a follow up after the City Council’s Public Hearing on 

April 7, 2014 regarding this project.  The recommended action at this time is to adopt the attached 
resolution, committing to certain terms and authorizing the City Manager to submit the grant 
application.  A copy of the proposed project budget is on page 165 of the packet.  This budget provides 
for a total funding package of $1,141,000 including $125,000 in grant funding from RRGL, $500,000 
from TSEP, a low interest loan from the State Revolving Fund (SRF) in the amount of $402,300, and 
$113,700 in local matching funds; the City’s commitment for the loan and matching funds would not be 
before FY 2016. 

 
Councilor Sweeney asked where they would get the matching funds and Director Wilson said it 

would come out of the sewer funds. It would be about a .67 cents/month increase, but the City is already 
looking at sewer increases for the new plant, so this will be a small part of the bigger increase. 
 

Councilor Feury offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Frandsen to adopt Resolution 
14-10, thereby committing to abide by grant program requirements, to provide matching funds, 
and authorizing the City Manager to submit the grant application.   

 
Councilor Frandsen noted a typographical error in the word “Council” at the end of the 

resolution in the packet on page 162. 
 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 
7b. Consideration of directing staff to prepare a resolution to increase the no parking zones 

on 6th Street, Flint Street, Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, and Good Avenue (p.167) 
 
Director Wilson said the Public Works Department is proposing No Parking zones along all or 

portions of West 6th Street, West 5th Street (aka North Street), Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West 
3rd Street and Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West 2nd Street, as was intended when these 
streets were designed and as was discussed with the neighborhood and City Council prior to 
construction of the recent 6th and Geddes Street Project. 
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A drawing illustrating the proposed No Parking zones and one small loading zone is included on 

packet page 169; and the notice which was mailed to property owners and residents along the route in on 
page 170, additional history is on page 171-172. 

 
After presenting his staff report, Director Wilson encouraged the Council to recognize Michael 

Jamison who had just arrived and wasn’t here in time for the Public Comment portion of this meeting.  
Councilor Frandsen recognized Michael Jamison. 

 
Michael Jamison, 44 Pine Avenue, said last summer the City increased the width of this street 

and added a grass boulevard and a 5’ sidewalk.  He said it is a beautiful project, but it reduced the 
available parking.  He is building a house at 409 Geddes Avenue.  He said they own a rental at 401 
Geddes.  His new house has two parking spaces, but the rental sits right on the road. He said they’ve had 
their construction crew parked on the east side on Geddes Avenue during construction, but two cars 
could still pass slowly.  He said after the work crew leaves, the traffic travels very fast and there is a 
blind hill which can be very dangerous.  He recommended that they try to keep sections of the street 
available for on-street parking on one side of the street.  He said during the highway construction project 
last year people discovered their road as a Highway 93 bypass.  He urged them to consider how they 
might mitigate the lack of parking for people. 

 
Mayor Muhlfeld asked if the residents in this area had been notified and Director Wilson said 

they did notify the neighbors with a letter and a map.  Council discussed options with staff.  Director 
Wilson said with those comments in mind they can do some more research and prepare a resolution for 
Council’s consideration, keeping in mind that a key issue is the access for emergency vehicles and Chief 
Dial’s comment that if some parking is allowed, it slows down traffic 

 
Councilor Frandsen offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Sweeney, to direct staff to 

prepare a resolution for their consideration at the May 5th City Council meeting.  That resolution 
would establish enforceable No Parking zones and a 30 minute Loading Zone along all or portions 
of West 6th Street, West 5th Street (aka North Street), Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West 3rd 
Street and Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West 2nd Street, with the option of one-sided 
parking on Jennings and Geddes Avenue.    

 
Councilor Hildner said they must not forget that they have comments from other folks who don’t 

want parking on either side of the street. Councilor Feury said he knows that neighborhood pretty well 
and he knows the City needs to provide parking.  He said they might need to look at parking pods rather 
than offering parking on the full length of those streets. 

 
The motion passed unanimously. 

  
8.  COMMUNICATIONS FROM CITY MANAGER (CD 58:58) 
 

8a. Written report enclosed with the packet.  Questions from Mayor or Council?  (p. 176) 
None. 
 
8b. Other items arising between April 16th and April 21st  
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City Manager Stearns said they opened bids for the restroom construction at the O’Shaughnessy 
center and that will be in the Council packet next month.   He said that the Planning Board had to cancel 
last Thursday’s meeting because they didn’t have a quorum.  He said they might want to talk about the 
options there.  

 
Manager Stearns said that at a previous meeting the Council passed approval to apply for two 

grants for infill and outflow for wastewater. He said in the packet on page 179 is a document that shows 
the affects of the runoff into the stormwater system; it shows tangible results of the wastewater I and I 
project after work was done in 2011. 

 
City Clerk Lorang distributed information for the Municipal Elected Officials Workshop 

presented by the MSU Local Government Center.  She said the deadline is this week and if any of them 
would like to register to please let her know. 

 
8c. Review preliminary FY15 budget schedule and set dates for budget work sessions and 

public hearing on preliminary budget   (p. 181) 
 
Manager Stearns said they are in the throes of the preliminary budget process. The current draft 

of the FY15 budget schedule is on packet page 181.   Staff would like the City Council to confirm and 
approve the two dates for budget work sessions (May 27th and June 9th) and set the date for the hearing 
and action on the FY15 Preliminary Budget for the City Council meeting on June 16th.    

 
Mayor Muhlfeld said if Councilors Anderson and Barberis can’t make those dates we can review 

the schedule.  He said it is important to have all of the Councilors present for these meetings. 
 
Councilor Frandsen offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Hildner, to confirm and 

approve the two dates for budget work sessions for May 27th and June 9th and set the date for the 
hearing on the FY15 Preliminary Budget for the City Council meeting on June 16th.   The motion 
passed unanimously. 

 
8d. Resolution No. 14-11;  A Resolution establishing annual goals for the City  (p.182) 
 
Councilor Feury offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Sweeney, to adopt Resolution 

No. 14-11;  A Resolution establishing annual goals for the City.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
9.  COMMUNICATIONS FROM MAYOR AND CITY COUNCILORS (CD 1:06:09) 

 
Councilor Sweeney said they need to address the issue of having a quorum at the Planning 

Board.  He would like to move forward at making the City appointment for the Board Member that 
resigned.  Manager Stearns said the advertisement is out now and interviews are scheduled for the next 
three meetings, and we can schedule to fill that vacancy at the first set of interviews in May.  Mayor 
Muhlfeld asked what they can do while waiting for the County appointments to be made.  Attorney 
VanBuskirk said they could create a rotating City Councilor position to fill in at those meetings.  She 
said staff can prepare a resolution for Council’s consideration at the next meeting that provides for City 
Council to fill vacancies, temporarily, on a rotating 3-month basis, which is allowed by Code.  If two are 
needed to fill the vacancies, each two can be appointed for up to 3 months. 
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Councilor Hildner said he is concerned about the Veteran’s Memorial Bridge because the 
pedestal is out of plumb and leans in toward the river.  He said it is not “good enough” and he would 
like to see the pedestal fixed.  Director Wilson said Karin Hilding is documenting that this is a problem 
and is writing MDT. 

 
Councilor Frandsen said she decided not to move Ordinance 14-03 off the Consent Agenda 

because after reviewing the CBF comments relating to the findings she talked to staff.  She believes that 
the findings, as presented by staff, and the intent of this Council to make it a permitted use were suitable 
and that is how she made her decision. 

 
Mayor Muhlfeld asked about the Highway 93 W. Corridor study and Director Taylor said they 

are waiting on a draft from Nick Kauffman with WGM and then it will move from the Steering 
Committee to the Planning Board. 

 
10.  ADJOURNMENT  (Resolution 08-10 establishes 11:00 p.m. as end of meeting unless extended to 11:30 by majority) 
 
  Mayor Muhlfeld adjourned the meeting at 8:27 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
         ____________________________ 
         Mayor Muhlfeld 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Jane Latus Emmert, Recording Secretary 
 
 
 
Attest:______________________________________ 
Necile Lorang, City Clerk 
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Chuck Stearns

From: Mary VanBuskirk <mvanbuskirk@cityofwhitefish.org>
Sent: Monday, April 28, 2014 1:41 PM
To: 'Chuck Stearns'; 'Necile Lorang'
Cc: 'Karin Hilding'; klhopkins@cityofwhitefish.org
Subject: Great Northern Heights Phase 3 and 3A

Chuck and Necile:  Following Karin’s approval of the storm drainage system, would you please put the 
revised CCRS for the Great Northern Heights Phases 3 and 3A on the consent agenda for the Council’s 
approval?  Thank you. Mary 
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Admitted in : Montana 
Hawaii 
California 

MICHAEL A. FERRINGTON 

Attorney At Law 
I 00 Second St. East 

Whitefish, MT 59937 

( 406)863-4824/fax:( 406)863-4809 
e-mail:mferr@cyberport.net 

April23, 2014 

Mary VanBuskirk/City Attorney 
Karin Hilding/Senior Project Engineer 
City of Whitefish 

HAND DELIVERED 

Re: Great Northern Heights Phase 3 and Phase 3A 

Dear Ms. VanBuskirk and Ms. Hilding: 

Settlement Master and 
Mediation and Arbitration 
Services through 
Flathead Arbitration & 
Mediation Services 

Enclosed please find are the revised CCRS submitted for approval and signature 
for the Great Northern Heights Phases 3 and 3A; these have been revised pursuant to 
the letter of April 11th from Karin Hikding to TomCowan, and we have attached and 
incorporated the Storm Drainage System Maintenance Plan (see Article VI) into the 
CCRS. 

Please review and advise when they have been signed as approved; we will then 
have the Developer sign and record. 

Sincerely, 

Michael A. Ferrington 
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After Recordation Return To: 

Michael A. Ferrington 

Attorney At Law 

100 Second St. East 

Whitefish, MT 59937 

DECLARATION OF 

RESERVATIONS FOR 

SUBDIVISION 

COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, RESTRICTIONS AND 

GREAT NORTHERN HEIGHTS PHASE 3A 

THIS DECLARATION of Covenants, Conditions, Restrictions and Reservations is made 
this day of 2014, by Robert W. Pero and the Robert W. Pero Revocable 
Trust ("Declarant"). 

WITNESSETH 

WHEREAS, Declarant is the owner of the GREAT NORTHERN HEIGHTS PHASE 3A 
in the City of Whitefish (the Property") and hereby subjects the Property to the Covenants, 
Conditions, Restrictions and Reservations ("Covenants") set forth in this document, each and all 
of which is intended for the benefit of the Property and for each Owner in the Property. These 
Covenants shall inure to the benefit of and pass with the Property and each Lot thereof, and shall 
apply to all Owners and their successors in title; 

NOW THEREFORE. Declarant having established a general plan for the improvement 
and development of the Property, do hereby establish these Covenants upon which and subject to 
which all Lots and portions of Lots within said Property shall be improved or sold, and do hereby 
declare that the Property is and shall be held, transferred, sold and conveyed subject to the 
Covenants hereinafter set forth, all of which shall run with the land and will be binding upon all 
successors in title of Declarant. 

ARTICLE I 

PROPERTY 

The Property which is and shall be held, transferred, sold and conveyed subject to the 
Covenants hereinafter set forth, is located in the City of Whitefish, Flathead County , Montana, 
and consists of the following tracts or parcels of land: 

GREAT NORTHERN HEIGHTS PHASE 3A, according to the map or plat thereof on file 
and of record, Clerk and Recorder, Flathead County, State of Montana 

ARTICLE II 

DEFINITIONS 

The following terms, as used in this Declaration, are defined as follows: 

Lot shall mean each of the 12 tracts of land within the Property. 

Onsite Roadways shall mean the roadways, constructed by Declarant for the 
purpose of providing access throughout the Property. 

Owner shall mean the record owner of a fee simple title to any Lot within the 
Property and shall include contract buyers but not contract sellers. For voting purposes, 
there shall only be one vote per lot regardless of the number of owners of said lot. 

Screened From View shall mean, with respect to any given object on a Lot. that 
the object is screened by a fence, hedge, other decorative improvement or native 
vegetation, such that the object is not or would not be visible to a person six (6) feet tall, 
standing on any part of any adjacent Lot or other property at an elevation no greater than 
the elevation of the base of the object being viewed. 
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ARTICLE HI 

DEVELOPMENT PHILOSOPHY 

SECTION 1. Purpose of Covenants: The Property is being subjected to these 
Covenants to insure the most appropriate development and improvement of each Lot, to 
preserve and protect the natural beauty of the Property, and to enhance the property 
values of the lots within the property. This concept will be enhanced through 
comprehensive design, embodying the best qualities and techniques of site planning, 
engineering, architecture, landscape architecture, and overall design. 

ARTICLE IV 

ARCHITECTURAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 

SECTION 1. Architectural and Environmental Review Committee: The 
Architectural and Environmental Review Committee ("the "Committee") shall consist 
initially of Declarant or their designees. At such time as two-thirds of the Lots have 
been sold and have had site and building plans approved by the Committee. the duties 
and responsibilities of the Committee , at the Developer's discretion, can be assigned to 
a homeowner's association. Provided, however, Declarant may, in their sole discretion, 
assign the duties and responsibilities of the Committee to a Homeowners' Association in 
writing at any time prior thereto. Once the duties of the Committee are assumed by the 
Association, the composition of the Committee shall be as provided in the Association's 
By-Laws. 

SECTION 2. Architectural and Environmental Control: No building, fence, 
wall or other structure shall be commenced, erected or maintained upon any Lot, nor 
shall any addition to or change or alteration to any such building, fence, wall or other 
structure be made until the plans, specifications, and proposed construction schedule 
have been submitted to and approved by the Committee. The plans and specifications 
shall be submitted and reviewed in accordance with Sections 3 and 4 below, and shall 
show the nature, kind, shape, height, materials and location of the proposed structure, 
including proposed landscaping and exterior lighting. All plans must be reviewed by the 
Committee with an eye toward harmony of external design and location in relation to 
surrounding structures and topography, native vegetation and overall compatibility with 
surroundings and the development as a whole. The committee shall have the exclusive 
authority and sole discretion in the approval of all plans submitted including as to the 
location of all improvements to reasonably maintain the view from existing 
improvements on other lots, and as to the exterior appearance including as to paint or 
stain color and as to roofing materials to be used. Absolutely no mobile or pre­
manufactured homes shall be permitted, regardless of whether the same are placed upon 
a permanent foundation. 

SECTION 3. Plan Review Process: In order to insure that the design standards 
for the Property are achieved, a submission of certain plans will be required. Plan 
submissions will also be required for significant revisions, alterations or additions to 
approved or existing improvements. Each plan submission will require two (2) sets of 
plans containing the specific information described below. The plan submission for 
each new improvement or development and each significant revision, alteration, 
addition, or change of use shall be accompanied by a review fee as may be set by the 
Committee. All submitted plans will be reviewed by the Committee for acceptability of 
design and compliance with these Covenants and the development philosophy of the 
Property. Upon completion of review by the Committee, one set of plans will be 
returned to the applicant along with a letter summarizing comments, recommendations, 
requirements, and findings. The returned plans will be marked "APPROVED", 
"APPROVED SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS", or "NOT APPROVED". Approvals are 
valid for one (1) year from the date of the written notice of approval. If construction is 
not commenced within such one(l)  year period, plans must be resubmitted and a new 
approval secured. 
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SECTION 4. Required Plans: At a minimum, the following plans must be 
submitted to the Committee: 

a. Construction plans to a scale of 1 18 inch for all structures with 
consideration given to site utilization, engineering, architectural design 
and phasing. 

b. Site and landscape plans to a scale of 1 "  = 20' - 0" for all site disturbances 
with consideration given to vegetation, pedestrian and equestrian 
circulation, grading, drainage, exterior lighting, fences, driveways, 
parking, utilities and phasing. 

c. A site plan to an appropriate scale depicting the entire lot and the relative 
location of all proposed development within the lot. 

SECTION 5. Adoption of Guidelines: The Committee shall have authority to 
adopt and publish guidelines setting forth the procedures and criteria for review of 
structures and other site improvements or modifications so long as such guidelines are 
not inconsistent with and are no less restrictive than these Covenants. 

SECTION 6. Committee's Response: The Committee shall have thirty (30) 
days within which to complete its review and approve, modify or reject a proposal once 
a complete set of plans have been submitted along with the requisite $200.00 plan 
review fee. In the event the Committee fails to respond to a proposal within such thirty 
(30) day period, the Owner shall then be permitted to commence construction in 
accordance with the submitted plans, but any deviation from such plans which in the 
judgment of the Committee is a substantial detriment to the appearance of the structure 
or of the surrounding area shall be corrected to conform with the plans and elevations as 
submitted. 

SECTION 7. Continuing Responsibility: The Committee shall have a 
continuing role in the approval and disapproval of proposed changes from the original 
design and construction, including without limitation, exterior remodeling, changes of 
color, exterior lighting, provision for wood storage, exterior clotheslines, recreational 
equipment (swimming pools, swing sets, basketball goals, tennis courts, etc.) and 
exterior pet and animal facilities. No such changes or additions will be permitted unless 
approved by the Committee, which may, in its discretion, waive the requirement that 
plans and specifications be submitted for such changes. 

SECTION 8. Committee Enforcement: If the Committee, upon its own 
inspection or upon receiving a complaint, determines that any Owner is in violation of 
the committee's standards or guidelines, or has failed to properly maintain his Lot or any 
permanent improvement thereon, including necessary repairs, or has constructed or 
made any change to any improvement not in conformance with an approved plan, or is 
otherwise in violation of these Covenants, the Committee shall notify the Owner in 
writing. Such notice shall contain a statement of the nature of the nonconformity or 
violation and the steps needed to remedy it. If such remedial steps are not taken within a 
reasonable time, the Committee shall notify the Association which may itself, after 
written notice to the Owner and failure of such Owner to comply, undertake remedial 
measures and charge the Owner an assessment for any sums expended by it in so doing. 
Any such assessment shall become a lien against the Lot so assessed and the personal 
obligation of the Owner to the same extent as those liens described in Article VII, 
Section 2 herein. 

ARTICLE V 

PROTECTIVE COVENANTS AND DEVELOPMENT GUIDELINES 

SECTION 1. Land Use: The Property may be used only for townhouse residential 

purposes with the exception of Lot 21 which may be used for a single family dwelling, 

and no structure shall be erected, placed or permitted to remain on a Lot other than one 
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townhouse residence (excluding one SFD on Lot 21 ), and subject to the rules and 

regulations of the City of Whitefish, one guest house, and related buildings such as 

shops, garages, incidental to the residential use of the Lot. A Townhouse is defined as a 

single:family dwelling unit with abutting walls to one or more dwelling units, each 

located on its own lot and separated from the other similar dwelling units by a common 

boundary line with a zero setback on the common boundary. A townhouse does not 

share common floors/ceilings with other dwelling units. 

There shall be no commercial use of the Property and no trade, craft, business, 
professional, religious, educational or other commercial activity may be conducted on 
any Lot, other than within a properly constructed 'shop'. Provided however, those 
businesses or professions conducted entirely within residential structures shall be 
permissible including woodworking or similar 'shops' which are fully enclosed. No 
traffic may be generated by such home activities in greater volume than would normally 
be associated with a residential dwelling. No equipment or process shall be used which 
creates visual or audible interference with any radio, television, or telephone receivers 
off the premises or which causes fluctuation in electrical line voltage to other parts of 
the development. All utilities shall be placed underground. 

SECTION 2. Subdivision of Lots: No lot shall be subdivided into two or more lots or 
parcels . Boundary line adjustments are permitted if they do not create new Lots. Any 
change in boundary lines shall require that the owner install and maintain new boundary 
markers. Any boundary line adjustment shall be completed in compliance with State 
and County law. 

SECTION 3. Building Standards: The following construction standards shall be followed for 
all building on the Lots: 

a. Each home shall contain not less than the minimum amount of main 
floor living space as may be required by the City of Whitefish. For 
purposes of this paragraph, porches, balconies and garages shall not be 
considered part of the living space. 

b. No structure of any kind, and particularly those commonly known as 
"'mobile home". "modular home", "trailer", or other prefabricated 
structure designed to be hauled or moved on wheels or "boxed", "sheet 
metal", or "A-frame" construction, shall be built or moved onto any Lot 
for any purpose except as allowed in Article V, Section 11, provided, 
however, Declarant reserves the right to use pre-assembled units or 
components of units provided that they otherwise comply with the design 
guidelines. No basement, garage, or other outbuilding, erected or placed 
on any Lot shall, at any time, be allowed or used as a residence, either 
temporarily or permanently except as otherwise permitted herein. 

c. All buildings shall be permanent in nature and no temporary buildings or 
partly finished buildings or structures shall be erected moved on or placed 
upon a Lot, provided, however, Declarant reserves the right to use pre­
assembled units or components of units provided that they otherwise 
comply with the design guidelines. Only new materials may be used. 
However, used brick, beams and the like, on any integral part of the 
architecture of the building, will be allowed. All construction shall first 
be reviewed and approved pursuant to the provisions of Article IV as set 
forth above. All buildings constructed on a Lot shall be constructed in 
keeping with the location, terrain, and environment of the premises so as 
not to be unsightly. 

d. All buildings, including garages, tool sheds, etc., shall be in keeping with 
the architecture of the other buildings located on the Lot, kept in good 
repair and appearance, and maintained in a sanitary condition. All out 
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buildings shall maintain a similar exterior finish as the main residence as 
approved by the Architectural Review Committee. No metal siding is 
allowed. 

e. All construction, once begun, shall be completed as to exterior finish 
including siding and/or masonry, paint and roof. The construction area 
around each building constructed shall be, at least, rough graded prior to 
occupancy. All construction must be completed and building debris 
removed within the time frame set out in the approved construction 
schedule. The dwelling shall not be occupied until such time as the 
above work is completed including the installing and completion of all 
plumbing fixtures and utilities. 

f No building on any Lot shall have a roof or exterior siding which is silver 
or metallic colored, shiny or reflective. Only Class A or B roofing 
materials, as rated by the National Fire Protection Association, shall be 
allowed on all structures. Use of wood shake roofs, are allowed. No 
vinyl siding is allowed. 

g. Each structure, once constructed on a Lot, shall be kept in the same 
condition as at the time of its initial construction, excepting normal wear 
and tear. All structures (including fences) shall be preserved and of 
pleasant appearance by maintaining paint stain or sealer as needed. If 
any structure is damaged in any way, the Owner shall exercise due 
diligence to rebuild, repair and restore the structure to its appearance and 
condition prior to the casualty. Such repair or reconstruction shall be 
completed within nine (9) months of the casualty. 

h. In regard to height and set back restrictions, State, County or City 
provisions shall apply. 

1. All dwellings shall have house numbers and shall be visible from the 
Onsite Roadway serving the Lot either at the driveway entrance or on the 
house. 

J. All electrical, telephone, cable TV and other utility lines shall be installed 
underground. No fuel tanks shall be maintained above or below ground 
on any lot other than approved liquid propane tanks. 

k. If construction activity on any Lot should cause damage to the Onsite 
Roadways, the cost of repair of such roadway shall be borne solely by the 
Owner of said Lot. No oil drilling, gravel, sand or other operations or 
mining operations shall be permitted on any lot. 

1. No Owner shall change or interfere with the natural drainage of any lot 
without prior written approval of an affected lot owner, and the approval of the City or 
County, if required. 

m. Any fencing shall be subject to approval by the architectural Committee; 
no chain link fencing allowed. 

SECTION 4. Seeding, Planting and Weed Control: Noxious weeds shall be 
destroyed on a regular basis to prevent them from reaching seed stage. Whenever a 
structure is constructed or ground is otherwise disturbed on any Lot, the Owner of said 
Lot shall, within a reasonable time thereafter, plant a ground cover or other vegetation to 
restore the ground disturbed by said construction. 
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SECTION 5. Signs: No signs shall be placed on any Lot except name plates 
and one unlighted sign, not exceeding sixteen (16) square feet in surface area, 
advertising the sale of a Lot. 

SECTION 6. Pets and Livestock: No livestock, goats, pigs. chickens or cows 
shall be kept or maintained on any Lot for any purpose. All pets maintained on any Lot 
must not create or cause a violation of any of the Covenants contained herein, such as an 
annoyance or nuisance or disturbance to the neighborhood or the residents of any of the 
other Lots. Common household pets such as dogs and cats may be kept on a lot for non­
commercial purposes. 

SECTION 7. Lot Appearance and Garbage: Except as provided herein, no part 
of any Lot shall be used as a dumping ground or used to store or place or otherwise place 
in open view on any part of the Real Property. trash, garbage, rubbish, refuse. or other 
solid waste or unsightly objects of any kind, including particularly inoperable 
automobiles, appliances and furniture. Each Owner shall avoid accumulation of such 
refuse or other material prohibited by these Covenants. Garbage and similar solid waste 
shall be kept in sanitary containers well suited for that purpose. 

SECTION 8. Nuisances: No noxious or offensive activity shall be carried on or 
permitted upon any of the Lots, nor shall anything be done thereon which may be an 
annoyance or nuisance to the other Owners. By way of illustration, and not of 
limitation, the discharge of firearms may constitute a nuisance within the meaning 
hereof and, at the discretion of the Association, may be expressly prohibited. 

SECTION 9. Vehicles: All vehicles shall be parked in garages, driveways, or 
designated parking areas and no vehicle including boats, rvs, or other equipment or 
vehicles of any type or nature shall be parked upon the Onsite Roadways; boats, rvs, 
snow-mobiles, watercraft or other equipment stored on a lot or driveway area shall be 
screened from view. Each occupant shall be responsible to see that visitors and guests 
park on the Lots being visited, provided, however, guests may temporarily park on the 
onsite roadways. No semi-trucks, dump trucks, or heavy equipment shall be allowed to 
be kept or stored within the property. No inoperable vehicles are allowed to be stored on 
the Lots unless they are stored within a building. 

SECTION 10. Antennas, Poles and Other Structures: TV, radio. satellite 
dishes and other antennae are permitted, however, the location, height and size of any 
such antennae or device must be approved by the Committee, which may include a 

requirement that such antennae or other device be Screened from View or painted to 
match the structure. 

SECTION 11. Temporary Structures: No structure of a temporary character, 
trailer, mobile home, tent, shack, garage, or other outbuilding shall be placed upon the 
Property or be used on any Lot at any time as a residence, either temporarily or 
permanently. A construction trailer may be allowed, with prior approval of the 
Committee, but only during the time of residential construction and must be promptly 
removed upon completion of construction. 

SECTION 12. Drainage/Sprinkler Control: Reasonable precaution shall be 
taken during construction and thereafter, to prevent erosion and drainage problems. All 
disturbed soil areas shall be re-vegetated within a reasonable time in such a fashion as to 
minimize erosion. Driveways shall be constructed so as not to interfere with drainage 
and shall include culverts of appropriate size to prevent obstruction of water flow. No 
construction or landscaping will be allowed that adversely increases or changes the 
flow of water onto adjacent Lots. Any areas of negative drainage existing either prior or 
subsequent to the construction of improvements within the interior of platted lots shall 
be filled and graded to drain to the public right of ways. 
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ARTICLE VI 

HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION 

There shall initially be no homeowners association, provided, however, 
the existing Great Northern Heights Homeowners Association for Phases 1 and 2, may 
be designated as the Homeowner's Association for Phase 3A whereby the by-laws and 
Association documents shall be deemed applicable to Phase 3A. 

Long Term Maintenance of Common Areas and Stormwater Drainage System: Prior to 
the formation of a Homeowners Association or joinder with the existing Great Northern 
Heights Homeowners Association, the Declarant shall be responsible for all costs in 
connection with the maintenance of the common areas and Stormwater Drainage 
System; the Developer shall establish a common area and Storm Water Drainage System 
maintenance fund to be used until a Homeowner Association is formed or joinder occurs 
with the existing Great Northern Heights Homeowners Association, at such time the 
HOA shall administer the long term maintenance of common areas and Stormwater 
Drainage System and fund the same through its annual and special assessments, all as 
described below; attached hereto as Exhibit 'A' and incorporated herein by reference, is 
the Stormwater Drainage System Maintenance plan to be followed . 

ARTICLE VII 
ASSESSMENT/COLLECTION 

SECTION 1. Assessment/Creation of Lien: The Declarant (or any subsequent 
homeowners association, if applicable) may from time to time establish and collect 
homeowners due to be determined on a per lot basis. Said dues shall be used to pay the 
costs of any expenses not covered by the City for maintaining, repairing, and removing 
snow from the Onsite Roadways; any expenses not covered by the City for the costs of 
maintaining and repairing any drainage ditches, swales, or ponds: other costs incurred 
in connection with any common areas; any costs to enforce and administer these 
Covenants; or other subdivision expenses. Each Owner, by accepting a deed to, or 
land contractor for the purchase of a Lot, whether or not specifically so expressed in 
said conveying instrument, shall be deemed to agree and shall be bound to pay 
assessments established pursuant to the provisions of these Covenants, which will 
include regular annual assessments and special assessments. Assessments, whether 
special or regular, may be collected on a monthly, quarterly or yearly basis as 
determined by the Declarant or a Board of Directors (should a homeowners' 
association be formed or should the Great Northern Homeowner's Association govern 
Phase 3), together with interest, costs and reasonable attorney's fees incurred in the 
enforcement of the provisions of this article. The initial annual assessment fee per lot 
shall be $150.00 payable at the close of each escrow for each initial sale. 

SECTION 2. Lien: Assessments, as provided herein, together with any interest 
costs, and reasonable attorney's fees incurred in collecting same, shall be a charge on 
each Owner's Lot, and shall be a continuing lien against said Lot as of the date the 
assessment becomes delinquent. Said amount shall also be a personal obligation of the 
Owner of the Lot at the time when said assessment becomes due. 

SECTION 3. Purpose: Assessments herein shall be used for the general 
purpose of acquiring and maintaining common area property of the subdivision and 
administering and enforcing the Covenants. 

SECTION 4. Assessments: The Declarant shall levy regular annual 
assessments to cover the subdivision's annual operating budget. The Declarant shall 
levy special assessments when necessary to pay for unbudgeted expenses of the 
subdivision. 

SECTION 5. Rate: Assessments shall be based on a per lot basis. 

SECTION 6. Assessment Period/Due Date: The fiscal year shall end 
December 31st of each year. By December 15th of each year the Declarant shall 
determine the budget for the new year and the amount of the regular annual assessment. 

Upon an Owner purchasing a Lot, his or her liability for regular assessments 
shall be prorated on a daily basis to the extent of the number of days remaining from 
date of purchase in any assessment period. Said proration shall be based on a 365-day 
year. Special assessments shall not be prorated. 
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SECTION 7. Nonpayment of Assessments: Remedies: Any assessment not paid 
within thirty (30) days after the due date shall bear interest from the due date at the 
maximum rate allowed by law. The Declarant may bring an action against the 
Owner of the Lot in default as and on the basis of an account due, and/or foreclose the 
lien against said Lot. Such assessment obligation shall be a personal obligation of the 
Lot joint and several to each Owner or Owners. In addition to the amount of the 
assessment and interest thereon, in the event of any legal action to collect a delinquent 
assessment, the Declarant shall be entitled to recover its costs plus all attorney's fees 
incurred. An action to collect without foreclosure does not waive the lien or the right to 
foreclose. The Declarant shall have the right to purchase a Lot at a foreclosure sale. 

SECTION 8. Subordination of Assessment Lien: The lien of any assessment 
provided herein shall be subordinate to any purchase money security interest for a Lot 
acquired herein or consensual lien for the construction of a residence herein when said 
lien secures the Owner's obligation for acquisition or construction. 

ARTICLE VIII 
RESERVATION OF ROAD, DRAINAGE AND UTILITY EASEMENTS 

SECTION 1. Reservation of Easements: Declarant hereby reserves and retains the 
right over, under and across all rights-of-way for the Onsite Roadways and for necessary 
utility, drainage or access easements , including as and for the water system, as said 
Onsite Roadways or utilities pass over, across and through each Lot as more fully 
shown and depicted on the plat , for the purpose of ingress and egress to and from each 
Lot and for the purpose of locating, installing, erecting, constructing, maintaining or 
using underground electric and telephone lines, drainage ditches, swales, ponds and 
other utilities. 

SECTION 2. Expenses of Owner: All costs for all utilities and telephone lines from 
the shall be borne entirely by the Owner. Any Owner who shall place any building. 
improvement, shrub, hedge or tree on an easement or right-of-way reserved herein shall 
be required, at the request of any other affected Owner, Declarants, or utility company 
to remove such structure, improvement or vegetation at such Owner's expense. 

SECTION 3. Road Maintenance Agreements of Record. In addition to all 
provisions contained herein, each owner shall be subject to the provisions of any road 
maintenance agreements of record and/or as proscribed by the City of Whitefish. 

ARTICLE IX 
INSURANCE 

Public liability and common area property damage insurance shall be 
maintained by Declarant until such time as an Association is formed. Thereafter, such 
insurance shall be purchased by the Association's Board of Directors, or acquired by 
assignment from Declarant, as promptly as possible following its election, and shall be 
maintained in force at all times, the premium thereon to be paid out of the Association's 
funds. The insurance shall be maintained with reputable companies authorized to do 
business in Montana. The policy shall name the Declarant, and/or the Association, its 
directors, officers, employees and agents in the scope of their employment, as insureds. 
This policy shall insure against, but may not be limited to, injury or damage occurring 
within any common area of the development. 

ARTICLE X 
AMENDMENTS 

This Declaration may be amended from time to time by recording an instrument 
in writing signed by the Owners of at least two-thirds of the Lots then in existence. 
Amendments to be effective must be recorded in the office of the Clerk and Recorder of 
Flathead County, Montana. 

ARTICLE XI 
ENFORCEMENT 

SECTION 1. Who May Enforce Covenants: Declarant, any subsequent 
homeowners Association, the Committee or any Owner shall have the right to enforce 
by any proceeding at law or in equity any or all of the Covenants, Conditions, 
Restrictions and Reservations as they may from time to time be amended, contained in 
this Declaration. The failure of Declarant, the Association, the Committee or any 
Owner to enforce any covenant or restriction herein contained shall not be deemed to be 
a waiver of the right to do so thereafter. Declarant shall not have the duty to take any 
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affirmative action to enforce any restrictive covenants nor shall it be subject to any 
liability for its failure to so act. If any lot Owner violates these covenants or permits a 
violation thereof by members of his family, his invites or his licensees and fails to cure 
such violation within forty-eight ( 48) hours of having been notified thereof by an 
aggrieved lot Owner, the aggrieved lot Owner may initiate action to correct the 
offending condition and add the cost of such action, including court costs and attorney's 
fees, in any legal proceeding. 

The covenants and restrictions contained herein are not intended to establish 
any type of duty to any intended, unintended, direct or indirect third party beneficiary or 
claimant, for liability purposes or in connection with any other claim except as to the 
enforcement of the same by the property owners within the subdivision. 

SECTION 2. Enforcement by Committee: The Committee may notifY any 
Owner violating any restrictive covenant specifYing the failure and demanding that it be 
remedied within a period of thirty (30) days. If the Owner fails or refuses to remedy the 
violation, the Committee, at the Owner's expense, may correct the deficiencies set forth 
in the notice. If the Owner fails to reimburse the Committee within thirty (30) days 
after receiving from the Committee or any formed Association a statement of the costs 
incurred in correcting the deficiencies, the Committee, through the Association, may 
assess a lien in accordance with Article VII, Section 2 herein, or institute a civil action 
to collect such sum of money together with court costs and reasonable attorney's fees. 
No entry upon a Lot by the Committee or its agent for purposes of enforcing these 
Covenants may be deemed a civil or criminal trespass. 

SECTION 3. Attorneys Fees and Costs: If any Owner, Declarant or the 
Committee commences legal proceedings to enforce any provisions of these Covenants, 
the prevailing party in such action shall be entitled to recover from the other party 
reasonable attorney's fees and costs of said action. 

SECTION 4. Severability: Invalidation of any part of this document by 
judgment or court order shall in no way affect the other provisions which shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

SECTION 5. Construction and Binding Effect: These Covenants shall be 
construed pursuant to the laws of the State of Montana and shall be binding upon and 
inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors and assigns of Declarant and all Owners, 
and time is of the essence in complying with these Covenants. These Covenants should 
be broadly construed to accomplish their intended purpose to promote a high quality 
development in harmony with its surroundings and the natural environment. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Declarant has executed this Declaration the day and 
year first above written. 

Declarant: 
Robert W. Pero 

Robert W. Pero Revocable Trust, by Robert W.Pero, Trustee 
STATE OF MONTANA ) 

COUNTY OF FLATHEAD ) 
: ss. 

On this , in the year 2014, before me, Rita Hanson, Notary 
Public for the State of Montana, personally appeared Robert W. Pero , individually 
and as Trustee of the Robert W. Pero Revocable Trust , known to me to be the persons 
whose names are subscribed to the within instrument, and acknowledged to me that 
they executed the same. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official 
seal the day and year herein above first written. 

Notary Public for the State of Montana 
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Approved: __ _ __ _ __ _ __ _ ___ _ _ _ _  _ 

City of Whitefish by its __ _ _ ___ _ _ _ ___ __ _ _  _ 

STATE OF MONTANA 
: ss. 

COUNTY OF FLATHEAD ) 

On this , in the year 2014, before me, , Notary Public 
for the State of Montana, personally appeared. _________________ _ 

---,-----,-----,-------,--------,---------=---=-for and on behalf 
of the City of Whitefish, known to me to be the persons whose names are subscribed to the 
within instrument, and acknowledged to me that they executed the same. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my official seal the 
day and year herein above first written. 

(NOTARIAL SEAL) 
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j (\i 
GREAT NORTHERN HEIGHTS, PHASES 3 & 3A 

STORMWATER DRAINAGE SYSTEM 

MAINTENANCE PLAN 

INTRODUCTION: 

This manual has been prepared for use by Great Northern Heights Homeowners 
Association (HOA) who is responsible for maintaining those portions of the Great Northern 
Heights, Phases 3 & 3A stormwater drainage system located outside of the public right-of­
way. This manual presents general information on drainage system design and operation, 
and it presents maintenance requirements and scheduling to ensure continued effective 
and efficient system performance. Maintenance personnel should be familiar with the 
information provided in this manual to help ensure long system life, trouble-free operation, 
and a safe and presentable drainage system for the subdivision residents, guests and 
public who visit the Great Northern Heights development. 

It is important that both the HOA, maintenance personnel and the subdivision residents 
understand that each has a responsibility in seeing that the drainage system is properly 
maintained. If any abandons their responsibilities, the investment can easily become a 
considerable and costly liability. Residents have the responsibility to make sure their 
properties are kept clean and free of debris that can be washed, blown or somehow 
conveyed to the stormwater detention ponds and adjacent wetland area. Maintenance 
personnel are responsible to make sure that functional parts of the drainage system are 
properly maintained and working as intended, and the HOA has the responsibility to 
provide the maintenance personnel with adequate equipment, manpower and support 
necessary to properly maintain the stormwater drainage system. 

SYSTEM DESCRIPTION: 

All new roads in Phases 3 & 3A have curbs and gutters and roads that are crowned along 
the centerline to direct runoff water to the respective gutters. Runoff water along Great 
Northern Drive, from its' intersections with Brimstone Drive and Granite Drive, flows to 
Catch Basin Nos. 3-1 & 3-2 located at a low point along the road near Lot T-13 in Phase 
3A. Water is then be conveyed to the South Storrnwater Detention Pond. Water that 
accumulates in the pond is then be discharged to the Wetland Area at a controlled rate. 
The pond is designed to detain runoff flows, allow most solids to settle out and provide a 
discharge flow rate less than or equal to the pre-development runoff flow rate from a 10-
year storm event. 

Runoff from Brimstone Drive, with the exception of the easterly side of Brimstone south of 
its intersection with Great Northern Drive, flows in a northerly direction to a Catch Basins 
Nos. 3-3 & 3-4 located near Lot 12. Water is then conveyed to the North Stormwater 
Detention Pond located just north of Lot 13 in Phase 3. Like the South Pond, the North 
Pond is designed to detain runoff flows, allow most solids to settle out and provide a 
discharge flow rate less than or equal to the pre-development runoff flow rate from a 1 0-
year storm event. 

Stormwater Drainage 
Maintenance Manual 
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Runoff from the southerly portion of Lots T-9 to T-20 in Phase 3A flows to and then along a 
new vegetated drainage swale constructed along the south property line. The drainage 
swale discharges at an existing excavated depression just east of Lot T -9. Runoff water 
from northerly portion of Lots T-9 to T-20 flows to Great Northern Drive and then flows 
along the south-side gutter to a Catch Basin #3-2 located near Lot T13. Runoff water from 
the southerly portions of Lots 20 and 21 in Phase 3 flows to Great Northern Drive and then 
along the north-side gutter to Catch Basin #3-1. As described above, water from CB Nos. 
3-1 and 3-2 is be conveyed to the South Detention Pond. 

Runoff from Lots 21, T-22 & T-23 in Phase 3A and from Lots 1 - 12 in Phase 3 flows to 
Brimstone Drive and then flows along the west-side gutter to Catch Basin No. 3-3 located 
near the southeast corner of Lot 12. Water is then conveyed to the North Detention Pond. 
Runoff water from easterly half of the Brimstone Drive right-of-way along Lots 13 - 20 in 
Phase 3 flows to east-side gutter and then along the gutter to Catch Basin #3-4. Water 
then flows to the North Detention Pond. 

Runoff water from the southerly portions of Lot 20 and 21 and from all of Lot 19 in Phase 
3, flows overland to the South Detention Pond. Water from Lots 13 - 18 flows overland, in 
a dispersed manner, first to the Wetland Buffer Area and then to the Wetland Area. 

There are two (2) 24" HOPE culverts where Great Northern Drive crosses the wetland 
area at the south end of the subdivision in Phase 3A and where Brimstone Drive crosses 
the wetland area at the north end in Phase 3. 

Catch Basins. Catch Basin Nos. 3-1 to 3-4 are located in the public right-of-way and are, 
therefore, the responsibility of the City of Whitefish to maintain. Each has a sump that 
extends 18" below the outlet pipe that is intended to trap settleable solids. It is important 
the City periodically pumps the catch basin sumps, a minimum of once each year is 
recommended, to help keep settleable solids from being flushed into the detention ponds. 
The HOA should check the catch basin sumps and notify the City when pumping is 
necessary. 

Stormwater Detention Ponds. Each of the rock lined stormwater detention ponds has a 
forebay area at the inlet end that is about 18" deeper than the remainder of the 
respective ponds. These forebay areas are designed to trap sand, silt and other 
settleable solids to preclude carry-over and possible discharge to the wetland area. 
Because of this, it is impo.rtant to periodically remove the accumulated material from the 
forebay areas to maintain proper pond operation. 

There is an 18" diameter PVC drain basin, at the outlet end of each detention pond that 
is designed to allow the respective ponds to drain in between storm events and to 
control the rate of flow from the ponds so the discharge rate does not exceed the 
calculated pre-development runoff flow rate from a 10-year storm event. The drain 
basins in each pond are identical, with 8" inlet piping and 6" outlet and overflow piping. 

Each detention pond has an emergency overflow that discharges to a grass-lined 
drainage swale through which overflow water is conveyed to the Wetland Area. 

Stormwater Drainage 
Maintenance Manual 
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MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITIES: 

It is important that the HOA, residents and maintenance personnel clearly understand 
how the drainage system was designed and constructed to operate so as to better 
understand how proper maintenance, or the lack thereof, affects system performance. 
If maintenance, maintenance of the catch basins by the City or maintenance of the 
detention ponds by the HOA is neglected, sand, silt and clay particles can be flushed 
through the detention ponds and into the receiving wetland area. In addition, the 
buildup of sediment in the detention ponds can plug the outlet piping causing the 
pond(s) to not drain between storm events or to cause water to flow through the 
emergency overflow without adequate treatment. 

Therefore, it is important that maintenance personnel understand how the drainage 
system components are interrelated and how the lack of proper maintenance may 
adversely affect the effectiveness of the drainage system in treating runoff water and in 
controlling the quantity of water, and/or the rate at which water is, discharged from site. 
The maintenance activities presented in the table below, and the frequency of performing 
the individual activities, are essential to the performance and longevity of the drainage 
system and particularly the infiltration system. Effective long-term operation of the 
infiltration system requires a dedicated and routine maintenance inspection schedule. 

ACTIVITY 

CITY OF WHITEFISH RESPONSIBILITIES 

Sweep streets and gutters each spring after the snow melts 
off pavement. 

Pump and clean catch basin sumps 

GREAT NORTHERN HEIGHTS HOA RESPONSIBILITIES 

Inspect forebay in each detention pond 

Pump or clean sand, silt, rocks and debris from forebays if 
more than 2 inches of accumulation is observed 

Clean any material buildup from drain basins, around basin 
inlet piping and basin outlet piping. 

Inspect and clean, if necessary, the drain basin grates 

Inspect and clean, if necessary, the emergency overflows 

Inspect and clean the discharge drainage swale and 
discharge locations at the wetlands area. 

-- ----

Stormwater Drainage 
Maintenance Manual 

----- - -------- -

FREQUENCY 

One ( 1) Time/Year 

·-----------��---

One (1) Time/Year 
� �  ' � -

----�------�-----·-· -· --- ------

One (1) Time/Year 
�-·-- ---------------- ------

As Required 

At Least One (1) 
Time/Year 

At Least One (1) 
Time/Year 

At Least One (1) 
Time/Year 

At Least One (1) 
Time/Year 

----------------··- - ------ �-
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Accurate and legible reports or records are essential to the successful, long-term 
operation of the drainage system. Maintenance and administrative personnel can use 
these records as a guide in adjusting system maintenance activities or frequencies; they 
can be used as a guide in determining when major system components should be 
added or replaced; and they are of great importance in establishing a reliable record of 
performance and in justifying decisions, expenditures and recommendations. System 
records are the only sound basis upon which to plan for corrective measures or justify 
budgetary changes. 

Maintenance records and reports for the Great Northern Heights stormwater drainage 
system shall be completed on a routine basis and the information shall be retained with 
all other important operation, maintenance and performance records for the Great 
Northern Heights HOA. 

Stormwater Drainage 
Maintenance Manual 
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Return to:  Necile Lorang, City Clerk 
City of Whitefish 
PO Box 158 
Whitefish, MT 59937-0158 

 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 14-___ 
 
A Resolution extending the corporate limits of the City of 
Whitefish, Montana, to annex within the boundaries of the City a certain 
tract of land known as 1726 West Lakeshore Drive, for which the owner has 
petitioned for and consented to annexation. 

 
WHEREAS, Richard W. Bennet, III, as Trustee of the Richard W. Bennet, III, 

Revocable Trust Agreement dated October 26, 2001, has filed a Petition for Annexation 
with the City Clerk requesting annexation and waiving any right of protest to annexation 
as the sole owner of real property representing 50% or more of the total area to be 
annexed, described and shown more fully on Exhibit A, attached hereto and made a part 
hereof.  Therefore, the City Council will consider this petition for annexation pursuant to 
the statutory Annexation by Petition method set forth in Title 7, Chapter 2, Part 46, 
Montana Code Annotated; and 

 
WHEREAS, services to the annexed area will be provided according to the City of 

Whitefish Extension of Services Plan, adopted by the City Council by Resolution 
No. 09-04 on March 2, 2009, as required by and in conformity with §§7-2-4610 and 
7-2-4732, MCA, available at the office of the City Clerk; and 

 
WHEREAS, it is the considered and reasoned judgment of the City Council of the 

City of Whitefish that the City is able to provide and has been providing municipal 
services to the area proposed for annexation.  Further, it is hereby determined by the 
Whitefish City Council to be in the best interest of the City of Whitefish, and the 
inhabitants thereof, as well as the current and future inhabitants of the area to be 
annexed described herein, that the area be annexed into the City of Whitefish and it is 
hereby declared to be the intent of the City of Whitefish that the corporate boundaries of 
the City of Whitefish be extended to include the boundaries of the area described in the 
Petition for Annexation within the limits of the City of Whitefish. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Whitefish, Montana, as follows: 
 
Section 1: The corporate boundaries of the City of Whitefish are hereby 

extended to annex the boundaries of the area herein described in the Petition for 
Annexation, according to the map or plat thereof, on file and of record in the Office of 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 134 of 226



- 2 - 

the Clerk and Recorder of Flathead County, Montana, and legally described as: 
 
Lot 19 of Block 2 of Lake Park Addition to Whitefish, Montana, according 
to the map or plat thereof on file and of record in the Office of the Clerk 
and Recorder of Flathead County, Montana. 
 
and 
 
That portion of Lyford Street located in the Lake Park Addition to 
Whitefish, Montana, according to the map or plat thereof on file and of 
record in the Office of the Clerk and Recorder of Flathead County, 
Montana. 
Known as Tract 1 Certificate of Survey No. 16472. 
 
Section 2: The minutes of the City Council of the City of Whitefish, Montana, 

incorporate this Resolution. 
 
Section 3: The City Clerk is hereby instructed to certify a copy of this Resolution 

so entered upon the May 5, 2014 Minutes of the City Council.  Further that this 
document shall be filed with the office of the Clerk and Recorder of Flathead County.  
Pursuant to §7-2-4607, MCA, this annexation shall be deemed complete effective from 
and after the date of the filing of said document with the Flathead County Clerk and 
Recorder. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

WHITEFISH, MONTANA, ON THIS ________ DAY OF _______________, 2014. 
 
 
 

  
John M. Muhlfeld, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
  
Necile Lorang, City Clerk 
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WED/APR/16/2014 10:33 AM City of Whit�fish 

Return to: Necile Lorang, City clerk 
City of Whitefish 

· 

PO BOX158 
Whitefish, MT 59937-0158 

FAX No. 406-863-2419 

.·, 

CONTRACT AG�EMENT FOR .ANNEXATION AND 
. CITYWATER�/ORSANITARYSEWERSERVICE 

P. 002 

THISAGREEMENI'isen�eredintot!Sof.$1 dayof /lfg_jv ,?.OJ!:/., . / 
by and between the City ofWhit�sh1 a municipal co_ryoration ("CITY'') as grantor of City _l_ waterand/or:sariitarysewerservi,bes,and '&k.hacd �flti lll 'Paev�GT� Asrrr 
("OWNER"), as grantee recipie*(s) of City water and/ or sanitary sewer services, whose 1 mailing address is ,(r5Ccl\AI¥, $.loMita MO �1."\ withrespecttothefollowingfacts: 1 

A. CITY o-wns and o�rates a municipal water and sanitary sewer system. ·; 
I 

B. OWNER is the sol� owner of the real property that is legally described below, 
or as fully disclosed and shown Qn. Exhibit "A" attached and made a part of this Agreement 
eoWNER'S REAL PROPER1Y'1): . 

. . 
' 
! LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

L..o.XL. ��Add.., s* � T 31 tJ, 1t 1� \AJ1 l>lcx:K oo2.., Lo-t o1qJ 
( CP� 11- L.o Kt. PM �! A.dcL Lot- 1 q , B \ � � \...o.J(.L Fb.Y K-

Add Pt ABO �� 
i 

C. OWNER'S REAL F.ROPERTY is located outside of the current corporate limits 
of the CITY. · 

· i . . 

D. OWNER desires tp obtain municipal water/sewer service from the CITY to 
serve OWNER'S REAL PROPE*-'IY� . . 

E. The parties desire�o enter into an Agreement pursuant to MCA §§ 7-13-4312 
and 7�13-4314, for the CITY to !furnish municipal water and/ or sanitary sewer service at 
rates adopted in accordance with Montana State Law in return for OWNER'S agreement 
that OWNER'S REAL PROPE�TY may be annexed to. the c orporate limits of the CITY at 
anytime. 

' 

In consideration of the p�rformance of the terms and conditions of this Agreement 
on the part of each party, and pursu ant to MCA §§ 7-13-4312 and 7-13-4314, it is hereby 

! . 

Agreementfot Annexation and City Water andjor Sanitary Sewer Service Page;�. 
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WED/APR/!6/20!4 !0:33AM City of Whitefish 

agreed as follows: 

FAX No. 406-863-24!9 P. 003 

(1) Furnishin,g of &ewer Services: The CITY hereby agrees to furnish 
municipal water and/or sanitary sewer service to OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY . .  Unless 
otherwise agreed in writing betw¢en the parties, OWNER shall be solely responsible for all 
costs involved in extending muriicipal water and/or sanitary sewer service to OWNER'S 
REAL PROPERTY and connectihg OWNER'S REAL ·PROPERTY to the municipal water 
and/ or sewer syst�. Nothing h this Agreement shall obligate CITY to pay tbe costs of 
right-of-way acquisition, engin�ering, construction and other related costs involved in 
extending or connecting muniCipal water and/or sewer service to OWNJm.IS REAL 
PROPERTY. 

(2) Municipal W� and/or Sanita.:ry Sewer Connections: Upon 
approval by the CITY Public W o.rks Department of the design and construction of all the 
municipal water ·and/ or saniuror sewer lines and other facilities necessary to serve 
OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY� �dacceptance of all of such water and/or sewer facilities by 
the CITY, OWNER will be giv�n permission to connect no more .than _/,__ __ � 

connection to the CITY'S muni�pal water and/or sanitary sewer system. Any additional 
water" and/ or sewer connections shall require a new application for service and approval 
obtained from the CI'IY Public Works Department. . . 

Upon approval by the CITY Public Works Department) OWNER will be given 
permission to extend �v �� I ; �d sanitary sewer stubs from the municipal 
sanitary main to the property lhjl.e of the property descn'bed herein. Any additional water 

. and/ or sanitary sewer stubs s� require a new application for CITY water and/ or sanitary 
sewer service. Prior to connecting any residential or commercial building or any other 
structure to the water and/or ! �tary sewer service stub-out(s), a request muSt be 
submitted to CITY for municip� water and/ or sanitaiy sewer service describing the use of 
the building proposed to be conJJ.ected. Any connectio.ns must comply with the Rule8 and 
Regulations for the City ofWhitefish Water, Wastewater and Garbage Utility. The request 
is to be reviewed and approv�d by CITI prior to any connection of a residential or 
commercial buildin& or other �cture. No residential or commercial building or any 
other structure shall be allowed to connect to the municipal water and/ or sanitary sewer 
service extension unless approval has first been obtained from the CITY Public Works 
Department · · 

(3) Transfer of 'l'iile: Within thirty (30) days of the completion of the 
construction and CITY accept$nce of the said water and/ or sanitary sewer extension, 
OWNER hereby agrees to trwisfer, or cause to be transferred to CI'lY by appropriate 
documents any right, title an� interest that OWNER may have in the municipal water 
and/ or sanitary sey.rer lateral arid main extensions to be built by OWNER to provide service 
to the herein described propertly. 

OWNER agrees that the municipal water and/ or sanitazy sewer line extension 
to the property shall be constrUcted in a public right-of-way or on land either owned by 
OWNER or subject to an appropriate easement approved by CITY, granting OWNER, GITY, 
and their successors and assigris the right to construct, repair, and maintain the sanitary 

Agreement for Annexation a11d Ciry Water and/or Sanitary Sewer Service Page2 
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WED/APR/16/2014 10:33 AM City of Whitefish F AX No. 406-863-2419 P. 004 

sewer extension lines. If any portion of the lateral enension is constructed on land owned 
by OWNER at the time OWNE� transfers their interest in the sanitacy sewer extension line 
to the CITY, they shall also grant the CITY an appropriate easement for construction, repair, 
and maintenance of the municipal water and/ or sanitary sewer extension lines. The CITY 
shall not be required to accept �ypreviously constructed water or sewer lines unless they 
are properly located in the righ�-of-way or a valid· easement. 

(4) Maintenance: Ppon completion and acceptance of construction and the 
approval of access to the municipal water and/ or sanitary sewer lines constructed in 
easements, maintenance, and repair of the mains servicing OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY 
shall become and remain the reSponsibility of CITY. Mai1,1tenance and repair of the lateral 
service lines serving the O�R'S REAL PROPERTY shall become and remain the 
responsibility of the OWNER. · 

(5) Rates. Ru.le§ � Poli.cies: OWNER agrees to pay to the CITY such 
charges, rates, and fees, includi� but not limited to connection fees and impact fees, as are 
established by the CITY in accordance with ¥ontana Law. In addition, OWNER agrees to · 

comply with and be subject to aU of the CI'lYS rules, regulations and policies, as amended 
from time to time, with respeCt to the operation of the CTIYS municipal water and/or 
sanitary sewer system. 

· 

(6) Consent to =xation: OWNER acknowledges and agrees that the CI1Y 
is willing to provide municip · water and/or sanitary sewer services only if OWNER 
provides all of the promises and;representations contained in this .Agreement. Pursuant to 
MCA § 7-13-4314, the CITY reqju.ires that any person, firm, or corporation outside of the 
incorporated CITY limits is req1.lired, as a condition to initiate such. service(s), to consent to 
and petition for annexation of the tract.served by the CITY, and in consideration for the 
CITY'S agreement to provide lln.unicipal water and/or sanitary sewer service, OWNER 
agrees to consent to anne.xati�n under the following conditions and in the following 
manner: 

a) OWNER hereby irrevocably consents to the annexation of OWNER'S REAL 
PROPER1Y, and ;OWNER irrevocably w:aives any right of protest to any 
annexation proce�gs initiated by the CfiY. OWNER agrees that the CITY 

'may initiate anneka,tion of OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY, relying upon this 
consent and waiv�r of protest, at any time iri the future, withoutlimitatioi;J.. 
OWNER acknowledges that, but for this waiver, OWNER would have a right 
to protest the annexation af OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY. 

b) OWNER hereby petitions to have OWNER'S REAL PROPER'IY annexed to 
the CITY, pursua!lt to MCA § 7-2�4601, et seq. OWNER agrees that the C� 
may act on this ,petition at any time in the future, without limitation. 
OWNER further¢ore �ressly waives the provisions of MCA § 7-2-4608, · · 

which provides, in effect, that no property used for agricultural, mining, 
smelting, refining, transportation; or any industrial or manufacturing 
purposes orfor �Y purpose incident thereto shall be annexed pursuant to the 
provisions of MCA. § 7-2-4601, et seq. 
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c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 

g) 

h) 

i) 

OWNER hereby �s the petition requesting annexation attached to C!Jld 
made a part hereof under this Agreement for municipal water and/ or sanitary 
sewer services at tjhe time of signing this Agreement. Such Petition shall be 
filed with the City\ Clerk. 

OWNER acknowl¢dges and agrees that OWNER has had an opportunity to 
inspect the contetits of the CI.'IYS Plan for Extension of Services) as adopted 
by the CITY, and Which describes the manner in which CITY services may be 

· extended to properties annexed by the CITY. OWNER acknowledges and 
agrees that OW$R is satisfied with the CI'IYS Plan for Extension of 
Services, and th.a,t the CITY'S Plan for Extension of Services adequately 
provides for the e#ension of CITY services to OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY. 
OWNER hereby waives the right to object or otherwise challenge the CI'l'YS 

Plan for Extenaio* of Services. 

OWNER hereby ip'evooably waives for all time the right to file an action in 
court to challenge� for any reason) the CITY'S annexation of OWNER'S REAL 
PROPERTI, whe�er such annexation occurs now or in the future. 

OWNER acknowl¢dges and agrees that all of OWNER'S REAL PROPERTI, as 
described above; Will clearly and immediately, and not merely potentially, be 
serviced by the m�nicipal water and/ or sanitary sewer service to be provided 
by the CITY purs*ant to this Agreement. 
OWNER agrees lthat if ever OWNER, . their heirs, assigns, successors, 
purchasers, admi�istrators, personal representativeS or subsequent holders 
of title to OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY, breach, challenge, disregard, or 
otherwise violateiany of the terms of this Agreement, the CITY may, after 
providing twentyj(2o) days written notice, terminate water and/or sanitary 
sewer services to! OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY, in addition to any other 
remedies that thei CITY may have. 

OWNER agrees tpat if OWNE� in violation of this Agreement, submits a 
protest to the an.P.exation of OWNER'S REAL PROP�R'IY, the CI1Y may 
disregard such prptest, in addition to any other remedies that the CITY· may 
have. 

The promises, covenants, representations, and waivers provided pursuant to 
· this Agreement are voluntarily and knowingly given, with full knowledge of 

the OWNER'S legal rights. OWNER acknowledges and agrees that it is has 
had an opportunity to consult with legal counsel of its choice regarding the 
provisions of this! Agreement. 

. 
(7) Recording; BW,ding Effect: OWNER agrees that this entire Agreement 

shall be recorded in the office o� the Clerk and Recorder of Flathead County, and OWNER 

agrees that this Agreement s:qaU run to, with, and be binding upon OWNER'S REAL 
· PROPERTY and OWNER'S title to such real property, and shall be binding upon the 

OWNER'S heirs, assigns , successors, administrators, personal representatives and any and 
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all subsequent holders or own� of OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY. 

P. 006 

( 8) Future Deeds: !Subsequent to this Agreement all deeds to parcels af land 
within the property subject tq this Agreement granted by OWNER shall contain the 
following consent to annexatio* and waiver: 

The Owner hereby covetlan-q; and agrees that acceptance of this deed does 
constitute a waiver of �e statutory right of protest against any annexation 
procedure initiated by tlhe City of Whitefish with respect to the property 
described herein. Ownei also agrees that acceptance of a deed constitutes an 
obligation on the part oif Owner to initiate annexation procedures per the 
Petition to Annex on fil� at the City Clerk's Office. 

I . ! 
This consent to annexation and waiver shall run with the land and shall 
forever be binding upon! the Owner, transferees, successors and assigns. 

. • I 

OWNER agrees that this .Agr�ent shall be binding even if QWNER fails to include the 
language set forth above in fu�e deeds. After annexation of OWNER'S REAL PROPERTY, 
future deeds need not contain 'lihe language set forth above. 

· 

' 

(9) I§:m.: This Ag�ment shall be in perpetuity. 
(10) Entire.Aareemmt: This Agreement contains the entire agreement between 

the parties and any additional agreement hereafter made shall be ineffective to alter,, 

change, modify or discharge it in whole or in part, unless ·such additional agreement is in 
. writing and signed by the parti� hereto. 

· · 

(u) PJ!l"tial InvaJi�ty: Each term, covenant, condition or provision of this 
Agreement shall be viewed as �parate and distinct, and in the event that any such term, 
covenant, condition or provisi¢n shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
invalid, the remaining provisioins shall continue in full force and effect. 

(12) NeQtmsU'Y Actf: Each party to this Agreement agrees to perform any 
further acts and execute and i deliver any further documents that may be reasonably 
necessary to carry out the pro�sions of this Agreement. . . 

· 

CITYOF�ITEFISH 

By.�€� 
Charles C. Stearns, City 14anager 

[Printed Name] 
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ATTEST: 

STATE OF MONTANA 

County of F1athead 

) . 
) ss.' 
) . 

On this o2 '-\ day of 1\-pr-� \ , 20 A, before me, th� undersigned, 
a Notary Public in and !for · the State of .M:ontana, personally appeared 
CHARLES C. STEARNS and NE.tll.E LORANG, known to me to be the City Manager and · 

City Clerk of the City ofWhitefisljl, whose names are subscribed to the foregoing instrument, 
and acknowledged to me that thjeY executed the same. · 

INWI'INESS WHEREO�, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Notarial Seal · 
the day and year last above written. 

· 

� STATE OF lt?� � ss.; 
County of Flathead ) ; 

· Notary Public for the State of Montana 

On this c;j/ St day J£ . 12ttJ� , 2o.i.::L, before me, the 
un ersigned, a N tary Public! in �r the state aforesaid, personally appeared 

. · aad lmowntometo 
be the person whose nameW_ i;f¢ subscribed to the foregoing instrument, and 
acknowledged to me that he/��/ tpeY executed the same, · 

IN WITNESS WHEREO�, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed myNot�al Seal 
the day and year last above written. 

- -u --� �� Z?w<7� 
PEGGY n-..r ,.,ILLIPS Notary fuifctor the State of � 

Notary Public-Notary Seal 1'e�]' �Pf' Pl-l LLLlP.S 
State of Missouri, Ste Genevieve County. [print or type name o+Notant 1 -Commission# 11483210 fl 'Jh, '·� .. .1 ff:' £'. 

My Commission Expires Mar 30,2015; • Residing at �15 Jt. �P-t:!U !.L� � 6367cJ 
- - -;- My Commission expires: JlJ, 2e_;.r 
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OWNER: HELEN B. EVANS, 
TRUSTEE OF THE HELEN B. EVANS REVOCABLE UVING TRUST 

PURPOSE: RETRACEMENT SURVEY 
DATE: NOVEMBER 5, 2004 CERTIFICATE OF SURVEY 

GOV'T LOT 1, SEC. 
FLATHEAD 
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RESOLUTION NO. 14-__ 
 
A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Whitefish, Montana, 
establishing "No Parking" Zones along portions of West Sixth Street, West 
Fifth Street, Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West Third Street and Good 
Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West Second Street. 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6.2.4 of the Whitefish City Code provides that the City Council 

may, on motion, create "No Parking" zones within the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, following the completion of the Sixth and Geddes Reconstruction 

Project and upon the recommendation of the Public Works Department, the City Council 
adopted Resolution No. 13-37 that designated "No Parking" zones along portions of West 
Sixth Street, O'Brien Avenue and Flint Street; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Public Works Department is recommending that the City Council 

officially designate "No Parking" zones along all or portions of West Sixth Street, West 
Fifth Street, Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West Third Street and Good Avenue, 
between Baker Avenue and West Second Street, as follows: 

 
a. Both sides of West Sixth Street from the west edge of the Baker 

Avenue right-of-way to points 40 feet west; 
 
b. The north side of West Sixth Street, starting at a point 10 feet west of 

the projected west edge of the Lupfer Avenue right-of-way and 
ending at a point 95 feet to the east; 

 
c. Both sides of West Fifth Street (aka North Street) between Flint and 

Geddes Avenues; 
 
d. Both sides of Geddes Avenue between West Fifth Street (aka North 

Street) and West Fourth Street, excluding a 130 foot long section on 
the west side of Geddes Avenue located between two points 50 and 
180 feet south of the south edge of the West Fourth Street 
right-of-way, as measured along the curb line; 

 
e. Both sides of Jennings Avenue between West Fourth Street and West 

Third Street, excluding a 65 foot long section along the east side of 
Jennings Avenue located between two points 40 and 105  feet north 
of the projected north edge of the West Fourth Street right-of-way; 

 
f. Both sides of West Third Street east of the projected west edge of 

Jennings Avenue; and 
 
g. Both sides of Good Avenue, excluding a 90 foot long section on the 

east side of the road between two points located 90 and 180 feet 
north of the south edge of the West Third Street right-of-way 

 
; and 
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WHEREAS, on April 15, 2014, the City gave notice concerning the designation of 
"No Parking" zones along portions of West Sixth Street, West Fifth Street, Geddes Avenue, 
Jennings Avenue, West Third Street and Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West 
Second Street, by U.S. Mail addressed and mailed to all adjacent property owners; and 

 
WHEREAS, on April 21, 2014, the City Council reviewed the April 15, 2014 staff 

report and recommendation regarding "No Parking" zones along the route of the Sixth 
and Geddes Street Reconstruction Project, and following discussion, the City Council 
directed staff to prepare a resolution establishing "No Parking" zones and a map depicting 
the areas subject to the Resolution, for its consideration at the May 5th City Council 
meeting; and 

 
WHEREAS, on May 5, 2014, the City Council determined that it is in the best 

interests of the City and its inhabitants to establish "No Parking" zones along portions of 
West Sixth Street, West Fifth Street, Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West Third Street 
and Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West Second Street, as depicted on the 
attached map. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Whitefish, Montana, as follows: 
 
Section 1: There is hereby established a "No Parking" zone on the above-

referenced streets and avenues subject to this Resolution as depicted on Exhibit "A", 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 

 
Section 2: It shall be unlawful for anyone to park in the "No Parking" designated 

zone.  Violation of the "No Parking" zone described above shall, as with other parking 
violations, constitute a misdemeanor and shall be subject to such fines and other remedies 
as provided by City Ordinance. 

 
Section 3: The Public Works Department is authorized and directed to install 

appropriate signage notifying the public of these restrictions. 
 
Section 4: This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption by the 

City Council, and signing by the Mayor thereof. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

WHITEFISH, MONTANA, ON THIS ________ DAY OF _______________, 2014. 
 
 
 

  
John M. Muhlfeld, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
  
Necile Lorang, City Clerk 
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April 28, 2014 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and City Councilors 
City of Whitefish 
Whitefish, Montana 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and Councilors 

Staff Recommendation Regarding No Parking Zones Along the Route 
of the 6th and Geddes Street Reconstruction Project 

 
Introduction/History 
 
The Public Works Department presented a proposal at the April 21st City Council meeting 
to create No Parking zones along all or portions of West 6th Street, West 5th Street (aka 
North Street), Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West 3rd Street and Good Avenue, 
between Baker Avenue and West 2nd Street, as was contemplated during design of the 6th 
and Geddes Street Reconstruction Project. 
 
After considering the staff report and public comment, the City Council directed Public 
Works to prepare a resolution for consideration at the May 5th Council meeting, including 
provisions for No Parking zones and limited areas with parking allowed on one side of the 
street. 
 
A copy of the staff memo from the April 21st Council meeting is attached.  The April 21st 
meeting minutes are included in the May 5th meeting packet. 
 
Current Report 
Staff recommends the following areas be designated as No Parking zones.  A map is 
included with the attached resolution. 

 Both sides of West 6th Street from the west edge of the Baker Avenue right of way 
to points 40 feet west, 

 The north side of West 6th Street, starting at a point 10 feet west of the projected 
west edge of the Lupfer Avenue right of way and ending at a point 95 feet to the 
east, 

 Both sides of West 5th Street (aka North Street) between Flint and Geddes Avenues, 
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 Both sides of Geddes Avenue between West 5th Street (aka North Street) and West 
4th Street, excluding a 130 foot long section on the west side of Geddes Avenue 
located between two points 50 and 180 feet south of the south edge of the West 4th 
Street right of way as measured along the curb line, 

 Both sides of Jennings Avenue between West 4th Street and West 3rd Street, 
excluding a 65 foot long section along the east side of Jennings Avenue located 
between two points 40 and 105 feet north of the projected north edge of the West 
4th Street right of way, 

 Both sides of West 3rd Street east of the projected west edge of Jennings Avenue, 
and 

 Both sides of Good Avenue, excluding a 90 foot long section on the east side of the 
road between two points located 90 and 180 feet north of the south edge of the West 
3rd Street right of way. 

 
The recommended No Parking zones will ensure safe passage for emergency vehicles and 
enable more efficient snow removal.  Those areas with parking on one side of the street will 
allow reasonable passage of vehicles while providing a moderate level of traffic calming. 
 
Financial Requirement 
The cost to install the necessary No Parking signs will be less than $1000.  The work will be 
performed by the Public Works Department and all costs will be paid out of the Street Fund. 
 
Recommendation 
We respectfully recommend the City Council adopt the attached resolution providing for No 
Parking zones along all or portions of West 6th Street, West 5th Street (aka North Street), 
Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West 3rd Street and Good Avenue, between Baker 
Avenue and West 2nd Street, as described above. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
John C. Wilson 
Public Works Director 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 150 of 226



 
 

April 15, 2014 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and City Councilors 
City of Whitefish 
Whitefish, Montana 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and Councilors 

Staff Recommendation Regarding No Parking Zones Along the Route 
of the 6th and Geddes Street Reconstruction Project 

 
Introduction/History 
 
The Public Works Department is proposing No Parking zones along all or portions of West 
6th Street, West 5th Street (aka North Street), Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West 3rd 
Street and Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West 2nd Street, as was intended 
when these streets were designed and as was discussed with the neighborhood and City 
Council prior to construction of the recent 6th and Geddes Street Project. 
 
A drawing illustrating the proposed No Parking zones and one small loading zone is 
attached, along with a notice of this proposal which was mailed to property owners and 
residents along the route and a November 2013 memo on a related subject. 
 
We recommend the City Council direct staff to prepare a resolution to be considered at the 
May 5th City Council meeting. 
 
Current Report 
As you will recall, the City reconstructed the roadway and utilities along this route between 
Baker Avenue and West 2nd Street during the summers of 2012 and 2013.  During the 
design process, at various neighborhood and City Council meetings, we discussed the lack 
of right of way and the need for No Parking zones all along the route, except where the 
width of right of way enabled parking along 6th Street in the vicinity of Lupfer Avenue. 
 
The need was understood, No Parking signs were included on the construction plans, and 
the contractor installed many signs in the course of construction.  Unfortunately, the Public 
Works Department overlooked the requirement for specific action by the City Council in 
order to establish enforceable limits.  Several No Parking signs were removed between 
West 5th Street and West 2nd Street over the winter because those restrictions were not 
enforceable. 
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Staff recommends the following areas be designated as No Parking zones at this time: 

 Both sides of West 6th Street from the west edge of the Baker Avenue right of way 
to points 40 feet west, 

 The north side of West 6th Street, starting at a point 10 feet west of the projected 
west edge of the Lupfer Avenue right of way and ending at a point 95 feet to the 
east, 

 Both sides of West 5th Street (aka North Street) between Flint and Geddes Avenues, 
 Both sides of Geddes Avenue between West 5th Street (aka North Street) and West 

4th Street, 
 Both sides of Jennings Avenue between West 4th Street and West 3rd Street, 
 Both sides of West 3rd Street east of the projected west edge of Jennings Avenue, 

and 
 Both sides of Good Avenue, excluding a section on the east side of the road 

between 2 points located 100 and 180 feet north of the south edge of the West 3rd 
Street right of way. 

 
Staff further recommends designating a 30 Minute Loading Zone on the east side of Good 
Avenue between 2 points located 100 and 180 feet north of the south edge of the West 3rd 
Street right of way. 

 
The recommended No Parking zones will help ensure safe passage for traffic and 
emergency vehicles and will enable snow removal in a more efficient and effective manner.  
The recommended Loading Zone is intended to support loading and unloading needs for 
Power Sports West, a retail and repair shop which has operated at this location for many 
years. 
 
Financial Requirement 
The cost to install the necessary No Parking signs will be well under $1000.  The work will 
be performed by the Public Works Department.  Many poles are already in place and the 
signs removed over the winter months are stored at the City Shops.  Any remaining costs 
will be paid out of the Street Fund. 
 
Recommendation 
We respectfully recommend the City Council direct staff to prepare a resolution for their 
consideration at the May 5th City Council meeting.  That resolution would establish 
enforceable No Parking zones and a 30 minute Loading Zone along all or portions of West 
6th Street, West 5th Street (aka North Street), Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, West 3rd 
Street and Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West 2nd Street, as described above. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
John C. Wilson 
Public Works Director 
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April 15, 2014 
 
Dear Resident: 
 
This letter is to let you know a proposal to create No Parking zones along all or portions of 
West 6th Street, West 5th Street (aka North Street), Geddes Avenue, Jennings Avenue, 
West 3rd Street and Good Avenue, between Baker Avenue and West 2nd Street, will be 
considered at the next City Council meeting on April 21st.   
 
A drawing illustrating the proposed No Parking zones and one small loading zone is 
attached.  The meeting will begin at 7:10 p.m. at City Hall and the public is invited to attend. 
 
As you will recall, the City reconstructed the roadway and utilities along this route between 
Baker Avenue and West 2nd Street during the summers of 2012 and 2013.  During the 
design process, at various neighborhood and City Council meetings, we discussed the lack 
of right of way and the need for No Parking zones all along the route, except where the 
width of right of way enabled parking along 6th Street in the vicinity of Lupfer Avenue. 
 
The need was understood, No Parking signs were included on the construction plans, and 
the contractor installed many signs in the course of construction.  Unfortunately, the Public 
Works Department overlooked the requirement for specific action by the City Council in 
order to establish enforceable limits.  You may have noticed several No Parking signs were 
removed between West 5th Street and West 2nd Street over the winter because those 
restrictions were not enforceable. 
 
The City Council will consider a proposal on Monday, April 21st, to officially establish these 
No Parking zones as planned.  Anyone who wishes to comment on the proposal is invited to 
speak at the start of the meeting.  Those who prefer may provide written comments to the 
Public Works Department before 5:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting.  Written comments 
may be hand delivered to City Hall, mailed to P.O. Box 158 in Whitefish, or emailed to 
publicworks@cityofwhitefish.org.  Copies of all correspondence will be provided to the City 
Council. 
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions by stopping into City Hall, emailing 
me at jwilson@cityofwhitefish.org, or by calling me at 863.2455. 
 
Thank You 
 
 
John C. Wilson  
Public Works Director 
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November 6, 2013 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and City Councilors 
City of Whitefish 
Whitefish, Montana 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and Councilors 

Recommendation to Designate No Parking Zones  
Along the Route of the 6th and Geddes Street Reconstruction Project 

 
Introduction/History 
Following the recent completion of the 6th and Geddes Street Reconstruction Project, 
the Public Works Department is recommending the City Council officially designate No 
Parking zones along certain portions of 6th Street, O’Brien Avenue and Flint Street, as 
shown on the attached drawing. 

Current Report 
The route connecting Baker Avenue with West 2nd Street (running along West 6th Street, 
O’Brien Avenue, Flint Avenue, North Street (a.k.a. West 5th Street), Geddes Avenue, 
Jennings Avenue, West 3rd Street and Good Avenue) was recently reconstructed.  The 
public right of way is narrow all along this route and the new roadway includes curb and 
gutter where none existed before.  As a result, the roadway is too narrow to reasonably 
accommodate on-street parking.  Although other road segments along this route may 
benefit from parking restrictions in the future, the greatest need at this time is in the area 
with steeper grades and tight curves described below and shown on the attached 
drawing. 
 
Staff recommends the following areas be designated as No Parking zones at this time: 

 The north side of West Sixth Street from a point 150 west of Lupfer Avenue to 
Flint Avenue, 

 The south side of West Sixth Street from Lupfer Avenue to Flint Avenue, 
 Both sides of O’Brien Avenue between 265 West Sixth Street and 310 West 

Sixth Street, a distance of approximately 160 feet and 
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 Both sides of Flint Avenue, as well as the road radii at the intersection of Flint 
and North Street. 

 
The recommended No Parking zones will help ensure the safe passage for traffic and 
emergency vehicles and will enable snow removal in a more efficient and effective 
manner. 

Financial Requirement 
The cost to install the necessary No Parking signs in the recommended zones is 
approximately $500.  The work would be performed by the Public Works crews and the 
cost would be paid out of the Street Fund. 

Recommendation 
We respectfully recommend the City Council adopt the attached resolution to establish 
enforceable No Parking zones on portions of West 6th Street, O’Brien Avenue and Flint 
Avenue, as described. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
John C. Wilson 
Public Works Director 
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WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 
November 18, 2013   

 12 

8. COMMUNICATIONS FROM PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 
 

8a. Resolution No. 13-37; A Resolution establishing "No Parking" Zones on portions of West 
Sixth Street, O'Brien Avenue and Flint Street (6th and Geddes reconstruction project)  (p. 
251) 

 
Public Works Director Wilson said he worked with the Lookout Ridge developer quite a bit and 

Brian Fimian is a good man and it bothers to hear him insulted.  Director Wilson said he would like to 
hear the Council’s concerns or recommendations for modifications on the no parking zones. 

 
Councilor Mitchell said the major concern he heard from the neighbors is their loss of parking.  

Director Wilson said Bonnie Hannigan made a comment on Railway Street, which is also a narrow 
street.  Councilor Mitchell said from O’Brien east on W. 6th they should allow parking on both sides and 
on Flint they could take out one side.  That would address the neighbors’ issues.  Councilor Sweeney 
said he agrees that the streets are narrow.  He said on Railway he knows the streets are narrow and yet 
there is parking on both sides.  He asked and Director Wilson said W. 6th is 21 feet and Railway is 28 
feet according to Bonnie Hannigan’s measurements.  Councilor Sweeney said if they allowed parking on 
one side then they would have the same driving width they have on Railway Street.  Councilor Hildner 
said Chief Kennelley talked about access for fire apparatus.  Chief Kennelley said they can’t make the 
narrow turn with the fire equipment so any parking in the turn area prevents the emergency vehicle from 
turning.  Snow adds to the concern.  He said they wouldn’t have an issue if there was parking on the 
south side as long as it was back from the intersection at the bottom of the hill.  Director Wilson said if 
the Council wants to change things he has some suggestions.  He said the resolution is written with 3 
restrictions.  If they change the 2nd one regarding the south side it could read, “Staff recommends no 
parking on the south side of West 6th Street within 50 feet of the intersection at O’Brien and Flint and 
185 feet from the intersection at Lupfer Avenue.”  Councilor Mitchell asked and Director Wilson said 
185 feet would be required on Lupfer Avenue because of the steep hill, especially during winter 
conditions.  Councilor Sweeney said he has a hard time visualizing the need for 185 feet.  Director 
Wilson said allowing parking on one side on the narrow hill would be dangerous.   

 
Cheryl Sausen, 310 W. 6th Street, said there is a steep hill down W. 6th from Lupfer, but no one 

parks there.  She said the changes would make sense. 
 
Julia Olivares, 333 W. 6th Street, said plowing has been a problem on their road.  She is 

concerned about parking because the plow leaves a big berm as they come off Flint Street.  She said they 
are going to have more problems with just snow this year because of the narrowed street.  She said the 
plow needs to get all of the snow out so it doesn’t narrow the road more.   

 
Director Wilson said he could minimize the impact to the neighborhood and allow more parking 

except near the intersections, and he drew a map to show the Councilors.  He said the snowplow crews 
will need to take more care here since the road is narrow.  Manager Stearns said they can pass the 
resolution modified to the map that was presented by Director Wilson tonight. 

 
Councilor Mitchell offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Hyatt, to approve Resolution 

No. 13-37; A Resolution establishing "No Parking" Zones on portions of West Sixth Street, 
O'Brien Avenue and Flint Street (6th and Geddes reconstruction project) with the resolution 
modified to the map that was presented by Director Wilson tonight so there is no parking on the 
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WHITEFISH CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 
November 18, 2013   

 13 

south side of West 6th Street within 50 feet of the intersection at O’Brien and Flint and 185 feet 
from the intersection at Lupfer Avenue.” 

 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 

8b. Consideration of Amendment #3 to engineering consulting and design contract with 
Anderson-Montgomery Consulting Engineers for the Wastewater System Improvements 
Project  (p. 260) 

 
Director Wilson said the City entered in to a consultant contract with Anderson-Montgomery 

Consulting Engineers in October 2012 for the Wastewater System Improvements Project.  This long 
term contract will involve several amendments over the coming years as staff works through 
optimization of existing facilities, application and negotiation for a new wastewater discharge permit, 
long range planning and ultimately design and construction of major wastewater treatment plant 
upgrades to comply with new nutrient removal standards. 

 
They need to address an influent issue and recommend an amendment to that consultant contract 

in the amount of $62,499 for survey, engineering design and construction phase services, as necessary to 
extend the sewer force main serving the JP Road lift station. 

 
The sewer force main in question is the discharge line for the JP Road sewer pump station, which 

serves all properties within the City limits south of the Pizza Hut.  The JP Road force main discharges 
directly into Cell No. 1 near the southwest corner of the wastewater lagoon system, while all other 
sewage enters the plant by means of the River Interceptor and flows through the screening facility at the 
northwest corner of the plant.   

 
The City has experienced significant maintenance problems in our current operations due to rags, 

hair and debris entering the lagoons from the JP Road force main. This project will redirect flow from 
the JP Road sewer force main to the headworks and screening facility, where they can capture rags and 
debris before they enter the lagoons and also set the stage for continuing improvements.  Staff proposes 
to design the force main extension over the winter months, advertise for bids in June and construct the 
project in the summer of 2014. 

 
The proposed amendment will increase the amount of the consultant contract for the Wastewater 

System Improvements Project by $62,499, for a total contract amount of $428,210.  Funds for this 
amendment are included in the adopted FY14 Wastewater Budget. 

 
Councilor Hildner asked and Director Wilson said rags come through and clog up the system and 

there are several businesses that could cause it including the senior living area, the hospital and every 
business south of Pizza Hut.  They will talk to the businesses out there to see if they can help with this 
issue, too. 

 
Councilor Kahle offered a motion, seconded by Councilor Anderson, to approve 

Amendment #3 to the engineering consulting and design contract with Anderson-Montgomery 
Consulting Engineers for the Wastewater System Improvements Project in the amount of $62,499.   

 
Councilor Mitchell asked if it would be cheaper to do a screening facility down by the sewer 

ponds.  Director Wilson said it wouldn’t be much cheaper because the screens are significant mechanical 
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4/21/2014 

Mayor Muhlfeld and Councilers 

Regarding no parking on West 5th, Geddes, Jennings and Good. 

I attended every meeting regarding the planning of the Streets in this neighborhood.  From the first 
meetings we were told that there would be no parking on these streets. Because of limited right of way 
the design width of the streets did not allow for on street parking. 

Geddes Ave was so narrow that the my wife and I negotiated an easement for some of the utilities so a 
sidewalk and boulevard could be built. We were told again that there would be no parking on these 
streets. 

When the project was completed and on one of the final inspections I noted to Karen Hilding that one of 
the no parking signs on Jennings Ave had already been removed (stolen). Vehicles were already parking 
on the street there by allowing only one lane of traffic. 

During the past winter vehicles were parking on West 5th, Geddes, Jennings and Good. Because of the 
vehicles parking on the streets some parts of these streets were not plowed all winter which resulted in 
only one lane of traffic! Last week the City street sweeper came by and sections of West 5th and Geddes 
were not swept because of vehicles parked on the street. 

I was informed there was a “technicality” when the plans were approved by the City that has not 
allowed enforcement of the no parking zones. 

I had talked to one of the Council members about this issue in the past. 

I would strongly encourage the City Council to fix this problem by approving the no parking zones on 
West 5th, Geddes, Jenning and Good as shown on map prepared by John Wilson. 

I would also suggest if at all possible having no parking on both sides of West Sixth Street from Lupfer 
West to (the bottom of the hill) at  O’Brien Ave. This is a steep hill with a corner at the bottom. During 
the winter the street becomes very narrow.  The original plans called for no parking on this hill but in the 
fall of 2013 the signs were changed to allow parking on the hill but not the corner. During this past 
winter there were times that a person had to wait at the top or bottom of the hill for safe passage. 
There were times this past winter that vehicles were parked on the corner making it almost not 
passable.  

Thanks for your consideration 

Mark and Chris VanNyhuis 

415 Geddes Ave 

Whitefish, MT 
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Chuck Stearns

From: John Wilson <jwilson@cityofwhitefish.org>
Sent: Monday, April 21, 2014 3:03 PM
To: Andy Feury; Chuck Stearns; 'Frank Sweeney'; janderson@cityofwhitefish.org; Jen 

Frandsen; John Muhlfeld; Necile Lorang; Pam Barberis; 'Richard Hildner'
Subject: FW: no parking on West 6th Good, Jennings,Geddes & w 5th

Below is the only comment we have received thus far in response to our public notice about tonight’s 
discussion of No Parking zones along the 6th and Geddes project route. 
 
John Wilson 
Whitefish Public Works Director 
P.O. Box 158 
418 East Second Street 
Whitefish, MT  59937 
Phone   406.863.2455 
 
 
 

From: Jerry Luderman [mailto:vsrealty@bresnan.net]  
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2014 9:49 AM 
To: jwilson@cityofwhitefish.org 
Subject: no parking on West 6th Good, Jennings,Geddes & w 5th 
 
Good morning Mr. Wilson, 
I live on east end of west 4th St and I encourage you to adopt a no parking resolution on the above referenced 
streets.  I tow a 29ft camper trailer from time to time in the summer and my son‐in‐law who lives across the 
street from me tows a 5th wheel camper with a 18 ft boat behind it and  
If vehicles are parked on either side of these streets, it is very difficult to get around them and once in a while if 
there are cars parked on both sides of the road at the same time it is impossible to drive thru . 
Parking on these streets has been very inconvenient this past winter but unless parking is prohibited,  the 
inconvenience will become more exaggerated as summer arrives and  towed campers and boats  become more 
frequent. 
Thank you for your kind consideration 
Jerry Luderman 
132 West 4th Street 
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April 28, 2014 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and City Councilors 
City of Whitefish 
Whitefish, Montana 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and Councilors 

Staff Recommendation to Move Somers Avenue Up on the  
Street Reconstruction Priority List 

 
Introduction/History 
At their last meeting on April 16th, the Resort Tax Monitoring Committee (RTMC) voted to 
recommend Somers Avenue be designated as the project to follow the West 7th Street on 
the Street Reconstruction Priority List.  The scope of work would include roadway 
reconstruction, water main replacement and drainage improvements from East 2nd to East 
8th Street, with new curb, gutters, sidewalks and street lights. 
 
This memo is to recommend the City Council approve that amendment to the Street 
Reconstruction Priority List.  A copy of the current Street Reconstruction Priority List is 
attached, along with a map of the proposed Somers Project area. 
 
Current Report 
The next four priority projects following West 7th Street are Edgewood Place, Karrow 
Avenue, State Park Road and Somers Avenue, in that order. 
 
The greatest need on East Edgewood Place is for storm drainage and sidewalk 
improvements.  Karrow Avenue is in reasonable condition, although a new bicycle and 
pedestrian path would provide a useful connection in the City trial system.  State Park Road 
has substantial needs for drainage improvements to serve the surrounding area.  A 
proposed bicycle/pedestrian trail would also provide a useful connection between Highway 
93 and the State Park.  Somers Avenue has the greatest infrastructure needs of the four, 
with deteriorated asphalt, an 80+ year old cast iron water main subject to leaks and 
ineffective storm drainage. 
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Our recent Capital Improvement Plans have included a concept to reconstruct Somers 
Avenue from East 2nd to East 8th street as a phased project, over a 7 to 8 year period, using 
a combination of Street, Water, and Stormwater funds.  We tried this approach because the 
need is so great and Somers Avenue is currently 7 to 8 years out on the priority list.  We 
budgeted for design and Phase I construction in FY 2014, but soon discovered the grades 
to be such that extensive sections of new curb and gutter would be required.   
 
This was conceived as a bare bones project, without new curb and gutter; and for that 
matter without new sidewalks or street light improvements.  Additional Street funds are not 
available for a Somers Avenue project while continuing to meet needs in other areas.  A full 
street reconstruction is needed, but that requires a higher level of funding that is available 
only to Resort Tax projects.  So the choices for Somers Avenue are to move it up on the 
Resort Tax priority list and plan a project for sometime around 2017/2018 or work with the 
current priority list and wait for a project sometime around 2021/2022. 
 
Council direction on this matter will facilitate Public Works’ planning for interim maintenance 
on Somers Avenue. 
 
Financial Requirement 
The proposed action does not involve an immediate financial requirement.  Although a 
detailed estimate is not available, we expect the cost of engineering and construction for a 
Somers Avenue project would be around $1,500,000 to $1,750,000 in today’s dollars.   
 
Recommendation 
We respectfully recommend the City Council amend the Street Reconstruction Priority List 
to rank Somers Avenue as the #2 project, immediately following the West 7th Street project. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
John C. Wilson 
Public Works Director 
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Location

1 West 7th Street Fairway Drive to Baker Avenue
2 Edgewood Place West of Wisconsin
3 Karrow Avenue West 2nd Street to West 7th Street
4 State Park Road South of the Railroad Tracks
5 Somers Avenue South of East 2nd Street
6 Denver Street Wisconsin Avenue to Texas Avenue
7 East 5th Street Baker Avenue to Pine Avenue
8 East 4th Street Pine Avenue to Willow Brook
9 Fir Avenue East 2nd Street to East 4th Street
10 Armory Road East 2nd Street to Armory Park
11 Texas Avenue
12 Glenwood Road
13 Iowa Avenue
14 East 6th Street Central Avenue to Pine Avenue
15 Dakota Avenue Marina Crest Lane to Glenwood Road
16 10th Street Baker Avenue to O'Brien Avenue
17 Park Avenue South of East 7th Street
18 O'Brien Avenue East 2nd Street to the Whitefish River
19 Oregon Avenue and Woodland Place East of Washington Avenue
20 Park Avenue East 2nd Street to East 7th Street
21 Idaho Avenue
22 Waverly Place Idaho Avenue to Dakota Avenue
23 Minnesota Avenue Edgewood Place to Skyles Place
24 Parkway Drive
25 East 3rd Street Fir Avenue to Shareview Alley
26 Waverly Place Dakota to Iowa Avenue
27 Montana Avenue Edgewood Place to Skyles Place
28 East 3rd Street Kalispell Avenue to Columbia Avenue
29 Riverside Drive
30 Birch Hill Drive
31 East 10th Street Columbia Avenue to Park Avenue
32 Barkley Lane
33 Kalispell Avenue East 4th Street to Riverside Drive
34 West 10th Street Baker Avenue to Spokane Avenue
35 Cedar Street
36 East 8th Street Spokane Avenue to Park Avenue
37 Waverly Place Colorado Avenue to Texas Avenue
38 Ramsey Avenue
39 Lakeside Boulevard Washington Avenue to Skyles Place
40 Skyles Place Montana Avenue to Dakota Avenue
41 Hazel Place, Minnesota Avenue north of Hazel, and Pine Place
42 Birch Point Drive
43 Lupfer Avenue West 6th Street to West 8th Street
44 Scott Avenue West 7th Street to West 8th Street
45 Dakota Avenue Edgewood Place to Skyles Place
46 Woodland Place Iowa Avenue to Dakota Avenue
47 Parkhill Drive and West 3rd Street Highway 93 to Good Avenue
48 West 4th Street Karrow Avenue to Jennings Avenue
49 Central Avenue South of East 3rd Street

Project

Whitefish Street Reconstruction Priorities
Street Reconstruction Priorities
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MANAGER REPORT 
April 30, 2014 
 
 
 
COREY SWISHER RESIGNATION 
 
As the Mayor and City Council know, Corey Swisher resigned as Assistant City Manager/Finance 
Director abruptly on Friday, April 25th.   I did not see Corey that morning and when I went into 
his office to see if he was ready to work on the budget, I found a handwritten note saying that he 
was resigning for continuing health concerns.   Corey and I had talked many times about budget 
and project deadlines and I think the pending deadlines created too much stress and anxiety for 
him.   I will talk with the Mayor before beginning any process to hire a replacement.    For now, I 
will try to get a budget completed, but it may not be as descriptive and have as many graphics as 
prior budgets have had.    
 
 
THIRD QUARTER FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
One deadline that Corey kept missing was to complete a third quarter financial report.   My doing 
such a report will be impossible given the workload, but I wanted to give you some idea about our 
finances at the third quarter.   It is difficult because I noticed, in looking at the end of March 
financial statements which Corey printed out and left on Friday, he had not done all of the month 
end transfers for March.   Thus, after accounting for some transfers, our General Fund cash balance 
would still have been 24% higher than one year ago, at $882,430 compared to $709,995 a year 
ago.    
 
Building Fund cash balance this year on March 31st was $175,037 compared to $20,518 last year.  
At March 31st, the Building Code Fund revenue had already exceeded the entire year budget by 
23% or $67,386.   April, May and June typically account for 32% of building permit revenue, so 
total revenue in this fund will greatly exceed the budget by the end of June and we will be able to 
repay a significant amount of the outstanding loan that the Building Fund owes to the General 
Fund.   
 
The Water Fund operating cash balance was $473,465 higher than last year at $1,496,288 
compared to $1,022,823 last year.   The Wastewater Fund operating balance was at $336,013 
compared to last year’s figure of $427,009 which is a $90,906 decrease.    
 
 
NEW POLICE OFFICER – CHRIS BORDIN 
 
The Police Department hired a new officer, Chris Bordin, who began work on April 28th.    Officer 
Bordin was hired as the replacement officer for Officer Tim Schuch who was promoted to become 
the new School Resource Officer on the Police Department.   The Police Department still has one 
vacancy, but we have given that officer a conditional offer of employment and he will begin in 
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late June.  That officer is a replacement officer for Officer Jason Acheson who resigned last 
November. 
 
 
 
LIBRARY AWARD 
 
The Whitefish Community Library received an Excellent Library Service Award from the 
Montana State Library Commission.  A copy of that award is in the packet with this report.   
   
 
MEETINGS 
 
Flathead Regional Wastewater Management Group (4/17) – John Anderson and I attended this 
meeting.  This group was begun with a grant that Flathead County received several years ago to 
look at the possibility of a regional wastewater plant and/or other ways to cooperate among 
wastewater discharge plants.  It also began to focus on non-point sources of pollutions including 
septic systems and the land application of septage.     Currently, the group is continuing to meet 
and may try to organize a meeting of the three cities and Flathead County to review the septic 
report that the group received from Carver Engineering.   That meeting may get scheduled for the 
fifth Monday in September, September 29th.   More on that meeting will be forthcoming.   
 
WAVE Board meeting (4/23) – I attended the bi-monthly meeting of the WAVE Board of 
Directors as I am a member of the Board.   We toured the expansion construction site and received 
an update on the construction project.   The construction project is scheduled to be complete by 
the end of May.   Most of the rest of the meeting involved the normal Board review of finances 
and operations and other regular committee reports.    
 
Cemetery Committee (4/24) – I attended the Cemetery Committee meeting.    We are currently 
doing additional groundwater testing at the proposed site south of the Wastewater Treatment Plant.   
The committee also reviewed some new 5 and 10 acre sites that have gone on the market recently 
and we will do get some follow-up information on one 5 acre site.   
 
 
UPCOMING SPECIAL EVENTS 
 
 
REMINDERS 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
Chuck Stearns, City Manager 
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MEMORANDUM 
#2014-015 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Mayor John Muhlfeld 
 City Councilors 

From: Chuck Stearns, City Manager  
 
Re: Staff Report – Construction contract award for Depot Park Restrooms at the 

O’Shaughnessy Center 
 
Date: April 23, 2014 
 
 
Introduction/History 
 
Karl Cozad, former Parks and Recreation Director, came to the City Council on March 17th, 
2014 for authorization to go out to bid for the Depot Park Restrooms as an addition to the 
O’Shaughnessy Center.    The City Council approved going out to bid for the restrooms which 
had an engineer’s estimate of $191,838.   Karl’s staff report, architectural drawings, and the 
engineer’s cost estimate are attached in the packet.    
 
 
Current Report 
 
We opened bids on April 16th and the following were the bid results: 
 
Meredith Construction - $191,500.00 
Swank Enterprises -  $213,500.00 
Camas Creek Contracting - $218,757.00 
 
All three bidders said they could meet the August 8, 2014 completion date. 
 
 
Financial Requirement 
 
Karl’s original budget request one year ago was $100,000 so that is what was budgeted in the 
Tax Increment Fund.   However,  the rest of Depot Park Master Plan Phase 2 project had an 
additional budget of $547,000 in the TIF, so this contract award will cut into the remainder of the 
Depot Park Phase 2 improvements.  The primary remaining improvement in Phase 2 is the 
construction of a gazebo in the southeast corner of Depot Park.    
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Recommendation 
 
City staff respectfully recommends that the City Council award the construction contract for the 
Depot Park Restrooms at the O’Shaughnessy Center to Meredith Construction in the amount of 
$191,500.00 and direct us to return the bid security at the appropriate time.   
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Whitefish Depot Park Rest Rooms

 BID TABULATION
April 16, 2014

Contractor      License #   Base Bid Price 

Bid 

Security 

Attached

Acknowledge 

Addendum #1

Acknowledge 

Addendum #2

Completion Date - 

August 8, 2014 or 

as noted below

Swank Enterprises 2146-A 213,500$                                            Yes Yes Yes 8-Aug-14

Meredith Construction Company 6589 191,500$                                            Yes Yes Yes 8-Aug-14

Camas Creek Contracting, LLC 151961 218,757$                                            Yes Yes Yes 8-Aug-14
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March 17, 2014 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and Whitefish City Council  
City of Whitefish 
Whitefish, Montana 
 
Mayor Muhlfeld and City Councilors, 
 
      Recommendation to solicit bids for downtown restroom project  
 
Introduction/History 
 
For many years the downtown core area of Whitefish has been without a designated public restroom. 
Visitors have typically utilized the restroom facilities at the Library, or on occasion, the restrooms at 
the Train Depot, neither of these facilities is designed, nor maintained, for the ever increasing 
demand as generated by the increased popularity of downtown Whitefish. Over the years special 
events and weekly events during the course of the summer and fall seasons continue to grow in size 
and scope and create even greater attendance in Depot Park and surrounding venues. In 2012 the 
city adopted the Depot Park Master Plan for the development and enhancement of Depot Park. 
Within the Depot Park Master Plan, it was proposed to consider the opportunity to add a public 
restroom to the exterior of the O’Shaughnessy Performing Arts Center (see Depot Park Master Plan). 
This option appears to be a viable solution to meeting the needs of providing a designated public 
restroom in the downtown area of Whitefish. It should also be noted that the development of a 
downtown restroom facility has been on the city council “goals list” for the past few years. 
 
Current Report 
 
Over the course of the past year, staff has been working with Millette Architecture, P.C., and Morrison 
and Maierle Engineering, along with representatives of the O’Shaughnessy Performing Arts Center, in 
developing plans for the construction of a restroom addition to the O’Shaughnessy Performing Arts 
Center. (see elevation drawings) It is feeling that with this addition we will meet the goals of both the 
city council and the Depot Park Master Plan in meeting the identified needs of providing a downtown 
public restroom facility. The downtown restroom facility would be open to the public 12 months of year 
and would have lockable doors with designated hours of operation very similar to our current 
operations at Baker Park, City Beach, and Grouse Mountain Park, with only difference being that 
these facilities are only open seasonally.   
 
 
Financial Requirement 
 
The estimate of construction as provided by the Architect and Engineering firms is $191,838. (see 
attached breakdown). Proposed funding for this project would be the utilization TIF funds as part of 
the Depot Park Development Plan as identified in the Depot Park Master Plan. 
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Recommendation 
 
It is the staff recommendation that the Whitefish City Council authorize the public notice and 
solicitation for bids for the construction of the downtown restroom project, with the first notice being 
given on Sunday, March 23, 2014, and bid opening scheduled for Monday, April 14, 2014.  
  
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Karl Cozad 
Director 
Parks, Recreation, and Community Services 
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MEMORANDUM 
#2014-016 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Mayor John Muhlfeld 
 City Councilors 

From: Chuck Stearns, City Manager  
 
Re: Staff Report – Contract with Mosaic Architecture of Helena, MT  for the design of a future 

City Hall and Parking Structure 
 
Date: April 29, 2014 
 
 
Introduction/History 
 
On December 11, 2013, the City Hall Steering Committee held a design competition among four 
architectural firms who were the finalists selected for the City Hall architectural design project.    
The City Hall Steering Committee subsequently met and decided to recommend Mosaic 
Architecture of Helena, MT as the preferred architectural firm to negotiate a contract with.   The 
City Council approved their recommendation that we negotiate a contract with Mosaic 
Architecture at the City Council meeting on January 21, 2014.   
 
 
Current Report 
 
I have worked with Ben Tintinger of Mosaic Architecture since January on a contract and scope 
of services.    Attached in the packet is the proposed contract and Mary VanBuskirk prepared and 
reviewed the contract form (not the exhibits).    The contract will outline all the phases of 
architectural and engineering work, however, we will only authorize proceeding with one phase 
at a time.   The contract can be terminated by either party at the end of each phase, so our initial 
obligation is only for Phase 1 work of design and development.   Much of that work will involve 
meeting with each department that will be located in City Hall and meeting with the City Hall 
Steering Committee.     
 
Financial Requirement 
 
The cost of the work for Phase 1 is estimated to be $ 65,650.00 for architectural services and 
$8,000.00 for Phase 1 services of Kimley-Horn, the engineering company.    There is a 
spreadsheet attached to the contract as Exhibit B providing showing the cost for Phase 1.    
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Recommendation 
 
City staff respectfully recommends that the City Council approve a Professional Architectural 
Services Contract with Mosaic Architecture of Helena, MT with the first phase not to exceed 
$73,650.00.    
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PROFESSIONAL ARCHITECTURAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into this _____ day of ____________, 20___, 
by and between the CITY OF WHITEFISH, MONTANA, a municipal corporation organized 
and existing under the laws of the State of Montana, PO Box 158, Whitefish, Montana 59937, 
hereinafter referred to as "City", and Mosaic Architecture, 428 North Last Chance Gulch, Helena. 
Montana 59601, hereinafter referred to as "Architect/Engineer". 

 
In consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, the receipt and 

sufficiency whereof being hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 
1. Purpose:  City agrees to hire Architect/Engineer as an independent contractor to 

perform for City services described in the Scope of Services attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and by 
this reference made a part hereof. 

 
2. Effective Date:  This Agreement is effective upon the date of its execution and will 

terminate 30 months after the start of construction unless terminated earlier per other sections of 
this contract. 

 
3. Scope of Work:  Architect/Engineer will perform the work and provide the 

services in accordance with the requirements of the Scope of Services. 
 
4. Payment:  City agrees to pay Architect/Engineer an amount not to exceed Sixty 

Thousand Dollars ($65,700) for Phase 1 services performed pursuant to the Scope of Services.  In 
addition, an amount of not-to-exceed $5,000 will be paid for the Parking Garage consultant’s 
(Kimley Horn) on-site labor charge ($5000 per visit) and $3000 in project reimbursables (travel 
expenses) for $8,000 total. Payment for subsequent phased services will be added through 
addendum to this contract as agreed by both parties.   Any alteration or deviation from the 
described work that involves extra costs will be performed by Architect/Engineer after written 
request by the City, and will become an extra charge over and above the contract amount.  The 
parties must agree in writing upon any extra charges.  
 
The anticipated phases, additional services, and methodology for estimating fees based on scope 
of construction cost is attached as Exhibit B.  This worksheet will be used at the completion of 
Phase 1 in order to establish fees for later phases of the work. 
 

5. Independent Contractor Status:  The parties agree that Architect/Engineer is an 
independent contractor for purposes of this Agreement and is not to be considered an employee of 
the City for any purpose.  Architect/Engineer is not subject to the terms and provisions of the City's 
personnel policies handbook and may not be considered a City employee for workers' 
compensation or any other purpose.  Architect/Engineer is not authorized to represent the City or 
otherwise bind the City in any dealings between Architect/Engineer and any third parties. 

 
Architect/Engineer shall comply with the applicable requirements of the Workers' 

Compensation Act, Title 39, Chapter 71, MCA, and the Occupational Disease Act of Montana, 
Title 39, Chapter 71, MCA.  Architect/Engineer shall maintain workers' compensation coverage 
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for all members and employees of Architect/Engineer's business, except for those members who 
are exempted by law. 

 
Architect/Engineer shall furnish the City with copies showing one of the following:  (1) a 

binder for workers' compensation coverage by an insurer licensed and authorized to provide 
workers' compensation insurance in the State of Montana; or (2) proof of exemption from workers' 
compensation granted by law for independent contractors. 

 
6. Indemnity and Insurance:  Architect/Engineer agrees to indemnify, defend and 

save the City, its officers, agents and employees harmless from any and all losses, damage and 
liability occasioned by, growing out of, or in any way arising or resulting from any intentional or 
negligent act on the part of Architect/Engineer or Architect/Engineer's agents or employees.  For 
this purpose, Architect/Engineer shall provide City with proof of Architect/Engineer's liability 
insurance issued by a reliable company or companies for personal injury and property damage, in 
an amount not less than $1.5 million for each occurrence.  The insurance must be in a form suitable 
to City. 

 
Architect/Engineer shall maintain, during the term of this contract, Professional Errors 

and Omissions Insurance in the minimum amount of $1.5 million. 
 
7. Professional Service:  Architect/Engineer agrees that all services and work 

performed hereunder will be accomplished in a professional manner. 
 
8. Compliance with Laws:  Architect/Engineer agrees to comply with all federal, 

state and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations, including the safety rules, codes, and 
provisions of the Montana Safety Act in Title 50, Chapter 71, MCA.  Architect/Engineer will 
purchase a City business license. 

 
9. Nondiscrimination:  Architect/Engineer agrees that all hiring by 

Architect/Engineer of persons performing this Agreement will be on the basis of merit and 
qualification and will not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, political ideas, 
sex, age, marital status, physical or mental disability, or national origin. 

 
10. Default and Termination:  If either party fails to comply with any condition of 

this Agreement at the time or in the manner provided for, the other party, at its option, may 
terminate this Agreement and be released from all obligations if the default is not cured within ten 
(10) days after written notice is provided to the defaulting party.  Said notice shall set forth the 
items to be cured.  Additionally, the non-defaulting party may bring suit for damages, specific 
performance, and any other remedy provided by law.  These remedies are cumulative and not 
exclusive.  Use of one remedy does not preclude use of the others.  Notices shall be provided in 
writing and hand-delivered or mailed to the parties at the addresses set forth in the first paragraph 
of this Agreement.  Moreover, either party may terminate this Agreement for any reason at the end 
of each Phase of services as described in Exhibit A. 

 
11. Modification and Assignability:  This document contains the entire agreement 

between the parties and no statements, promises or inducements made by either party or agents of 
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either party, which are not contained in this written Agreement, may be considered valid or 
binding.  This Agreement may not be enlarged, modified or altered except by written agreement 
signed by both parties hereto.  The Architect/Engineer may not subcontract or assign 
Architect/Engineer's rights, including the right to compensation or duties arising hereunder, 
without the prior written consent of City.  Any subcontractor or assignee will be bound by all of 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 

 
12. Ownership and Publication of Materials:  All reports, information, data, and 

other materials prepared by the Architect/Engineer pursuant to this Agreement are the property of 
the City.  The City has the exclusive and unrestricted authority to release, publish or otherwise use, 
in whole or part, information relating thereto.  Any re-use without written verification or adaptation 
by the Architect/Engineer for the specific purpose intended will be at the City's sole risk and 
without liability or legal exposure to the Architect/Engineer.  No material produced in whole or in 
part under this Agreement may be copyrighted or patented in the United States or in any other 
country without the prior written approval of the City. 

 
13. Liaison:  City's designated liaison with Architect/Engineer is Charles C. Stearns, 

City Manager, and Architect/Engineer's designated liaison with City is Ben Tintinger, President. 
 
14. Applicability:  This Agreement and any extensions hereof shall be governed and 

construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Montana. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this instrument the day and 

year first above written. 
 
 
CITY OF WHITEFISH, MONTANA 
  a municipal corporation 
 
 
By:   
 Charles C. Stearns, City Manager 

 
Mosaic Architecture          
ARCHITECT/ENGINEER (Type Name 
Above) 
 
 
By:   
Printed Name: Ben Tintinger 
Printed Title: President 
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EXHIBIT A  
 
DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES:   

1) Article 1, Services to be Performed, shall include services as described below.  This scope of work includes 
full architectural and engineering services to complete a new facility for the Whitefish City Hall and 
Parking Structure. Each portion of these services will be considered a separate phase (Phase 1, 2, 3, etc.) 
and the Description of Services for each phase shall be added to Exhibit A.   

2) Add Exhibit B, Compensation for Additional Phased Services attached hereto. 
 
 
A. DESIGN SERVICES TO BE PERFORMED  
 
A.1 PROJECT ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT 
 

A.1.1 The Architect/Engineer shall be responsible for managing all the Architect/Engineer’s services and 
administration of the Project in accordance with this Agreement.  The Architect/Engineer shall consult 
with the City, research applicable design criteria, attend Project meetings, maintain a Project contact list, 
communicate with members of the Project team, issue progress reports and meeting minutes.  The 
Architect/Engineer shall coordinate the services provided by the Architect/Engineer and the 
Architect/Engineer’s consultants with those services provided by the City and the City’s consultants. 

 
A.1.2 Upon request of the City, the Architect/Engineer shall make presentations to explain the Program, 

concepts, and basis for design of the Project to representatives of the City. 
 

A.1.3 The Architect/Engineer shall submit documents to the City at intervals appropriate to the programming 
and concept process for purposes of evaluation and approval by the City.  The Architect/Engineer shall 
be entitled to rely on approvals received from the City in the further development of the design. 

 
A.1.4 The Architect/Engineer shall assist the City in connection with the City’s responsibility for filing 

documents required for the approval of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. 
 

A.1.5 The Architect/Engineer shall consider the value of alternative materials, building systems and 
equipment, and life-cycle costs together with other considerations based on program, budget and 
aesthetics in developing the design for the Project. 

 
 
PHASE 1 
B. PROGRAMMING AND CONCEPTS  
 

B.1.1 The Programming shall commence with the execution of the Agreement and shall be complete with the 
City’s approval and acceptance of the Programming Documents. 

 
B.1.2 The Programming effort shall provide the following: 

 
B.1.2.1 develop and define the needs for the Project based upon the City’s preliminary project program (if 

any) and other information acquired  through the data gathering process, review of the City’s 
Downtown Master Plan, interviews, charettes, surveys and operational parameters; 
 

B.1.2.2 plan and provide a design charette to include city employees and the City Hall Steering Committee 
members early in the programming effort;  it may be before or after interviews with all City 
departments; 

 
B.1.2.3 review, develop, and document detailed requirements for the project, covering items such as design 

objectives, limitations, and criteria; gross area and space requirements; spatial relationships; needs 
and options for flexibility or expandability; special equipment and systems; site requirements; 
project schedule and budget requirements; 
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B.1.2.4 space concepts and flow diagrams, functional relationships, access, circulation, and flow patterns 

within the building and on the site; 
 

B.1.2.5 existing facilities will require additional research to review existing conditions, assembling and 
reviewing information to identify and document areas to be involved in alterations, additions, 
repairs or demolition; and, 

 
B.1.2.6 define and develop programmatic and conceptual level documents per the following: 

 
B.1.2.6.1 Architectural - services responding to the programming and project requirements and 

consisting of preparation of conceptual site and building diagrams for each level or 
floor, investigation of alternative approaches, key diagrammatic sections, typical 
diagrammatic elevations, preliminary selection/recommendation of building systems 
and materials, development of approximate dimensions, areas and volumes, and 
review of project documents presently consisting of site surveys; 

B.1.2.6.2 Structural - recommendations regarding conceptual structural materials and systems; 
B.1.2.6.3 Mechanical and Electrical - for mechanical design, consideration and 

recommendations regarding systems and equipment, development of conceptual 
design solutions for energy sources/conservation and general space requirements.  
For electrical design, consideration and recommendations regarding basic electrical 
systems and equipment, analysis and development of conceptual design solutions for 
energy sources/conservation, service distribution, emergency back-up power, and 
general space requirements; Coordinate with City’s telecommunications and data 
contractor for telephone, IT, and technology requirements.  Coordinate with City’s 
electrician while working on electrical design.   

B.1.2.6.4 Civil - site planning analysis including layout of site features, building position, 
general topography, location of paving for walkways, driveways and parking.  Also 
includes normal connections for building utilities such as water, sewer, gas/steam 
and power.  Coordinate with Montana Department of Transportation regarding turn 
radius requirements for the intersection at East 2nd Street and Baker Avenue.; 

B.1.2.6.5 Budget - develop the project budget in conjunction with the City and assist in the 
analysis of soft or development costs and establishment of a construction cost.  
Provide a conceptual level cost estimate of the master plan concept designs; and, 

B.1.2.6.6 Scheduling/Phasing - review and analysis of the project schedule and phasing plan 
developed along with the project program. 

 
B.1.3 The Programming Document shall contain the following items: 
 

B.1.3.1 Executive Summary with Project Statement; 
 
B.1.3.2 Project Summary and Design Goals; 

 
B.1.3.3 Space Program including work flow analysis and an update of the City’s space needs study; 

 
B.1.3.4 Planning and Design Criteria including, but not limited to, codes, zoning, clustering and 

layout criteria, building massing, blocking and stacking diagrams, space planning module, 
dimensional criteria, envelope interface, physical accessibility and ADA, style issues and 
constraints; 

 
B.1.3.5 Building Performance Criteria including, but not limited to, general notes and comments on:  

building envelope, structure, interior construction, HVAC systems, plumbing systems, fire 
suppression systems, electrical systems, security systems, and 
telecommunications/information technology systems; 
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B.1.3.6 Site Requirements including, but not limited to, preliminary building siting, site analysis, 
parking, traffic flow, grading and landscaping; 

 
B.1.3.7 Budget and cost of the work involving estimates of construction, design fees and all other 

identifiable costs; and, 
 

B.1.3.8 Schedules for funding, design and construction. 
 

B.1.4 For the purposes of Commissioning, the Architect/Engineer shall provide a separate Basis of Design 
describing the general scope of systems to be incorporated into the Project. 

 
B.1.5 The Architect/Engineer shall provide a digital pdf file of Programming Documents including Estimate 

of Construction for review and approval to the City’s point of contact.  
 

 
B.2 EVALUATION OF THE BUDGET AND ESTIMATE OF CONSTRUCTION COST 
 

B.2.1 When the Project Program requirements have been sufficiently identified, the Architect/Engineer shall 
prepare an Estimate of Construction Cost.  This estimate may be based on current area, volume, similar 
conceptual or recent construction history estimating techniques.  As the programming process progresses 
through the end of the preparation of the Programming Documents, the Architect/Engineer shall update 
and refine the Estimate of Construction Cost.  The Architect/Engineer shall advise the City of any 
adjustments to previous Estimates indicated by changes in Project requirements or general market 
conditions.  If at any time the Architect/Engineer’s Estimate of Construction Cost exceeds the City’s 
budget, the Architect/Engineer shall make appropriate recommendations to the City to adjust the 
Project’s size, quality or budget, and the City shall cooperate with the Architect/Engineer in making such 
adjustments. 

 
B.2.2 Evaluations of the City’s budget for the Project, the Estimate of Construction Cost and updated Estimates 

of Construction Cost prepared by the Architect/Engineer represent the Architect/Engineer’s judgment as 
a design professional familiar with the construction industry.  It is recognized, however, that neither the 
Architect/Engineer nor the City has control over the cost of labor, materials or equipment, over the 
Contractor’s methods of determining bid prices, or over competitive bidding, market or negotiating 
conditions.  Accordingly, the Architect/Engineer cannot and does not warrant or present that bids or 
negotiated prices will not vary from the City’s budget for the Project or from any Estimate of 
Construction Cost or evaluation prepared or agreed to by the Architect/Engineer. 

 
B.2.3 The Construction Cost is part of the Project Budget and shall be the total cost or, to the extent the Project 

is not completed, the estimated cost to the City of all elements of the Project designed or specified by 
the Architect/Engineer.  Estimates of Construction Cost shall include the cost at projected market rates 
of labor and materials and equipment designed, specified, selected or specially provided for by the 
Architect/Engineer, including the costs of management or supervision of construction or installation 
provided by a separate construction manager or contractor, plus a reasonable allowance for their 
overhead and profit.  The Estimate of Construction Cost does include “Development Costs” which 
identify lines items for professional fees, additional services, construction materials testing, etc., and any 
line items provided by the City that will be helpful in defining the total ‘Project Cost’.  

 
 
 
B.3 SITE SERVICES  
 

B.3.1 Access and Protection of Property.  The Architect/Engineer shall contact the City for information 
regarding access to the site and shall take all reasonable precautions to prevent damage to property, 
visible and concealed, and shall reasonably restore the site to the condition existing prior to the 
Architect/Engineer's entry, including, but not limited to, repair of curbs, sidewalks, lawns and plantings, 
alleys, and adjacent buildings in the same block. 
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B.3.2 Site and Topographical Surveys.  The Architect/Engineer shall furnish surveys to describe physical 

characteristics, legal limitations and utility locations for the site of the Project, and a written legal 
description of the site unless such surveys are specifically provided by the City.  The surveys and legal 
information shall include, as applicable, grades and lines of streets, alleys, pavements and adjoining 
property and structures; adjacent drainage; rights-of-way, restrictions, easements, encroachments, 
zoning, deed restrictions, boundaries and contours of the site; locations, dimensions and necessary data 
with respect to existing buildings, other improvements and trees; and information concerning available 
utility services and lines, both public and private, above and below grade, including inverts and depths.  
All the information on the survey shall be referenced to a Project benchmark that is permanent and 
readily identifiable and of the City’s choosing. 

 
B.3.2.1 Site Survey Requirements 

 
B.3.2.1.1 Show boundary lines (if any), giving length and bearing (including reference 

of basis) on each straight line; interior angles; radius, point of tangency and 
length of curved lines.  Where no monument exists, set permanent iron pin 
(monument) or other suitable permanent monument at property corners; drive 
pin into ground adequately to prevent movement, mark with wood stake; state 
on drawings whether corners were found or set and describe each; 

B.3.2.1.2 Confirm or furnish a legal description which conforms to the Record Title 
Boundaries.  Prior to making this survey, the Surveyor shall, insofar as 
possible, acquire data including, but not limited to, deeds, maps certificates 
or abstracts of title, section line and other boundary line locations in the 
vicinity; 

B.3.2.1.3 Give area in square feet if less than one acre, in acres (to .001 acre) if over 
one acre; 

B.3.2.1.4 Note identity, jurisdiction and width of adjoining streets and highways, width 
and type of pavement.  Identify any landmarks; 

B.3.2.1.5 Plot location of structures on the property and on adjacent property within 50 
feet.  Dimension perimeters in feet and inches to nearest ½ inch.  State the 
character and number of stories.  Dimension to property lines and other 
buildings.  Vacant parcels shall be noted as VACANT; 

B.3.2.1.6 Show encroachments, including cornices, belt courses, etc., either way across 
property lines; 

B.3.2.1.7 Describe fences and walls, identify party walls and locate them with respect 
to property lines; 

B.3.2.1.8 Show recorded or otherwise known easements and rights-of-way; state the 
City of right of each; 

B.3.2.1.9 Note possibilities of prescriptive rights-of-way and the nature of each; 
B.3.2.1.10 Show individual lot lines and block numbers; show street numbers of 

buildings if available; 
B.3.2.1.11 Show zoning of property; if more than one zone, show the extent of each.  

Show zoning of adjacent property and property across the street(s) or 
highway(s); 

B.3.2.1.12 Give names of City’s of adjacent property; and, 
B.3.2.1.13 Reconcile or explain any discrepancies between the survey and the recorded 

legal description. 
 

B.3.2.2 Topographical Survey Requirements:  
 

B.3.2.2.1 Provide minimum of one permanent benchmark on site for each four acres; 
description and elevation to nearest .01'; 

B.3.2.2.2 Draw contours at 1 foot intervals; 
B.3.2.2.3 Spot elevation at each intersection of a grid covering the property at sufficient 

spacing to assure reasonable accuracy in constructing contour lines; 
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B.3.2.2.4 Spot elevations at street intersections and at 20 foot intervals on curb, 
sidewalk and edge of paving, including far side of paving; 

B.3.2.2.5 Plot location of structures, above and below ground, man-made (e.g., paved 
areas) and natural features; all floor elevations and elevations at each entrance 
of buildings on the property.  Include invert elevations of utility tunnel floors 
and overhead slabs; 

B.3.2.2.6 Location, size, depth and, where available, pressure of water and gas mains, 
central steam and other utilities including, but not limited to, buried tanks and 
septic fields serving, or on, the property; 

B.3.2.2.7 Location of fire hydrants available to the property and the size of the main 
serving each; 

B.3.2.2.8 Location and characteristics of power and communications systems above 
and below grade; 

B.3.2.2.9 Location, size, depth and direction of flow of sanitary sewers, combination 
sewers, storm drains, culverts serving, or on the property; location of catch 
basins and manholes, and inverts of pipe at each; 

B.3.2.2.10 Name of the operating authority of each utility; 
B.3.2.2.11 Flood plain, flood level of streams or adjacent bodies of water and analysis 

of site for potential flooding; 
B.3.2.2.12 Locations of test borings if ascertainable and the elevation of the top of the 

holes; 
B.3.2.2.13 Trees of 1½ inch and over (caliper 3' above ground); locate within 1' tolerance 

and give species where identifiable; and, 
 
B.3.2.3 Accuracy Standards.  Precision of the survey shall be based on the Positional Accuracy 

Concept.  The Architect/Engineer shall recommend positional accuracy limits and error of 
closure limits for the property being surveyed. 

 
B.3.2.4 Drawing and File Requirements.  The Architect/Engineer shall require the licensed Land 

Surveyor to sign and seal each drawing and certify to the best of the Surveyor's knowledge, 
information and belief all information thereon is true and accurately shown.  Drawings and 
drawing files shall contain written scale, graphic scale, North arrow (oriented to the top of 
the sheet), legend of symbols, and abbreviations used on the drawing(s), and all dimensions 
and elevations in English units.  Spot elevations on pavement and other hard surfaces shall 
be to the nearest .01', on other surfaces to the nearest .05'.  State elevation datum on each 
drawing.  Use National Vertical Geodetic Datum and give location of benchmark used. 

 
 
 
B.4 GEOTECHNICAL SERVICES  
 

B.4.1 Access and Protection of Property.  The Architect/Engineer shall contact the City for information 
regarding access to the site and shall take all reasonable precautions to prevent damage to property, 
visible and concealed, and shall reasonably restore the site to the condition existing prior to the 
Architect/Engineer's entry, including, but not limited to, repair of curbs, sidewalks, lawns and plantings. 

 
B.4.2 Geotechnical Investigation and Reports.  The Architect/Engineer shall furnish the services of a licensed 

geotechnical engineer.  Services may include but are not limited to test borings, test pits, determinations 
of soil bearing values, percolation tests, evaluations of hazardous materials, soil corrosion/resistivity 
tests, including necessary operations for anticipating subsoil conditions, with reports and appropriate 
recommendations unless such services are specifically provided by the City.   City specifically wants a 
cone penetrometer test done in addition to other tests recommended by parking structure engineering 
firm.   

 
B.4.2.1 Drawing Requirements.  The Architect/Engineer shall require the geotechnical engineer to 

sign and seal each drawing and certify to the best of the geotechnical engineer's knowledge, 
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information and belief all information thereon is true and accurately shown.  Drawings and 
drawing files shall contain written scale, graphic scale, North arrow (oriented to the top of 
the sheet), legend of symbols and abbreviations used on the drawing(s), and all dimensions 
and elevations in English units. 

 
B.4.2.2 Investigation. 

 
B.4.2.2.1 The geotechnical engineer shall perform borings and subsurface 

investigations shall be performed in accordance with accepted geotechnical 
engineering practices and in the quantity and location as coordinated with the 
Architect/Engineer in order to determine the subsurface soil strata, obtain 
representative samples for laboratory analysis, investigate the in-situ soil 
conditions, and investigate the subsurface water conditions. 

 
B.4.2.2.2 All samples shall be classified in accordance with ASTM D-2488, “Standard 

Practice for Description and Identification of Soils.” 
 

B.4.2.2.3 Testing shall be performed in accordance with: 
 

B.4.2.2.3.1 Standard Test Method for Penetration Test and Split Barrel 
Sampling of Soils, ASTM D-1586; 

B.4.2.2.3.2 Thin-Walled Tube Sampling of Soils, ASTM D-1587; 
B.4.2.2.3.3 Moisture Content Tests, ASTM D-2116; 
B.4.2.2.3.4 Atterberg Limits, ASTM D-4318; 
B.4.2.2.3.5 Sieve/Grain Size Analysis Tests, ASTM D-422 and C-136; 
B.4.2.2.3.6 Consolidation/Swell, ASTM D-2438 and D-4546; 
B.4.2.2.3.7 Shear Strength, ASTM D-2850, D-4767, and D-2166; 
B.4.2.2.3.8 California bearing ratio, ASTM D 1883; 
B.4.2.2.3.9 Proctor, ASTM D-698 and D-1557; and, 
B.4.2.2.3.10 Corrosion tests such as resistivity, pH, and sulfates. 

 
B.4.2.2.4 Percolation tests shall be performed in accordance with the Montana 

Department of Environmental Quality’s currently accepted practices and 
procedures. 

 
B.4.2.2.5 Other methods of investigation may be used upon prior approval of the 

Architect/Engineer.  Such methods include test pits, rotary borings, had auger 
borings, subsurface strata delineation or other generally accepted geophysical 
methods. 

 
B.4.2.3 Reports.  The Architect/Engineer shall require the geotechnical engineer to sign and seal 

each report and certify to the best of the geotechnical engineer's knowledge, information 
and belief all information thereon is true and accurately shown.  Reports shall provide 
descriptive information of the scope of the investigation describing the tasks and analysis 
performed along with the following: 

 
B.4.2.3.1 Sub-surface investigation.  General description of the samples taken, 

locations, elevations, the testing methods performed, site geology, subsurface 
soils profiles, and groundwater observations. 

 
B.4.2.3.2 Laboratory Investigations.  General description of the examinations and 

classification of tests performed. 
 

B.4.2.3.3 Design and Construction Recommendations.  General description of the 
Project to be constructed with loading information obtained from the 
Architect/Engineer.  The geotechnical engineer shall perform a historical 
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search regarding any previous construction on the site.  The Report shall 
provide design criteria and make recommendations for the performance of 
earthwork, foundations, slabs, pavement, flooring system, and all other 
geotechnical-related issues for the site and building based upon the loading 
information and the soil/geological conditions; seismic conditions and 
considerations; lateral earth pressures; and, site grading, drainage, and fill 
work; corrosion potential of buried metals and concretes; percolation rates; 
groundwater and surface water seepage; specification requirements for fill 
material, base course, concrete, materials testing, and other requirements as 
appropriate for the type of Project. 

 

B.5 LEED CRITERIA AND SUSTAINABLE PLANNING  
 

B.5.1 As directed by the City, the Architect/Engineer shall define and develop conceptual level requirements for 
the project that include sustainable planning and design concepts covering items such as: 

 
B.5.1.1 building design analysis and building performance as it relates to energy use, life-cycle 

costs, sustainability concepts and productivity of the interior, built environment; 
 
B.5.1.2 energy use effectiveness including natural convection in HVAC, natural lighting and water 

use / recycling / integration; 
 

B.5.1.3 development of integrated systems for environmentally responsible architecture; 
 

B.5.1.4 potential application of green building concepts for LEED certification including re-use of 
existing materials and/or recycled materials; and, 

 
B.5.1.5 special equipment and systems for use of alternative energy and energy consumption 

modeling. 
 
B.5.2 It is the City’s intent that the Project be programmed to include sustainable architectural and engineering 

solutions, environmentally efficient materials, and shall include consideration of "state of the art" design 
solutions in all areas of the project design whether or not LEED certification is pursued. 

 
 
 
 
PHASE 2 
C. DESIGN SERVICES 
 

C.1.1 The Architect/Engineer’s design services consist of the phases described herein and are inclusive of the 
necessary structural, civil, mechanical, fire protection, electrical engineering and other services as 
required for a complete and integrated design. 

 
C.1.2 SCHEMATIC DESIGN  

 
C.1.2.1 The Schematic Design Phase shall commence with a Notice To Proceed to Phase 2.   
 
C.1.2.2 The Architect/Engineer shall provide Schematic Design Documents based on the mutually 

agreed-upon Project Program Project Schedule, and Project Budget including the 
preliminary Construction Cost.  The documents shall establish the conceptual design of the 
Project illustrating the scale and relationship of the Project components.  The Schematic 
Design Documents shall include a conceptual site plan and preliminary building plans, 
sections and elevations.  As coordinated between the Architect/Engineer and the City, the 
Schematic Design Documents may include study models, perspective sketches, electronic 
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modeling or combinations of these media.  Preliminary selections of major building 
systems and construction materials shall be noted on the drawings or described in writing. 

 
C.1.2.3 The Schematic Design Phase effort shall provide the following: 

 
C.1.2.3.1 Define the needs for the project based upon changes to the current design and 

other data gathered from the City; 
C.1.2.3.2 Define detailed requirements for the project, covering items such as design 

objectives, limitations, and criteria; gross area and space requirements; spatial 
relationships; needs and options for flexibility or expandability; special 
equipment and systems; site requirements; project schedule and budget 
requirements; 

C.1.2.3.3 Define space concepts and flow diagrams, functional relationships, access, 
circulation, and flow patterns within the building and on the site; and, 

C.1.2.3.4 Investigation and define data concerning existing conditions, assembling and 
reviewing information to identify and document areas to be involved in 
alterations, additions, repairs or demolition. 

C.1.2.3.5 Decide on method of construction for the project between Design/Bid/Build, 
Design/Build, or Construction Manager At Risk (CMAR). 

 
C.1.2.4 The Schematic Design submitted to the City shall at a minimum contain the following: 
 

C.1.2.4.1 Architectural Design - Services responding to the programming and project 
requirements and consisting of preparation of a site plan and building plans for 
each level or floor, key sections, all elevations, preliminary selection of building 
systems and materials, development of approximate dimensions, areas and 
volumes, and review of project documents presently consisting of the project 
program and budget and incorporation of site soil investigation and surveys; 

C.1.2.4.2 Structural Design - Recommendations regarding basic structural material and 
systems, selection of the foundation system, outline structural systems plan, 
analysis and development of conceptual design solutions; 

C.1.2.4.3 Mechanical Design - Consideration and recommendations regarding materials, 
systems and equipment, development of conceptual design solutions for energy 
sources/conservation, heating, ventilating and air conditioning, plumbing, fire 
protection and general space requirements; 

C.1.2.4.4 Electrical Design - consideration and recommendations regarding basic 
electrical materials, systems and equipment, analysis and development of 
conceptual design solutions for power service, distribution, lighting, 
communication, tele-communications and IT, fire detection, building security, 
alarms and general space requirements; 

C.1.2.4.5 Commissioning Assistance - The mechanical and electrical design is to be 
summarized to provide a comprehensive description of the operation of the 
mechanical and electrical systems in the building with specific reference to 
meeting the requirements included in the Design Intent Document. This 
document is to be revised as necessary throughout the design and the original 
and all revisions are to be submitted to, and approved by, the City; 

C.1.2.4.6 Civil Design - Site planning analysis including layout of site features, building 
position, preliminary grading, location of paving for walkways, driveways and 
parking.  Also includes normal connections for building utilities such as water, 
sewer, gas/steam and power; 

C.1.2.4.7 Budget - Review the project budget and assist in the analysis of soft costs and 
establishment of a Construction Cost; 

C.1.2.4.8 Specifications - Outline specifications necessary to indicate the general scope of 
services that will form the basis of the specifications for the construction 
documents. 
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C.1.2.4.9 Scheduling/Phasing - Review and analysis of the project schedule and 
phasing plan developed along with the project program.  The 
Architect/Engineer’s involvement in the planning and implementation of a 
temporary relocation of City Hall offices would be an extra service performed 
and payable in addition to the services of this Agreement. 

 
The Architect/Engineer shall provide revised and updated information for incorporation into the 
Programming Document.   
C.1.2.5 For the purposes of Commissioning, the Architect/Engineer shall provide a Design Intent 

Document for review and approval by the City, for the commissioning of the project which 
shall include the basis of the design in a room-by-room itemization of mechanical and 
electrical requirements as described in the Programming Document with the following 
information: 

 
C.1.2.5.1 Temperature requirements; 
C.1.2.5.2 Humidity requirements (if special needs are identified); 
C.1.2.5.3 Exhaust requirements (e.g. fume hoods); 
C.1.2.5.4 Pressurization requirements and number of air exchanges per hour; 
C.1.2.5.5 Maximum permissible sound level; 
C.1.2.5.6 Maximum occupancy; 
C.1.2.5.7 Schedule of occupancy; 
C.1.2.5.8 Number of computers or specialized equipment; 
C.1.2.5.9 Special power quality; 
C.1.2.5.10 Light levels; and, 
C.1.2.5.11 Special lighting systems or levels. 
C.1.2.5.12 Tele-communications and IT requirements 

 
C.1.2.6 The Architect/Engineer shall provide a digital pdf of Schematic Design Documents 

including the updated Programming Document, the Design Intent  Document, and the 
updated Estimate of Construction for review and approval to the City. 

 
C.1.3 DESIGN DEVELOPMENT  
 

C.1.3.1 The Design Development Phase shall commence with the City’s approval of the Schematic 
Design Documents and shall be complete with the City’s approval of the Design 
Development Documents. 

 
 

C.1.3.2 The Architect/Engineer shall prepare, for approval by the City, Design Development 
Documents consisting of drawings, sketches, specifications, Estimate of Construction 
Cost, and similar documents necessary to fix and describe the size and character of the 
entire Project as to the architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical systems, tele-
communications/IT, and other project elements. 

 
C.1.3.3 Design Development Services shall consist of the following: 

 
C.1.3.3.1 Architectural Design - Services consisting of the continued development and 

expansion of the schematic design documents (or preliminary project program 
of the City if Preliminary Design) in order to proceed with establishment of the 
final design documents.  Documents shall consist of the final scope, 
relationships, forms, size and appearance.  Building plans, sections and 
elevations, selection of building systems and materials, development of 
dimensions, areas and volumes are also included; 

C.1.3.3.2 Structural Design - Development of specific structural material and systems, 
analysis and development of design solutions.  Basic structural system and 
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dimensions, design criteria, foundation design criteria, sizing of structural 
components and clearances, earthquake resiliency; 

C.1.3.3.3 Mechanical Design - Development of specific mechanical materials and 
systems, analysis and development of design solutions.  Basic mechanical 
system and dimensions, design criteria for energy sources/conservation, heating, 
ventilating and air conditioning, plumbing, fire protection, vibration and 
acoustical control, visual impacts, equipment layouts, sizes and weights of major 
components, chases and specific space requirements; 

C.1.3.3.4 Electrical Design - Development of specific electrical materials and systems, 
analysis and development of design solutions.  Basic electrical system and 
dimensions, design criteria for energy sources/conservation, power service, 
distribution, lighting, communication, fire detection, alarms, chases, equipment 
layouts and clearances and specific space requirements. Coordinate with City’s 
telecommunications and data contractor for telephone, IT, and technology 
requirements.  Coordinate with City’s electrician while working on electrical 
design.   

C.1.3.3.5 Commissioning - Coordinate with and support the commissioning and building 
optimization process; 

C.1.3.3.6 Civil Design - Basic civil engineering features regarding building position, 
preliminary grading, location of paving for walkways, driveways, parking, all 
utilities, easements, boundary conditions, property limits; 

C.1.3.3.7 Project Budget - Maintain the design development in accordance within the 
established Construction Cost, continually review the project budget to 
coordinate appropriate design factors and limitations; 

C.1.3.3.8 Specifications - Development and coordination of outline specifications 
necessary to delineate the appropriate functions and minimum quality of the 
project; and, 

C.1.3.3.9 Scheduling - Develop and maintain a CPM or bar chart project schedule of 
all activities to include investigations, data gathering, design phases, reviews, 
advertising, bidding, contract award, construction, construction phasing, 
punch list and project completion. Perform reviews and revisions of schedule 
indicating all milestones and anticipated impacts upon delivery of the project 
based upon issues and factors discovered during the design development 
phase. 

 
C.1.3.4 The Architect/Engineer shall provide a digital pdf of Design Development Documents 

including the updated Estimate of Construction Cost for review and approval to the City. 
 
 
 
PHASE 3 
D. CONSTRUCTION DOCUMENTS  

 
D.1 The Construction Documents Phase shall commence with the City’s approval of the Design 

Development (or Preliminary Design) Documents and shall be complete with the City’s approval of 
the Construction Documents. 

 
D.2 The Architect/Engineer shall provide Construction Documents based on the approved Design 

Development (or Preliminary Design) Documents and updated Construction Cost.  The Construction 
Documents shall set forth in detail the requirements for construction of the Project.   The Construction 
Documents shall include Drawings and Specifications that establish in detail the quality levels of 
materials and systems required for the Project. 

 
D.3 During the development of the Construction Documents, the Architect/Engineer shall review and assist 

the City in the development and preparation of: (1) bidding and procurement information; (2) bidding 
or proposal forms; and, (2) the Conditions of the Contract for Construction (General, Supplementary 
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and other Conditions).  The Architect also shall compile the Project Manual (Specifications) that 
includes all of the City’s “boiler plate” information and the City’s Conditions of the Contract for 
Construction and Specifications and may include bidding requirements and sample forms. 

 
D.4 The Architect/Engineer shall provide those services necessary to prepare final construction documents 

consisting of specifications, drawings and other documents of sufficient detail to fix and describe the final 
size and character of the project for approval by the City. 

 
D.5 Construction Document Services consists of the following:   

 
D.5.1 General – Review and checking of Design Development (or Preliminary Design) Documents to 

ensure all City criteria is incorporated.  The Architect/Engineer shall perform continuous review 
of the design and design process to ensure the highest level of quality control.  95% complete 
documents relate to the total effort required by the Architect/Engineer and all consultants to 
produce construction documents that are ready for bidding.  The effort to perform final 
coordination checking, final corrections, incorporation of comments, and inclusion of the City’s 
boilerplate constitutes the remaining 5% of the total effort necessary to produce the Contract 
Documents.  Drawing index contains all drawings and all sheet titles agree.  All alternates have 
been identified and properly delineated.  All details are referenced.  All details are complete 
with dimensions, notations and materials.  All details (A, S, M, P, E, C, etc.) are specific to the 
project and have been edited to reflect the actual project conditions. 

D.5.2 Architectural Design Services - Continued development and expansion of the design in order to 
proceed with and result in the final design documents.  Documents shall consist of the final scope, 
relationships, forms, size and appearance.  Complete floor plans, sections and elevations, selection 
of building systems and materials, development of dimensions, areas and volumes are to be 
included.  Reflected ceiling plans must contain all light fixtures and HVAC grilles, registers and 
diffusers.  Door and room finish schedules must be complete.  Floor plans, elevations, and sections 
are completely dimensioned; 

D.5.3 Structural Design - Continued development of specific structural material and systems, analysis 
and development of design solutions.  Complete and detailed structural system and dimensions, 
design, foundation, sizing of structural components and clearances, details, elevations plans and 
specifications.  All details are specific to the project and ready for fabrication drawing 
development.  All plans have been coordinated and verified against architectural and 
mechanical drawings; 

D.5.4 Mechanical Design - Continued development of laboratory utilities, specific mechanical materials 
and systems, analysis and development of design solutions.  Complete and detailed mechanical 
system and dimensions, heating, ventilating and air conditioning, plumbing, fire protection, 
vibration and acoustical control, equipment details, sizes, elevations, schedules, plans and 
specifications.  Coordination of utilities leaving the building with locations shown on civil plans; 

D.5.5 Electrical Design - Continued development of specific data systems, electrical materials and 
systems, analysis and development of design solutions.  Complete and detailed electrical system 
and dimensions, power service, distribution, lighting, communication, fire detection, alarms, 
chases, equipment layouts, circuits, panel board schedules, plans and specifications; 

D.5.6 Communications Design – Continued development of telephone, computer networks, radios, city’s 
wireless system and other tele-communications/IT plans.   

D.5.7 Civil Design – Incorporate completed site survey and geotechnical analysis including layout of the 
entire site.  Complete and detailed civil design regarding building location, final grading, location 
of paving for walkways, driveways, parking, all utilities, easements, boundary conditions, property 
limits, plans and specifications.  All benchmark information, building corners, essential 
topographical information has been included; 

D.5.8 Budget - Ensure the design is in accordance with the established construction cost.  Continually 
review the project budget to coordinate appropriate design factors and limitations 

D.5.9 Specifications - Complete development and coordination of all specifications necessary to describe 
and detail the entire project and to set the level of quality acceptable to the City.  All Boiler Plate 
and Division 1 items  (General Conditions of the construction contract including, but not limited 
to, staging, fencing, temporary restrooms, utilities, cranes, etc.) pertain to the specific project 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 194 of 226



and have been edited for completeness.  Index contains all sections in the body of specifications.  
All specification sections apply to the specific project; 

D.5.10 Scheduling - Maintain the established project schedule.  Perform reviews and revisions of the 
schedule indicating all milestones and anticipated impacts upon delivery of the project based 
upon issues and factors discovered during the design; 

D.5.10.1 Coordination Review – The City may choose to have the documents reviewed 
through an independent third-party.  This does not relieve the Architect from the 
responsibility to provide the City with a fully-coordinated set of construction 
documents; 

D.5.10.2 Coordinate with the commissioning authority as required. 
 

 
D.5.10.3 The Architect/Engineer shall assist the City in filing the required documents for the 

approval of governmental authorities having interest in the Project.  The City may 
request the Architect/Engineer to pay the plan review fee to the building code 
jurisdiction.  The City shall then compensate the Architect/Engineer for the plan 
review fee through an addendum or as a supplemental service. 

 
D.5.10.4 The Architect/Engineer shall request the “Boiler Plate” and essential bidding 

information from the City upon submission of the Plans and Specifications for final 
review.  The Architect/Engineer shall review and coordinate the Division One 
specifications with the General Conditions of the Contract for Construction. 

 
D.5.10.5 Prior to bidding, the Architect/Engineer shall provide as many sets as necessary 

including digital pdf set(s) of Construction Documents including the Estimate of 
Construction for review and approval to the City.  This review shall constitute the 
95% submission of the design effort where the remaining 5% consists of 
incorporation of final review comments and the City’s “boiler plate” information. 

 
D.5.10.6 The Architect/Engineer shall incorporate code review comments and make all 

corrections, additions, or deletions to the Plans and Specifications prior to distribution 
for bidding purposes, without the use of addenda, unless approved by the City. 

 
D.5.10.7 The total Construction Documents Phase shall constitute 100% of the design effort 

inclusive of any responses and alterations due to comments received upon review 
from the City, building codes officials, user groups or other interested third parties. 

 
 
PHASE 4 
E. BIDDING SERVICES  
 

E.1.1 The Bidding Phase shall commence with the incorporation of final review comments and the City’s 
approval of the Plans and Specifications and the final Estimate of Construction cost and shall be complete 
with the issuance of the Notice to Proceed of the Construction Contract.  Depending on the construction 
delivery method used, the bidding may happen in stages to facilitate an accelerated construction schedule 
or to accommodate the establishment of a GPM (guaranteed maximum price).  While construction 
alternates delivery methods will not change the ‘Bidding Phase’ scope of work, it may spread the work 
out over a greater time period. 

 
E.1.2 The Architect/Engineer shall provide as many sets as necessary of Construction Documents for bidding 

purposes, two (2) sets to the City.  The Architect/Engineer shall procure and administer the reproduction 
of Bidding Documents and distribution to prospective bidders.  If the number of sets for bidding purposes 
is not established in this Agreement, the City shall reimburse the Architect/Engineer for the direct costs 
of reproduction for all sets determined to be necessary.  However, the Architect/Engineer and City shall 
agree on the number sets necessary at the time of bidding and the Architect/Engineer shall not exceed 
that number without approval of the City. 
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E.1.3 The Architect/Engineer, following the City's approval of the Plans and Specifications and the final 

Estimate of Construction Cost, shall assist the City in obtaining bids and in awarding the Construction 
Contract(s).  Any interpretation of the Plans and Specifications by the Architect/Engineer will be issued 
by addenda to all plan holders. The Architect/Engineer will not issue any addenda within seven (7) days 
of the bid opening without the permission of the City. 

 
E.1.4 The Architect/Engineer shall arrange, attend and conduct a pre-bid meeting and walk-through for the 

project. The Architect/Engineer shall prepare and submit to the City an agenda for the pre-bid walk-
through.  As a minimum the agenda shall address thorough coverage of the Instruction to Bidders, 
Conditions of the Contract for Construction, site conditions, construction staging, permits, scope of the 
Work, and all unique situations.  The Architect/Engineer shall require the attendance and participation 
of any consultants when the cost, size and/or complexity of the Work in the opinion of the City 
necessitate their attendance. 

 
E.1.5 The Architect/Engineer shall provide bidding services to include the following: 

 
E.1.5.1 Organizing, coordinating, publishing, handling and distribution of all bidding documents 

including addenda and receipt and return of deposits; 
 
E.1.5.2 Assist the City in obtaining either competitive bids or negotiated proposals and maintaining 

the plan holders’ list; 
 

E.1.5.3 Assist in contacting and informing prospective bidders; 
 
E.1.5.4 Coordination and responses between the disciplines for all questions, clarifications, and 

addenda; 
 

E.1.5.5 Continue to coordinate with, and support, the commissioning process.  The commissioning 
authority (CA) may make a presentation during the pre-bid walkthrough to explain the 
commissioning process to all interested parties; 

 
E.1.5.6 Addenda - Preparation and distribution as may be required including any and all 

supplementary drawings, specifications, instructions and notices of changes; 
 

E.1.5.7 Budget - Stay aware of bidding climate and perform analysis of possible bid results in 
comparison to the project budget if market conditions alter from the final Estimate of 
Construction Cost or if errors/omissions are discovered in the final Estimate; 

 
E.1.5.8 Substitutions - Consideration, analysis, comparisons and recommendations relative to 

substitutions proposed by bidders; 
 

E.1.5.9 Bid Evaluation - Perform validation of the bids received and provide recommendations 
regarding the award of contracts as requested by the City; 

 
E.1.5.10 Coordinate and conduct negotiations in cooperation with the City and the Contractor in the 

event that the bids received are over the project budget should the City choose this option.  If 
negotiations are successful, develop all documentation, drawings, specifications, changes, and 
alterations including all related pricing in a manner similar to an addendum for formal pricing 
and signature by the contractor; and, 

 
E.1.5.11 Redesign - Perform redesign in coordination with the City and publication of construction 

documents for re-bidding or after negotiations if the project is not awardable during the initial 
bid. 

 
PHASE 5 
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F. CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION SERVICES  
 

F.1.1 The Construction Administration Phase shall commence with the issuance of the Notice to Proceed of 
the Construction Contract and shall be complete when the Contractor has completed the corrections from 
the warranty inspection. 

 
F.1.2 The Architect/Engineer shall provide administration of the Construction Contract as set forth in this 

Agreement inclusive of the General Conditions of the Contract for Construction.  The Architect/Engineer 
shall provide those services necessary to perform construction administration to provide a quality product 
for the City which shall be inclusive of the following: 

 
F.1.2.1 Construction contract administration involves all aspects of consultation, communication, 

progress reports, observations, meetings and functions necessary to maintain the project 
quality, budget, schedule and coordination; 

 
F.1.2.2 Upon issuance of a notice to proceed from the City, coordinate and conduct a pre-construction 

conference with the City and the successful contractor and appropriate subcontractors.   
Describe the overall project administration, all Division 1 requirements, general scope of the 
project, City issues and concerns to be met by the Contractor during construction; 

 
F.1.2.3 Continue to coordinate with, and support, the commissioning process.  The commissioning 

authority (CA) may make a presentation during the pre-construction conference to explain the 
commissioning process to all interested parties.  Direct questions regarding commissioning to 
the CA.  One (1) copy of approved submittals related to the CA’s efforts will be routed to the 
CA for use in developing inspections and tests.  Presence of the CA on the job does not 
diminish the Architect/Engineer's responsibilities; 

 
F.1.2.4 Coordination - Services between the architectural work and all disciplines involved in the 

design of the project; 
 

F.1.2.5 Documents - Maintain sufficient sets of construction documents with all requests for 
information, requests for clarification, change orders, addenda, pay requests, shop 
drawings, submittals, etc. necessary to deliver a quality project within budget and on time.  
Services consist of preparation, reproduction and distribution of all 
clarification/information/change order documents in response to the Contractor or the City.  
Documents shall describe in sufficient detail, all work to be added, deleted, modified, 
review of proposals, review recommended changes for impacts on substantial completion 
date; 

 
F.1.2.6 Shop Drawings and Submittals - Perform review and comparison of all drawings and 

submissions by the Contractor for general conformance to the construction documents.  
Provide appropriate actions in a timely fashion in order to inform the Contractor regarding the 
shop drawings and submittals but in no instance shall responses or actions be longer than seven 
(7) calendar days: 

 
F.1.2.6.1 Review and approve or take appropriate action upon the Contractor’s 

submittals such as Shop Drawings, Product Data and Samples, checking for 
conformance with information given and the design concept expressed in the 
Contract Documents.  Review of such submittals is not conducted for the 
purpose of determining the accuracy and completeness of other details such 
as dimensions and quantities, or for substantiating instructions for installation 
or performance of equipment or systems, all of which remain the 
responsibility of the Contractor as required by the Contract Documents.  The 
Architect/Engineer’s review shall not constitute approval of safety 
precautions or, unless otherwise specifically stated by the 
Architect/Engineer, of any construction means, methods, techniques, 
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sequences or procedures.  The Architect/Engineer’s approval of a specific 
item shall not indicate approval of an assembly of which the item is a 
component; 

F.1.2.6.2 If professional design services or certifications by a design professional 
related to systems, materials or equipment are specifically required of the 
Contractor by the Contract Documents, the Architect/Engineer shall specify 
appropriate performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy.  
Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified 
by the design professional retained by the Contractor shall bear such 
professional’s written approval when submitted to the Architect/Engineer.  
The Architect/Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy 
and completeness of the services, certifications or approvals performed by 
such design professionals; and, 

F.1.2.6.3 The costs and expenses to the Architect/Engineer of more than one (1) review 
of each Shop Drawing, Product Data item, sample and submittals of the 
Contractor may be billed by the Architect/Engineer directly to the Contractor.  
The City shall not be liable to the Architect/Engineer for multiple reviews. 

 
F.1.2.7 Representation - Serve as the representative of the City throughout the duration of the project, 

protecting the City’s interest in obtaining delivery of the project in accordance with the 
Construction Documents.  The Architect/Engineer shall be the representative of the City 
throughout the duration of this Contract and as such shall advise and consult with the City.  
The Architect/Engineer shall have authority to act on behalf of the City to the extent 
provided in the General Conditions of the Construction Contract unless otherwise modified 
in writing;) 

 
F.1.2.8 Schedules - Monitor the Contractor’s progress relative to established schedules and make 

status reports accordingly.  Compare the Contractor’s schedule to current pay requests for 
accuracy and stage of completion.  The Architect/Engineer shall take no action concerning the 
Contractor’s schedule which may be interpreted as an approval or endorsement.  However, the 
Architect/Engineer shall provide comments, concerns, inaccuracies, conflicts, etc. to the 
Contractor; 

 
F.1.2.9 Pay Requests - Review and take appropriate action on all pay requests with regard to the 

Contractor’s Schedule of Values, Progress Schedule, stored materials and stage of construction 
observed.  Provide recommendations to the City with regard to payment based on 
observations at the site and the Contractor's Form 101, Periodic Estimate for Partial 
Payment request, the Architect/Engineer shall determine the amount owing to the 
Contractor and shall act upon the Contractor's Periodic Estimate for Partial Payment within 
seven (7) days of receipt.  Certification of the Contractor’s Form 101 shall constitute a 
representation by the Architect/Engineer to the City that the work has progressed to the 
point indicated; that to the best of the Architect/Engineer's knowledge, information and 
belief, the quality of the work is in accordance with the Plans and Specifications; and that 
the Contractor is entitled to payment in the amount certified.  If in the Architect/Engineer’s 
opinion the Contractor is not entitled to the amount indicated on Form 101, he shall 
evaluate what percentage is due and revise the form accordingly and forward it to the City 
or return the Periodic Estimate for Partial Payment to the Contractor for revision.  The 
Architect/Engineer shall send the Contractor a copy of any revised pay request forwarded 
to the City. 

 
F.1.2.10 Change Orders - Prepare, reproduce and distribute change orders for signature.  Perform 

estimates of cost, negotiate price, and determine impacts upon the Contractor and the date 
for project completion. 

 
F.1.2.10.1 The Architect/Engineer shall complete the areas of “Justification for 

Change,”  “Justification for Cost Adjustment,” and the “Justification for 
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Schedule Adjustment” on the Change Order are comprehensive and 
complete. 

F.1.2.10.2 It is the Architect/Engineer’s responsibility to review Change Order pricing 
and time extension requests for their appropriateness and to make 
recommendations to the City regarding cost and time. 

F.1.2.10.3 The Architect/Engineer may authorize minor changes in the Work not 
involving an adjustment in Contract Sum or an extension of the Contract 
Time which are consistent with the intent of the Contract Documents.  If 
necessary, the Architect/Engineer shall prepare, reproduce and distribute 
Drawings and Specifications to describe Work to be added, deleted or 
modified. 

F.1.2.10.4 The Architect/Engineer shall not order or direct any changes in the Work that 
involve adjustment of the Contract Sum or Contract Time without the 
approval of the City; 

 
F.1.2.11 Construction Change Directives - Prepare, reproduce and distribute construction change 

directives for those items where time is critical and/or a reasonable price cannot be 
negotiated with the Contractor.  If the Contractor and City cannot agree on price and/or 
time for the change but the City directs that it be performed, price and/or time will be 
negotiated at a later date; 

 
F.1.2.12 The Architect/Engineer shall visit the project site a minimum of weekly and as appropriate 

to the stage of construction: 
 

F.1.2.12.1 to become generally familiar with and to keep the City informed about 
the progress and quality of the portion of the Work completed; 

F.1.2.12.2 to endeavor to guard the City against defects and deficiencies in the 
Work; and, 

F.1.2.12.3 to determine in general if the Work is being performed in a manner 
indicating that the Work, when fully completed, will be in accordance 
with the Contract Documents. 

 
F.1.2.13 Meetings - The Architect/Engineer shall conduct weekly job meetings with the Contractor 

and the City. The Architect/Engineer shall take minutes of the meeting and distribute 
typewritten copies to all parties attending the meeting within five (5) calendar days.  The 
Architect/Engineer shall furnish the City with written field reports within five (5) calendar 
days of a project site visit.  Any representative of the Architect/Engineer sent to the Project 
site shall be subject to the City’s approval. 

 
F.1.2.14 Field Observations - Services consisting of site visits at intervals appropriate to the stage 

of construction and/or as otherwise generally agreed upon in order to become familiar with 
the overall progress and quality of the work in accordance with the Construction 
Documents.  The Architect/Engineer shall maintain a photographic log of the progress of 
the work and shall prepare and distribute field reports along with meeting minutes. The 
Architect/Engineer shall report to the City known deviations from the Contract Documents 
and from the most recent construction schedule submitted by the Contractor; 

 
F.1.2.15 Requests For Information (RFI) – The Architect/Engineer shall investigate and respond to 

Contractor requests for information in a timely fashion and in no instance in less than seven 
(7) calendar days.  Should an RFI require additional time, the Architect/Engineer shall 
inform the City and Contractor of such within the seven (7) day period.  The 
Architect/Engineer’s costs for investigating and responding to the Contractor’s requests for 
information where such information is available to the Contractor from a careful study and 
comparison of the Contract Documents, field conditions, other City-provided information, 
Contractor-prepared coordination drawings, or prior Project correspondence or 
documentation may be billed by the Architect/Engineer to the Contractor.  The City shall 
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not be liable to the Architect/Engineer for the Contractor’s failure to carefully study and 
compare the Contract Documents or if the Contractor should use the request for 
information process to seek extensions of the Contract for Construction, compensation, or 
hinder the Work in any manner; 

 
F.1.2.16 Cost Accounting - Maintain records of the Project Budget and all impacts thereupon which 

include, but are not limited to, testing services, incidental impacts, potential claims and all 
changes; and, 

 
F.1.2.17 Project Closeout: 

 
F.1.2.17.1 Services to be initiated upon notice from the Contractor that the work is 

substantially complete, in accordance with the Construction Documents, to 
permit beneficial occupancy or utilization, and consisting of a detailed 
inspection for conformity of the Work, compilation of a punch list, inspection 
of punch list items as completed by the Contractor, issuance of certificate of 
substantial completion, final inspections, review and approval of operations and 
maintenance manuals, receipt and transmittal of warranties, affidavits, lien 
waivers, permits and issuance of final certificate for payment. 

 
F.1.2.17.1.1 The costs and expenses to the Architect/Engineer of more 

than one (1) substantial completion and one (1) final 
acceptance inspection may be billed by the 
Architect/Engineer directly to the Contractor.  The City 
shall not be liable to the Architect/Engineer for multiple 
inspections. 

 
F.1.2.17.1.2 The Architect/Engineer shall endeavor to have the Contractor 

complete all punch list items within thirty (30) calendar days 
of issuing Substantial Completion.  The Architect/Engineer 
shall conduct inspections as part of his contracted site visits 
to determine Substantial Completion and Final 
Acceptance.  The Architect/Engineer shall not authorize 
Substantial Completion or Final Completion without the 
approval of the City.  Final payment shall not be approved 
by the Architect/Engineer prior to receipt and approval of all 
closeout items and consent of the City; 

 
F.1.2.17.2 Record Documents – the Architect/Engineer shall furnish the City two (2) sets 

of final, reproducible as-built Record Drawings that have incorporated 
changes made during the construction process which reflect the as-built 
conditions.  The Architect/Engineer shall also furnish the City with two (2) 
full sets of Record Drawings and Project Manuals (Specifications) in 
AutoCAD electronic media format on compact discs labeled with the Project 
name and the City’s project number.  All items shall be provided to the City 
not less than thirty (30) calendar days after the date of Final Acceptance. 

 
F.1.2.17.3 O&M Manuals - Processing, reviewing and taking appropriate action on 

Operations and Maintenance Manuals provided by the Contractor.  Approved 
O&M Manuals are to be provided to the City ; 

 
F.1.2.17.4 The Architect/Engineer shall receive from the Contractor and forward to the 

City: 
 

F.1.2.17.4.1 consent of surety or sureties to reduction in or partial 
release of retainage or the making of final payment; and, 
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F.1.2.17.4.2 affidavits, receipts, releases and waivers of liens or bonds 
indemnifying the City against liens. 

 
F.1.2.17.5 Commissioning Report - The CA will prepare the commissioning report for 

submittal to the City, Architect/Engineer, Contractor and the agency.  The 
Architect/Engineer shall respond to issues in the commissioning report;  

 
F.1.2.17.6 Warranty Period - Investigate contractual and construction problems which arise 

during the warranty period.  Perform inspection of the project, document 
warranty problems, and assist the City in having the Contractor provide 
corrective action. 

 
F.1.2.17.6.1 The Architect/Engineer shall conduct a warranty 

inspection within thirty (30) calendar days prior to the 
expiration of the warranty period to determine if any 
defects in the work exist.  The Architect/Engineer shall 
notify the City, both verbally and in writing of defects, and 
whether or not the defective work is covered by the 
warranty.  All warranty work or repairs shall be under the 
direction of the Architect/Engineer.  The 
Architect/Engineer shall notify the City of defective work 
and shall then, in conjunction with the City, notify the 
Contractor in accordance with the General Conditions of 
the Construction Contract. 

F.1.2.17.6.2 The warranty period commences upon substantial 
completion and continues for a period of one year (or two 
years depending on the cost as a bidding alternate) from the 
date of Final Acceptance as defined in the General 
Conditions of the Contract for Construction.  Unless noted 
otherwise, the date of Final Acceptance shall be the date of 
the Architect/Engineer’s approval of the final pay request. 

 
F.1.3 The Architect/Engineer shall be the interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents.  All 

interpretations, responses to requests for information, and decisions concerning the Contract Documents 
shall be in writing and issued to the Contractor and City by the Architect/Engineer.  The 
Architect/Engineer shall not be responsible for the Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in 
accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.  The Architect/Engineer shall be 
responsible for the Architect/Engineer’s negligent acts, errors, or omissions, but shall not have control 
over or charge of and shall not be responsible for acts or omissions of the Contractor, Subcontractors, or 
their agents or employees, or of any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work. 

 
F.1.4 The Architect/Engineer shall have authority to reject work that does not conform to the Contract 

Documents.  Whenever the Architect/Engineer considers it necessary or advisable, the 
Architect/Engineer will have authority to require inspection or testing of the Work in accordance with 
the provisions of the Contract Documents, whether or not such Work is fabricated, installed or 
completed.  However, neither this authority of the Architect nor a decision made in good faith either to 
exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or responsibility of the 
Architect/Engineer to the Contractor, Subcontractors, material and equipment suppliers, their agents or 
employees or other persons or entities performing portions of the Work.  The Architect/Engineer shall 
advise the City of any and all rejected work and whether or not it may be necessary to stop work.  The 
City will issue any Stop Work Orders to the Contractor.  The Architect/Engineer shall neither have 
control over or charge of, nor be responsible for, the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences 
or procedures, or for safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work, since these are solely 
the Contractor’s rights and responsibilities under the Contract Documents. 
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F.1.5 A change in services or fees will be negotiated for work done on Change Orders only if the Change 
Order is City initiated.  Change Orders as a result of errors or omissions through defective design, 
insufficient information in the Contract Documents, unforeseen conditions, deficient planning, phasing 
and foresight, deficient coordination between disciplines or negligence by the Architect/Engineer shall 
be performed at his expense as follows: 
 
F.1.5.1 Errors - The Architect/Engineer shall be responsible for all cost in order to make the City 

whole which shall include, but not be limited to, design, testing, and construction expenses. 
 
F.1.5.2 Omissions - The Architect/Engineer shall be responsible for all design and those costs over-

and-above what the City would have paid had the omission been included in the as-bid 
Contract Documents.  Over-and-above costs shall be negotiated between the City and 
Architect/Engineer but shall not be less than 10% of the total cost of the change agreed 
upon between the City and Contractor. 

 
F.1.6 The Architect/Engineer shall not be reimbursed nor receive additional fees for time extensions of the 

Construction Contract for deficient or poor responsiveness to: submittals and shop drawings, requests 
for information, pay requests, all Change Orders other than City-initiated Change Orders.  Should the 
Contract for Construction be delayed for an extended period, regardless of fault or cause, any additional 
fees for the Architect/Engineer shall be determined after Substantial Completion or after all claims and/or 
disputes have been resolved.  In all instances, compensation shall be limited to additional site visits, 
processing of pay requests, and participation in disputes/claims as defined in this Agreement that occur 
between City and Contractor. 

 
F.1.7 The Architect/Engineer shall interpret and provide recommendations on matters concerning performance 

of the City and Contractor under and requirements of, the Contract Documents upon written request of 
either the City or Contractor.  The Architect/Engineer’s response to such requests shall be made in 
writing within any time limits agreed upon or otherwise with reasonable promptness. 

 
F.1.8 Interpretations and recommendations of the Architect/Engineer shall be consistent with the intent of and 

reasonably inferable from the Contract Documents and shall be in writing or in the form of drawings.  
When making such interpretations and initial recommendations, the Architect shall endeavor to secure 
faithful performance by both City and Contractor, shall not show partiality to either, and shall not be 
liable for the results of interpretations or recommendations so rendered in good faith. 

 
F.1.9 The Architect/Engineer shall render initial recommendations on claims, disputes or other matters in 

question between the City and Contractor as provided in the Contract Documents. 
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Worksheet for final contract EXHIBIT B
BASIC SERVICES AMOUNT
Phase 1 - Programming/Concept Design $65,650.50
Phase 2 - Schematic Design (SD) TBD
Phase 2 - Design Development (DD) TBD
Phase 3 - Construction Documents (CD) TBD
Phase 4 - Bidding (BID) TBD
Phase 5 - Construction Administration (CA) TBD

Basic Services Total = $65,650

ADDITIONAL SERVICES  (Estimated amounts) AMOUNT
Site Survey (estimated amount) TBD
Geotech Investigation TBD
Civil Engineering TBD
LEED Documentation (hourly not-to-exceed) TBD
Fire Protection Design TBD
Interior Furnishings Selection/Procurement TBD
Record Drawings TBD
Warranty Inspection TBD
Hazardous Material Investigation TBD
Fundemental Commissioning Services estimated TBD

Additional Services Total = $0.00

SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICES/REIMBURSABLES AMOUNT
Document Reproduction At Cost +5%
Kimley Horn Travel Labor Cost per Trip $5,000
Direct Project Expenses (travel cost, etc.)
Owner Initiated Change Orders 6% of Actual Construction Cost

Supplemental Services Total = $0.00
AMOUNT

TOTAL SUM FOR ALL SERVICES $65,650

WHITEFISH CITY HALL PARKING GARAGE
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DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
THIS  CERTIFICATE  IS  ISSUED  AS  A  MATTER  OF  INFORMATION  ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE  DOES  NOT  AFFIRMATIVELY  OR  NEGATIVELY  AMEND,  EXTEND  OR  ALTER  THE  COVERAGE  AFFORDED  BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.    THIS  CERTIFICATE  OF  INSURANCE  DOES  NOT  CONSTITUTE  A  CONTRACT  BETWEEN  THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
IMPORTANT:    If  the  certificate  holder  is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed.  If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the  terms  and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

CONTACTPRODUCER NAME:
FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

INSURER A :
INSURED INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:
THIS  IS  TO  CERTIFY  THAT  THE  POLICIES  OF  INSURANCE  LISTED  BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.    NOTWITHSTANDING  ANY  REQUIREMENT,  TERM  OR  CONDITION  OF  ANY  CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE  MAY  BE  ISSUED  OR  MAY  PERTAIN,  THE  INSURANCE  AFFORDED  BY  THE  POLICIES  DESCRIBED  HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

ADDL SUBRINSR POLICY EFF POLICY EXP
TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITSPOLICY NUMBERLTR (MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)INSR WVD

GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENCE $
DAMAGE TO RENTED

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY $PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $
PRO- $POLICY LOCJECT

COMBINED SINGLE LIMITAUTOMOBILE LIABILITY (Ea accident) $
BODILY INJURY (Per person) $ANY AUTO

ALL OWNED SCHEDULED BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $AUTOS AUTOS
NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE $HIRED AUTOS (Per accident)AUTOS

$

UMBRELLA LIAB EACH OCCURRENCE $OCCUR
EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $

$DED RETENTION $
WC STATU- OTH-WORKERS COMPENSATION

TORY LIMITS ERAND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY Y / N
ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $

N / AOFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH) E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT $DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (Attach ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, if more space is required)

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE    EXPIRATION    DATE    THEREOF,    NOTICE   WILL   BE   DELIVERED   IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

© 1988-2010 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORDACORD 25 (2010/05)

MOSAARC-01 SOLIVER

3/27/2014

Shelley Oliver
Helena-Montana Ave. Office
PayneWest Insurance, Inc.
P.O. Box 6127
Helena, MT 59604

(406) 442-5360

Travelers Indemnity of America

MOSAIC Architecture
428 N. Last Chance Gulch
Helena, MT 59601

Charter Oak Fire Insurance Co
Travelers Indemnity 25658
Colony Specialty Insurance Co.

1,000,000
A X 6806030L71ATIA13 11/6/2013 11/6/2014 300,000

X 5,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

1,000,000
B X BA6030L49313 11/6/2013 11/6/2014

X X

X X 1,000,000
C CUP7622Y32613 11/6/2013 11/6/2014 1,000,000

X 10,000

D Professional Liab IAE1136604 11/6/2013 11/6/2014 $2,000,000 Aggregate 1,000,000

RE:  Whitefish City Hall and Parking Garage

City of Whitefish
PO Box 158
Whitefish, MT 59937-0158
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Staff Report 
 
 

April 29, 2014 
 
To: Mayor Muhlfeld and City Councilors 

 
From: Mary VanBuskirk, City Attorney    
 
Re: City Appointments to Vacancies on City-County Planning Board 
 
Introduction/History. 

 

Under Montana law and the 2005 Interlocal Agreement (2005IA), the City 
exercises extraterritorial jurisdiction beyond its city boundaries.  MCA §76-2-310 
permits Whitefish as a second class city to extend its planning and zoning up to two 
miles beyond its city limits.  The terms of the 2005IA further extend this extraterritorial 
area (ETA) beyond the two miles in some areas to include the City's watershed and 
highway corridors.  In other areas of the ETA, the extension is less than two miles.  The 
terms of the 2005IA also authorize the establishment of the Whitefish City-County 
Planning Board, Whitefish Board of Adjustment and Whitefish Lake and Lakeshore 
Protection Committee. 

 

As required, the City and the County established the Whitefish City-County 
Planning Board.  MCA §76-2-311(2) and the 2005IA. 

 

Montana law establishes the membership of the City-County planning board and 
how the City and County make appointments to the planning board.  MCA §76-1-201.  
Nine members make up the planning board and its members are appointed as follows: 

 

(a) two official members who reside outside the city limits but within the 
jurisdictional area of the city-county planning board to be appointed by the board 
of county commissioners, who may in the discretion of the board of county 
commissioners be employed by or hold public office in the county; 

(b) two official members who reside within the city limits to be appointed 
by the city council, who may in the discretion of the city council be employed by 
or hold public office in the city; 

(c) two citizen members who reside within the city limits to be appointed 
by the mayor of the city; 

(d) two citizen members who reside within the jurisdictional area of the 
city-county planning board to be appointed by the board of county 
commissioners. 
MCA §76-1-201. 

 

Montana law also establishes how vacancies on the City-County Planning Board 
will be filled: 

 

76-1-204.  Vacancies on county and city-county planning boards. 
(1) Vacancies occurring on the board of official members and by death or 
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resignation of citizen members shall be filled for the unexpired term by the 
governing bodies having appointed them. 

 

*                      *                         * 
(3) Vacancies occurring in citizen members on the city-county planning 

board at the end of a term shall be filled alternately by the mayor and the board 
of county commissioners represented on the board, commencing with the mayor. 

 

*                     *                           * 
MCA §76-1-204(1) and (3). 
 

Under the Rules of Procedure of the City-County Planning Board, a majority of its 
members (five) constitutes a quorum.  The Rules of Procedure provide when a Board 
member misses three consecutive regular monthly meetings or more than four meetings 
in a calendar year, without legitimate reason, the Board's chair is to notify the 
appointing governing body and may recommend appropriate action.  Vacancies on the 
planning board of official members and vacancies caused by the death or resignation of 
citizen members are filled for the unexpired term by the governing body appointing 
them.  MCA §76-1-204(1). 

 

Note, however, MCA §76-1-204(3) provides another option for the City.  The 
Mayor and the Board of Commissioners may appoint citizen members vacancies at the 
end of their term.  State law provides that such vacancies on city-county planning 
boards will be filled alternately by the Mayor and the Board of Commissioners, 
beginning with the Mayor.  MCA §76-1-204(3). 

 

Ordinance No. 02-02. 
 

While MCA §76-1-201 authorizes the City Council's appointment of official 
members who are City residents (who may be employed by the City or hold public office 
in the City), Ordinance No. 02-02 clarified the City's public policy position to appoint 
City Councilors on a temporary basis only, not exceeding three months, in order to 
protect the function of the Council's quasi-judicial decision-making. 

 

The attached Whitefish City Council Minutes from December 3, 2001, and 
January 22, 2002, explain the Council's public policy concerns.  In order to protect the 
quasi-judicial decision-making process, the City decided to appoint citizen members to 
the planning board, rather than Councilors, which would limit the possibility of an 
individual Councilor hearing the same matter while serving as a member of the planning 
board and as a Councilor. 

 
Under the Whitefish City Code, when voting on quasi-judicial matters, the 

Council acts more like a court, following a procedure, close to the judicial process, in its 
exercise of its judgment and discretion, often involving its interpretation and 
application of existing policies, rules or law to each set of facts.  WCC §1-6-3(E)(2).  
Generally, the Council is limited to information learned at a properly noticed and 
conducted public hearing with reasonable opportunity for citizens to participate and 
observe the public process prior to a final decision of the Council. 
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Under the Whitefish City Council protocols, the Council is encouraged to 
preserve the quasi-judicial function by discouraging exparte communications on all 
quasi-judicial matters.  Decisions are based on the record and public comment given at 
the hearing before the Council. 

 

Any discussion outside of the formal public hearing prior to the Council's 
deliberation is discouraged.  Councilors reserve discussion of the merits of an issue 
amongst themselves until after the hearing is closed.  Councilors then act collectively, as 
a whole, never individually, in making the Council's decision.  WCC §1-6-3(G)(3). 

 

Current Report. 
 

The last scheduled City-County planning board meeting set for April 17th was 
canceled due to a lack of quorum.  Matters set for the April 17th planning board meeting 
were rescheduled for the upcoming May 15th meeting.  At that time, the County had 
three vacancies to the planning board and the City had one vacancy. 

 

In an effort to prevent another delay caused by a canceled planning board 
meeting due to a lack of quorum, at the last meeting the City Council discussed whether 
there was anything that could be done to prevent further delays to the planning process.  
The Council discussed the possibility of City appointments of City Councilors to serve on 
the planning board on a temporary basis as provided by WCC §11-7-4.  The purpose of 
this staff report is to provide background information how the City may implement such 
an option as provided by the City Code for the appointment of City Councilors to fill 
vacancies on the City-County Planning Board and Board of Adjustment on a temporary 
basis. 

 

At the time of this report, the City and County have partially resolved the vacancy 
problem on the City-County Planning Board.  On April 28th the Commissioners 
appointed Theodore Roosendahl, reducing the County's vacancies to two.  Following 
applicant interviews scheduled for May 5th, the City anticipates filling its vacancy. 

 

Statutory authority for a Mayoral appointment to fill one citizen vacancy. 
 

Montana law provides the authority for the mayor and the board of county 
commissioners to alternate in the appointment of citizen vacancies to the planning 
board at the end of the term, beginning with the mayor.  MCA §76-1-204(3).  Therefore, 
at the next Council meeting under the agenda item appointments to the planning board, 
the Mayor may choose to appoint an applicant to the planning board.  If the Mayor 
chooses to make such a citizen appointment to the planning board, the next 
appointment would be made by the Board of County Commissioners, and then alternate 
back to the Mayor to make the next appointment, and so on. 

 

City Code authority for the Council's appointment of a Councilor to fill the next City 
vacancy. 

 

Should another City vacancy occur on the planning board, by Ordinance 
No. 02-02 the Council may appoint Councilors to fill a vacancy on a temporary basis, up 
to three months.  Although Ordinance No. 02-02, enacted as WCC §11-7-4(4) to clarify 
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the City's preference to appoint citizen members to the City-County planning board, 
rather than the permitted appointment of elected City officials, permits Councilors to 
serve on a temporary basis, only (not exceeding three consecutive months). 

 

The Council's protocol established in WCC §11-7-4(4) authorizes the City Council 
to fill vacancies on the planning board by appointing City Councilors temporarily.  This 
protocol is consistent with the public policy considerations to preserve the Council's role 
and function in quasi-judicial matters. 

 

The City Council can exercise this protocol by motion to appoint a Councilor to 
fill a future City vacancy on a temporary basis to the planning board for up to a 
three-month period of time.  WCC §11-7-4(4).  The Council may wish to exercise this 
authority as a standing protocol should a City opening become available on the planning 
board.  Or the Council may choose to begin the selection of a Councilor only when a 
vacancy occurs and appoint a Councilor until the vacancy is filled through the City's 
process of advertisement, interviews and selection, or for a three-month period of time, 
whichever should first occur. 

 

Alternatively, the Council could exercise this authority as a standing protocol and 
approve the list of all six Councilors (perhaps an alphabetical list of all Councilors) and 
as the vacancies occur the Councilor next on the list would be appointed to fill the 
vacancy, until the vacancy is filled through the City's process to fill vacancies, but for no 
longer than three months.  Each would take turns being available for a three-month 
period of time and appointed in the event of a vacancy.  At the end of the three-month 
appointment time, the next Councilor on the list would be available for an appointment 
for a three-month period, and so on.  Then later, if another vacancy on the planning 
board should occur, the next Councilor on the list would be appointed until the vacancy 
is filled by the City, or for a three-month period of time, whichever shall first occur. 

 

Recommendation. 
 

In order to avoid cancelled planning board meetings, we respectfully recommend: 
 

1) The City's vacancy on the City-County Planning Board be filled by the City 
Council at the May 5th City Council meeting. 

 

2) The Mayor should appoint one applicant to fill one of the County vacancies 
of a citizen position on the City-County Planning Board at the end of a term on the 
planning board at the May 5th City Council meeting, as provided in MCA §76-1-204(3).  
The City would notify the Board of County Commissioners of the Mayoral appointment. 

 

3) By motion at the May 5th City Council meeting, the Council should establish 
its protocol to exercise its authority to appoint a City Councilor to fill a City vacancy on 
the City-County Planning Board whenever a vacancy exists.  The vacancy would be filled 
as vacancies occur, or automatically with a standing list of all Councilors who would take 
turns being available for a three-month period of time or until the vacancy is filled by 
the City, whichever shall first occur. 
 

Attachments 
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INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 

This Agreement is entered into as of the /�-r. day of  February, 2005, by and 
between the County of Flathead, a political subdivision of the State of Montana (the 
"County"), and the City of Whitefish, a municipal corporation (the "City"), with respect to 
the following facts. 

A Beginning in approximately 1967, the parties have cooperated in creating 
and administering the Whitefish City-County Planning Board (the "P'Ianning Board") and 
the Planning Board's jurisdictional area, as permitted by Montana law. 

B. Currently the jurisdictional area of the Planning Board extends 
approximately four and one-half (4-1 /2) miles from the boundaries of the City, as shown 
on Exhibit "A," attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 

C. From time to time the parties have adopted and updated a Master Plan (or 
Growth Policy) covering the jurisdictional area of the Planning Board. The most recent 
version of the jointly adopted Master Plan is entitled, "Whitefish City··County Master Plan 
Year 2020." 

D. For many years the parties have cooperated in creating and administering 
an area extending approximately one (1) mile beyond the City's boundaries, within 
which the City has established its own zoning designations, as permitted by Montana 
law. This one (1) mile aree3 is referred to as the City's extra-territorial zoning jurisdiction. 

E. The Planning Board, its jurisdictional area, as well as the City's one (1) 
mile extra-territorial jurisdiction, as described above, were created by joint action of the 
parties, but without the execution of a formal interlocal agreement. 

F. The parties desire to alter (1) the jurisdictional area of the Planning Board, 
(2) the area to be encompassed by the City's Master Plan, (3) the extra-territorial zoning 
jurisdiction of the City. 

G. The parties desire that within the new jurisdictional area created herein, 
the City shall administer all planning and zoning, subdivision review, lakeshore 
protection regulations, and floodplain regulations, as set forth herein. 

THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows: 

1. lnterlocal Agreement. This Agreement is established pursuant to the 
lnterlocal Cooperation Act,§ 7-11-101, et seq., MCA. The purpose of this Agreement, 
is among other thing, to streamline the provision of government services by centralizing 
the functions of planning, zoning, subdivision review and lakeshore and floodplain 
permitting for the area surrounding Whitefish and the Whitefish Lake in one 
governmental agency that will, through such centralization, develop greater expertise 
and efficiency than if the same functions were handled by two governmental agencies. 

2. Continuation of Planning Board. It ·Is the parties' intent to continue in 
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effect the nine (9) member Planning Board, in the same manner it has been 
administered and has operated in the recent past. The City shall continue to appoint 
four (4) members of the Planning Board pursuant to§ 76-1-201 (1 ), MCA. The County 
shall continue to appoint four (4) members of the Planning E3oard pursuant to 

§ 76-1-201 (1 ) , MCA. The ninth member of the Planning Board shall continue to be 
appointed pursuant to § 76-1-201(2), MCA. The parties shall each bear their own 
expenses involved in advertising for and appointing Planning Board members. The City 
shall be responsible for and shall bear all other costs of administerin(::J and operating the 
Planning Board. 

3. Planning Board's Jurisdiction. The parties agree t hat effective upon the 
execution hereof the jurisdictional area of the Planning Board shall be reduced to the 
boundaries shown on Exhibit "B," attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference 
(the "New Jurisdictional Area"). 

4. Continuation of Lakeshore Protection Committee. It is the parties' intent to 
continue in effect the seven (7) member Lakeshore Protection Committee, in the same 
manner it has been administered and has operated in the recent past. Pursuant to 
Chapter 5 of the Whitefish Lake and Lakeshore Protection Regulations, the City shall 
continue to appoint three (3) committee members, all of whom shall be resident 
freeholders within the City and at least two (2) of whom shall be residents on either 
Whitefish or Lost Coon Lake. Similarly, the County shall appoint three (3) members, all 
of whom shall be resident freeholders of rural Flathead County and at least two (2) of 
whom shall be residents on either Whitefish Lake or Lost Coon Lake. The seventh (ih) 
member shall be appointed by the Whitefish City-County Planning Board and shall 
rotate on at least a biennial basis between a City resident and a County resident if at all 
possible. The parties shall bear their own expenses involved in advertising for and 
appointing Lakeshore Protection Committee members. The City shall be responsible 
for and shall bear all other costs of administering and operating the Lakeshore 
Protection Committee. 

5. City's Authority in New Jurisdictional Area. The parties agree that 
effective on the dates set forth below, and pursuant to § 76-2-31 0(1 ), MCA, the City, as 
a city of the second class, shall assume and use for the purposes of planning and 
zoning, subdivision review and approval, and for the administration of the lakeshore 
protection regulations and floodplain regulations, the boundaries of the New 
Jurisdictional Area, as shown in Exhibit "B." From those dates forward, and except as 
provided in Paragraph 6, below, within the boundaries shown on E:xhibit "B, " the City 
shall have the sole power to (1) establish or alter zoning designations; adopt, 
administer, enforce, and amend planning and zoning regulations, (2) consider and 
approve subdivisions and adopt, administer, enforce, and amend subdivision 
regulations, (3) consider and approve lakeshore permits and adopt, administer, enforce, 
and amend lakeshore regulations, and (4) consider and approve floodplain permits and 
adopt, administer, enforce, and amend floodplain regulations. The City shall be 
responsible for and shall bear all costs of administering the regulations identified above. 

The dates upon which the County shall cede responsibilities to the City are, for 
Planning, upon execution of th1s agreement, and for Floodplain regulation, Subdivision 

2 
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regulation, Lakeshore regulation, and Zoning regulation, September 30, 2005, unless 
the City requests regulation authority sooner, which request shall be granted by the 
County. 

6. Transition. The parties shall cooperate with one another in completing the 
transition schedule called for in this lnterlocal Agreement. As soon as practical 
Flathead County shall remove its zoning designations within the New Jurisdictional 
Area, but shall do so in coordination with the City's establishment of zoning designations 
so that currently zoned areas will transition smoothly from County zoning to City zoning. 

The parties agree that with respect to the New Jurisdictional Area, any zoning 
applications (including rezoning applications, conditional use permit applications, and 
similar applications), any subdivision applications, any lakeshore permit applications, 
and any floodplain permit applications received after the dates set forth in paragraph 5 

shall be processed solely by the City. The parties' planning staffs shall meet promptly 
after the execution of this lnterlocal Agreement to discuss and d etermine which agency 
shall process any zoning, subdivision, lakeshore or floodplain applications currently 
being processed by either party at the dates set forth in paragraph 5, in order to ensure 
a smooth transition. The planning staffs shall also discuss and d etermine the allocation 
of any fees received with any such applications in order to ensure that the fee income 
received fairly compensates the party performing the services. The parties' planning 
staffs shall create and sign a list reflecting their agreement with respect to such 
applications and fees, and shall thereafter process such applications as detailed on the 
signed list. 

7. Cooperation Between Parties. The parties acknowledge that there are 
some areas of the New Jurisdictional Area that are located more than two (2) miles from 
the City's current boundaries. The parties anticipate that within the foreseeable future 
the City will complete various annexations that will extend ·1ts boundaries so that all 
areas of the New Jurisdictional Area will be within two (2) miles from the City's 
boundaries. Until such time, the parties agree that if a zoning, subdivision, lakeshore or 
floodplain application is received with respect to land located within the New 
Jurisdictional Area but more than two (2) miles from the City's boundaries, they shall 
cooperate in order to ensure that such application is processed in an efficient and lawful 
manner, and in a manner that provides the City with the greatest authority and 
discretion allowed by Montana law. It is the parties' intent that the City handle all 
zoning, subdivision review, lakeshore permitting, and floodplain permitting in the New 
Jurisdictional Area to the maximum extent allowed by law, and pursuant to 
§ 7-11-102, MCA. 

8. Master Plan. The parties agree that the Whitefish City-County Master 
Plan Year 2020 shall remain in effect until updated within the new jurisdictional area by 
the City, or outside of the new jurisdictional area by the County. Based upon the City's 
expressed concerns about development along the Highway Corridors, the County 
agrees to give notice to the City of any proposed change to the master plan/growth 
policy, or any regulations, covering property in the Highway Corridors and allow City 
comment thereon. The Highway Corridors are defined as Y4 mile on either side of US 
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Highway 93 and Montana Highway 40 within the boundaries of the area shown on 
Exhibit "B" hereto. 

9. Land in Two Jurisdictions. If after the execution of this Agreement a 
zoning, subdivision, lakeshore or floodplain application is received by either party which 
involves land located inside and outside of that party's jurisdiction al area, as established 
by this Agreement, the parties' planning staffs shall meet and determine whether such 
application should be processed by only one party, and if so which party is appropriate 
for such processing. If the proposal involves connection to the City's water and/or 
sewer utilities, then the City shall process such application. 

10. Development in Watershed. Based upon the City's concerns with its 
watershed, the parties agree that if a proposed development in Sections 5, 8, 9, or 16, 
Township 31 North, Range 21 West, P. M. M., Flathead County, Montana, would result in 
a density of one dwelling unit per 5.0 acres, or higher, the boundaries of the New 
Jurisdictional Area shall be amended to include such property within the New 
Jurisdictional Area and the City shall undertake to review the proJect. 

11. State Lands. With the exception of incorporating the text and maps of the 
existing Whitefish City-County Master Plan Year 2020 into the Flathead County Master 
Plan, as it pertains to the land which will be removed hereby from the City's current 
jurisdictional area, the County shall not take action with respect to land use decisions on 
State lands until after the existing Advisory Committee, the DNRC, and the State Land 
Board have co�pleted their work and presented a neighborhood plan to Flathead 
County. At such time, and prior to making any land use decisions with respect to such 
State lands, the Flathead County Commissioners shall schedule a joint meeting with the 
Whitefish City-County Planning Board and the Whitefish City Council in order to obtain 
input. After receiving such input at such joint meeting, the Flathead County 
Commissioners shall thereafter be entitled to take such action with respect to such 
State lands as they deem appropriate. 

12. No New Entity. No separate legal entity is created pursuant to the terms 
of this Agreement, although the parties agree that the previously created Planning 
Board and Lakeshore Protection Committee shall continue in existence. 

13. No Jointly Owned Property. The parties shall not jointly acquire or own 
any property; nor shall the parties be required to contribute funds or bear any expenses 
other than those identified herein. 

14. Regular Review. The parties shall meet yearly to discuss generally the 
topics covered by this Agreement. Every five (5) years after the execution of this 
Agreement the parties shall meet to review the jurisdictional areas identified herein to 
jointly determine whether any modification is warranted. 

15. Entire Agreement - Duration. This Agreement contains the entire 
agreement of the parties hereto, and supersedes any prior written or oral agreements 
between them concerning the subject matter contained herein. There are no 
representations, agreements, arrangements, or understandings, oral or written, between 

4 

City Council Packet  May 5, 2014   page 216 of 226



the parties hereto relating to the subject matter contained in this Agreement which are 
not fully expressed herein. The provisions of this Agreement rnay be waived, altered, 
amended or repealed in whole or in part, or terminated, only upon the written consent of 
all parties to this Agreement. The duration of this Agreement shall be until the parties 
mutually terminate it. 

16. Governing Law. The construction of this Agreement, and the rights and 
liabilities of the parties hereto, shall be governed by the laws of the State of Montana. 

17. Forum. Any litigation to enforce or interpret the provisions of this 
/\greement or the parties' rights and liabilities arising out of this Agreement or the 
performance hereunder shall be maintained only in the courts in the County of Flathead, 
Montana. 

18. Captions. The captions and headings of the diffe rent paragraphs of this 
/\greement are inserted for convenience of reference only, and are not to be taken as 
part of this Agreement or to control or affect the meaning, construction, or effect of the 
same. 

19. Necessary Acts. Each party to this Agreement agrees to perform any 
further acts and execute and deliver any further documents that may be reasonably 
necessary to carry out the provisions of this Agreement. 

20. No Waiver. The waiver by one party of the performance of any covenant, 
conditions or promise shall not invalidate this Agreemenf nor shall it be considered as a 
waiver by such party of any other covenant, condition or promise. The delay in pursuing 
any remedy or in insisting upon full performance for any breach or failure of any 
covenant, condition or promise shall not prevent a party from later pursuing remedies or 
Insisting upon full performance for the same or any similar breach or failure. 

21. Partial Invalidity. In the event that any word, phrase, clause, sentence, 
paragraph, section, or other part of the Agreement set forth herein is held invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, such judgment shall affect only that part held invalid and 
the remaining pr, visions hereof shall continue in full force and effect. 

STATE OF MONTANA ) 
) S.S. 

COUNTY OF FLATHEAD ) 

ATTEST: 

(seal) 

On this ; day of b\:J(\.Jr.:J'-1, 2005, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public for the 
State of Montana, personall� appeared GARY B. MARKS and NECILE LORANG, 
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known to me to be the City Manager and City Clerk respectively, and acknowledged to 
me that they were duly authorized to execute the same. 

IN W ITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my hand and affixed my seal the day and year first 
above written. 

(seal) 

Printed Name: 1/o_,",c__-(2___ �Jcou:]bR.c ((__ 
Notary Public for the State of Montana 
Residing: lA_;� ·tt h s J.\ ) 
My Commission expires: _s2:_,;23--?Juf= 

* * * * * * * * * * * * 

BOARD OF 

13y 

STATE OF MONTANA ) 
) S.S. 

COUNTY OF FLATHEAD ) 

ATTEST: 

(seal) 

On thisd5" day of January, 2005, before me, the undersigned, a Notary Public for the 
State of Montana, personally appeared GARY D. HALL and KIMBERLY MOSER, 
known to me to be the Chairman and Clerk respectively of the Board of Commissioners, 
and acknowledged to me that they were duly authorized to execute the same. 

r 
ff. . !N W ITNESS WHEREOF, I have set my ha

. 

�� and?_ 
IX. ed

. ·

m)';/;al the day and year f1rst 
above wntten. Jx)JL:.JJ�I!1)uf_J-8!(__j 

Print�d Name.:..-Deb ie L. Boreson 
" .· 

NOtary Public for the State of Montana 
(seal) Residing: Kalispell, Montana 

My Commission expires: July 16, 2005 
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EXHIBIT A- EXISTING WHITEFISH PLANNING JURISDICTION 

0 

11111 Existing Planning Jurisdiction 

- Current Whitefish Zoning Jurisdiction ·� 
- Whitefish City Limits - July 12, 2004 

o • 

- National Forest 
- State of Montana- DNRC 

N 

• 0 

miles 

.5 1 1.5 
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EXHIBIT 8 - PROPOSED WHITEFISH PLANNING JURISDICTION 

11111 Existing Planning Jurisdiction 

- Proposed Planning Jurisdiction 

c 

- Current Whitefish Zoning Jurisdiction 

- Whitefish City Limits - July 12, 2004 

� Highway Corridor 

- National Forest 
- State of Montana - DNRC 

·�-
N 

* 0 

mllea 

.5 1 1.5 
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ORDINANCE NO. 02- 02 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WHITEFISH, MONTANA, 
ESTABLISHING CITY POLICY PREVENTING THE APPOINTMENT OF A CITY COUNCIL 
MEMBER TO THE CITY/COUNTY PLANNING BOARD AND THE BOARD OF 
ADJUSTMENT. 

WHEREAS, Section 76-1-201(1)(b), M.C.A., provides that of the City/County 
Planning Board's 9 members, the City Council shall appoint 2 official members who reside 
within the City limits and who may be employed by or hold office in the City; and 

WHEREAS, Section 76-2-322(1), M.C.A., provides that the City Council shall 
appoint members to the Board of Adjustment, but does not specify whether appointees 
may be employed by or hold office in the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Whitefish Zoning Jurisdiction Regulations are silent on the issue 
of whether appointees to the City/County Planning Board and the Board of Adjustment may 
be employed by the City or hold office in the City; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the City of Whitefish, and its inhabitants, that 
the City establish a policy preventing City Council members from being appointed to the 
City/County Planning Board and to the Board of Adjustment on a permanent basis; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Whitefish, 
Montana as follows: 

1. It is hereby established as City policy that the City Council shall not appoint to 
the City/County Planning Board or to the Board of Adjustment on a permanent basis any 
member of the Whitefish City Council; provided, however, that members of the City Council 
may be appointed to such boards on a temporary basis (not exceeding three consecutive 
months) in order to fill in for an absent board member or to fill a vacant position. 

2. This Ordinance shall take effect 30 days after its adoption by the City Council, 
and approval by the Mayor thereof. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WHITEFISH, MONTANA, THIS 4TH DAY OFFEBRUARY 	, 2002. 

I 	  
MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

City Clerk 
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The following pages were handed out at the City Council meeting the night of the meeting. They 
are included here as an addendum to the packet. 



John Wilson 
From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Mr. John Wilson, 

Michael Jamison [mjamison@npca.org] 
Monday, May 05, 2014 12:57 PM 
jwilson@cityofwhitefish. org 
cstearns@cityofwhitefish.org; jmuhlfeld@cityofwhitefish.org; nlorang@cityofwhitefish.org 
Parking resolution 5-5-2014 

Thank you for your time in considering some amount of limited on-street parking in the area of West 6th St, West 5th St, 

Geddes Ave, Jennings Ave, West 3rd St and Good Ave, between Baker Ave and West 2"d St. 

Having reviewed the parking maps under consideration, I strongly encourage city staff and Council to explore options 

that provide limited on-street parking in a portion of the affected neighborhood. Doing so, I believe, will serve to slow 

traffic, as well as to mediate for reduced driveway size that has resulted from the 2013 street-width expansion. 

Specifically, 1 believe it is imperative to offer parking on the east side (north bound) of Geddes, between 4th and 5th. 
West-side parking, as noted on current maps, is complicated by the three-way intersection at 4th, the west-side 

placement of a fire hydrant, and the lack of west-side sidewalks. 

An east-side parking area eliminates these obstacles, and allows for homeowners to accommodate occasional guests. 

An absolute restriction on parking in this area poses a very real bwden to those whose property and topography 

preclude additional off-street parking. Without some accommodation, guests will be forced to walk a considerable 

distance, after parking in front of neighboring 4th St. residences. 
1 understand the constraints under which the city must operate, in particular with regard to street maintenance, plowing 

and emergency services. I also understand the speeds at which drivers already are traveling on the wider street, when 

the entire width is clear. We have measured the street, and have experienced two cars passing (north-south) alongside a 

parked car (effectively stacking three cars wide as they pass). While drivers must slow in this scenario, current street 

width is ample to accommodate such passage. 
1 suggest that staff and Council consider, at least as a starting point, an ordinance that includes some limited on-street 

parking, with the understanding that future restrictions may be put in place if and when it becomes clear that such a 

measure does, in fact, interfere with city operations and public safety. 

Thank you again for your time and consideration, 

Michael Jamison 

401 & 409 Geddes 

Whitefish, MT 59937 



5/5 Meeting info 

1 of26 

Subject: 5/5 Meeting info 

From: Mark <nwtoolrepair@gmail.com> 

Date: 5/5/2014 12:34 PM 

To: nlorang@cityofwhitefish.org 

Necile 
Greetings 

I s  there a chance you could e-mail or get these to the Council for tonight? 
1 hope to attend tonight. I'm not sure if I can talk at the beginning of the meeting on the parking or when it comes up 
on the agenda? 
Thank you 
Mark VanNyhuis 
415 Geddes Ave 
Whitefish 

- CCF05052014_15.jpg ---------
--------------------
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F"il . �·f 
a� z 

t,H;:, In<.., �omplet�d the major[ty of tt>e constru.tion lor the s.c.ott Ave;nue !Jft SU.t10rt Se• 
lm;;sOV@ITii1Jlt!o Pr ·1!�t last fa11. C was ab. co finls.h all e undergro d pqJI� llr-<l s bs 
fa·(.i? s troctur components fiX the N!W h'i:: s-tation b.ef01re the on$-C't o wiN<l<' wc�t • 

'5om<a limito;-,rl work f"@r.<�i sir> the· vkfr•ity of the !itt station that will be.:cmp!et«i rhi� -prin 

Pro,ed Up<!ate · St-eet R€'fonstructton Planned to Begrn in ;uty 
Whh t."'e completion of thil xot• Pw�n. .,e IJ'ft '5!llll01' Lmp IW!m"rents just Mound tt,e ccm. 
'!:h� City of \'\il". �efi$h 4 mov1"'1fl fQ:"\v�rd with the C6ign and <:onstruni<:-n of the 6th & C..:dd 
Ro�dway �"<:or.stru<:tion ?reject. fhe oroject h s bee s :t · oto th.:follO\Vt g two pha�i: 

• Phase I· W 6-th5trN't (1vesc cf8aker}, FrlntAvcni!i>E'& W 5th Sueet{e.<IS! cf G�dd�j) 
• Phas-e 11 · Geddes (north of W StPl Street), J<:Mrngs l!l GC>Od' AVC1tt,6. 

Phase I i� sched"ied for cc .str-..JctJon thls sum...,erifall. whole o"\')ase II is Kl edu!ed for �u 
mer,'f I consrruc ·on: 2013. 
Ph•sr! Propo·�er. 1m�·''<)'H.:m,:nl� f, Uf-'Wil'lng Publ'l Vl.:etiPg 
n·� cor:-!!nt design wil• p"ovi<ie a sio!walk i!lon,g the E?r.tire project corridor. Th' ••K ud 
sidt>Wa 1 k along •ii •t AYen,.;e ard W s�h Stre>e · ·;.eoc�icns o roaci'way thilt were prevoou y n 
planned to ha-,e new sidewal . 
ii·.e desogn rov�des. ·mited on str�t par!W1g bel!\v�en 8;Jke ;�nd O'Srien fw nuc'$. ( 
>lrE«t p;uklnt� i s otherwise not feil»bte <J ,,:g t is rr;)tr ow · orridor. 
M<J� delivery ;md pkk...,p i� <!>-p<!<:tc:d to thil:t1g" in �"�area. According to the Postal Ser.'i! 
m<Jtf w•ll b� d<!�'"''\'d to lo<:ked mail box anks, T1�o p) ew maJ bo)( bad ckers < 
piann«! as pa:-t of this proit>ct; <:n� at 6th & Scott ano tloe other at 6th & Lupfer. Exist! 
mail boxes w II t>e removed and returnee to b e-ir ow •ers as they will no longer be us"d 
me Po al Serv ce 

io ro2•·lew thes.e ar.d otre• projea e.· ems, r.h.: City of Whltefi=.h t1as sd'l�.:!iJIOO th;e io:lo 
.rg p.Jbtc meetlrg: 

Publi� Mee-ting· 6th & Gedd.,._. · Ph'ls.ot I 
\'ihero: Thvrsd;,y, february '' 1011 

Where: Whit�fish Council Chambers. 
(413 East S�cond Str*t, Whltefbh) 

Tim� �ooum 

HoP'€ w see )'OU at the rr.eetlr".(I! l �<a·.J h;we ¥'JY q�!icn$, ;.>I ;u l�d lr<:(' lo cortac�; 
P.rar.:lon The> ( P r oject M;�raet?r) at 75<! 5015 or��;: 4915. 
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City of 
Whitefish 

ENGINEERING 
STANDARDS 

February 2009 

Ciry of \Vhitcli-�h 
Public \\"ork.s Depitltnwm 

P. 0 Box 1.1-R 
\\'hitdisl1, .Mo�tlana 5Y'-Xl7 

(·WG) 63·24-l'iO 
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{ fTI.(C'F- tJtll�·ft<.Jf [ N U.rN£?{1 lAt&, L'/1tL-v,OAtc0) 
�ro- r�;. 

TABL£8 -l 
1 ROAD DESIGN STANDAHDS FOR I..OCAL SUBDlVISIO� STRFf--I.S--...;---
1 :, LID/ I PRIVATE 

DESlG!\' ·r ANDe.BQS ARTERJAL COLL..CCl"OR LOCiL (1 EVR-�J.. LOCAL 

80ft. 60ft 
I 

6U ft. 160 ft. I s 0 fl. 

24 ft. 4 1 21} ftG) 20 ft. fl.·fini1.11:.1m A:>phalt Width 
- - - - ------ - ---

Maximum Grade 

Cul-d sac tum llrouncl: 

a. Ou ;de Asph:'!h R3diu 

6% 

b. Minirnum Outside Right-of-Way Radius'' 

c. Le-ngth 

-- --- -,r- -----, 
9% 9% 

SG tl SO fL so fl. 
60 n. 55fL 

See Table 2 

1 A rage net res.i en !ial dens..ity of I acre or less. Low Impact Design requires approv;tl by lh�: 
Cily E ngineer. 

�Terrain a.nJ design cons.traints may dictate greater right-of-way 
3 Dt.sig.n approv-ed by the City Engineer. 
" Where parking is r..:q_uire on ootll sides of s1rcct, J-< fee.t mm i mm 1 ro�ch..,ay ,,.·i{!rh is needed. 

Not� \\/here dc�1sity c c-cd� R unit /n t acre. parkmg 1s required n both sides ' of s1ree1 unless cverfluw/visttor pGrking demands are met elsewhere 
�-No pnking, a Jlo\o,.-ed Otll ZO fec crural : t rcet <' 
6 Right-of-way mdius IS intended to awommo�tc stdewalk & boulc•ard requirements. 

\ 

��, f't"- \ \L-Y '\ 

Section · :> 
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NEIGHBORHOOD 
STREET D,ESIGN 

GUIDELINES 
An Oregon Guide 

for Reducing Street Widths 

A Consensus Agreement 
by the Stakeholder Design Team 

November 
2000 

Prepar�d by the 
Neighl>orhood Screen 
Project: Stakeilobders 
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-<"} .... 

The w1d hot stre L al::;o aited!> other <:spects of livability. 
i\..:�rrDw stret>TS ;Jff? less cnstlv tn develop and m:Jlnt.;�in and 
they pre�cnt less impt:>rvious suda�-.-e, reducing runoff <md 
.,, aler yu.:llity F roblelTtS. 

The to 1 i cHJtomo ile Rpee-ds on nc•Lghborhon I �treer 
probabl:• tops th list of isst es. \.'{here treets are wide and 
tralfic rno''�S !.1st, c.ities often get requests from citizens to 
mstaH trafk· calming device:, such as speed humps. How­
evt:>r. the:;e C<ln slow resports.e times of t-mcrgent)' <;ervin' 
vehidt's ue.;�ting the 5-ilrne, or \vors , emerg ncy response 
con ::erns thc1r1 narrow streets. 

nrc-gon's Lmd Conscrv<ltion and Dc-velopm<:>nt Commission 
rt! o�niz� lhe vJiues o.�s...wc:iated wiU1 narrow sireN widtJ1s 
when it ;�dopted lh€' Tr<Jnspormti<ln Planning Rule. The rule 
requires local govemn1ent- toe tabllsh �tand<Jrd, for!( a! 
streets and Jccesswnys thJt minimiz.L' pavement width and 
right--()t-w&y. nw rule requires thal the slanda.rds provide for 
the operatmnal n�d of streets, lnduding pedestrian and 
' icycle ci rclll.�tlon ,1nd emergPn.-:y vehicle ace . . 

Why An• [magennt Savir;e Providers Concerned? 
,,:r · tr_,.,� .;'l'idthaffe the ability of mergen · ·endce whl I� 

to q1,1it;kly read1 fu€' or medical emergency. Emergenc:y 
senri!:'e provid,er.s and tesic(er.ts ali,, ;e ha e an ex--pectati<m 
th,1 !ghborh od � t � ts pro de adequate spa 1or emer-

gency ehi les to p rnm ptJy re� thdr destination and ior 
fi r�figh lers to •!?tficientl )' se� up <Uld use �heir e.q"Uipment. 

Fire eqllipmr-nt i� la.rgc <1nd local fire departments do not 
have full dis-uetion to �Jmply "tlownsi1:e'' their vehicles. 
Efforts by - me departments to do thi have gencraily 1 ot 
been su�-.'Cc-ssful, 5;ince tht"&" sm<Jller v(>hides did nol can' 
ade<; Iilli'> �up II �C. ior many t�tpical emergency e\'ents. 

·r he si ze of fire app<lratl.ts is driven, in part, b. federal >ecu 
p..1.tional Health a d Safe , Admi 11 i strat,l on (OSH } require· 
mE!rits and toea I service need s. The regulations require thiH 
i.i.re tr •® il ry ·t;HlSide:rabJe �?quiprnent and ilia .firefig,hter­
ridecompletelyoendos.ed in the vehicle. ln. addition, to save 
n one' fir.e: department,-; bliY mul !·purpose veh icles that can 
rg pond.. o an �mer-gene_ Like a heart al-t.ack OT ill t r01 Hic � ci· 
dent, as well ilS a liri;.l. I��� vcl1.icles t y p ically pro 'id the 

2 
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� -- b · · ' Fit t resp n;;c to an emc>rgenc. � n am UJ<ill 
&' \' ide rn.n-porllo il o p!LaJ if. �ded .JE"<l mmoddle 
the n d tt1 move �he_l:',ehi.de.s anf! a ss �J.llpmg_�t_Q� � :;,:em� )::!'t_tfle ·�iform Fi� .�Xi c.all- for•�J.O-�oh.v i� 
caear pa,s.sage. � .. Yi < 11 A 1 i t\,'\1\ L f I jl.{ l(�J 

/ The is of .liability . lso t<lises wncen s abo tt response time 
· pn{i the amo tnt ni equipment carr ied .on ru.::ks. . !'.Ut'ces;; 

Ill. Background 

f jJ l a wsu it m W Sf U.nn, Or�gcm lound � <Jt <1 respon.w tim 
of eight mmutes was inadequate. nw 1ationaJ Fire Protec­
tion AssociJt'ion, which is the n<�tional st.1ndard-setting 
body ror the fim S{'rvice, is proposing new rule-s that would 
r uare il ntilXImum f(•ur-minute resp()n.:W time for initial 
crew 3nd eight-minute response for h.! II crew ;;md equip­
men for 91)<-!'.., of call:;. fire departments ha 'e also been ued 
t r not h J v i ng the proper equipment at the scene of on 
<t(ciJ�nL This puls pressure on departments to load all 
p · · ible equipment onto a vehicle and incre<Jses the n�d to 

"'-use la.rge vehide . 

Rt>.!>identidl. �lreets an? complex pl<1ces lh�t serve multiple 
anJ, at times, compelipg n�ds. Residents e pe-ct a pi.Ke 
tl).M is r l<!ti.\'(;'h· quiet that conne<:t rather than divide!> 
their neighborhood, where the_ can '>'alk along and ross 
Lh street rea lively e<1sily .u1d safely, and where ·ehides 
mov� slowly .. ther street users, indudil g emergency 
servic(> providers, solid wa re cDlle tors, and ddivery 
tru ks, expect il place that the .. {In sale!y and efti i;.>ntly 
dL'Co?SS and maneu ·er to perfvm) th.c>lr jobs. Clt"a.riy, b<Jianc­
ing the needs or these different users is not an easy task 

Ore� on's ities rel lect a Vilriety ol r�identiai.;.Lree.t t}·pe�. In 
m<J.ny older .tnd historic neighborhO<>ds built between 1900 
and 19-UI. residential streets typically v;uy in w i dth in rela­
tion to the length .1nd function of the street. In many cases, 
a ty·pical resid�ntial !�et m;J)' II! 24 lt:ello 2S f�t in width 
with parking on both sides. However, it tS no1 uncommon 
to tind s-treet ranging from 20 feet to 3 (eet in width withm 
tiw .·.11�1C' ncip,l borhood. i'\ewer subdivis.ions and neighbor· 
hood slre>els buill ·in�.:,; 19;:..0 lend lo Jefle.::t a more uniform 
design, wJth resi·Jenttal streen> typ1caHy 32 feet to 36 feet in 
width w i th p,1rking em both stde� ilnd little or no v<ldJ!ion 
within J neighborhood . 

. 3 
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D(·:;igtr� For Uva/Jilit_tJ. Over the last d cade, ci izens, 
pl.mn rs, and public ottidab lhruugltout the Unit.:rd States 
h,wc e:..pressed increa ed i nterest m dendopmtmt o( com­
pnct, pede trian-friendly neighborhoods. The design ot 
n<"ighborhaod stnxot.s i.s J k�v compont:nt in this eifort. 
\Jtionall ',the appropriate widU1 and design o{ neighbor­
hood streets h<ts been the. ubject of !'JUn'letous books and 
.1rticles targete(l not ju t to the pl<�nnmg and drvclopmcnt 
comm nity, but also the general population. ln M<�y 1445, 
Ni!U'!-!l'C'i,>l, m<'!gil:dne ieatured an artide on neorrc.di£ional 
pl311Ilin8 that'listed reducing the width of neighborhood 
stre€ts as one of the" op 15 way;; to fix I he suburb .'' In 
<1ddition, developments such as Kentlands in Maryland and 
Celebralion in FloridJ have gained fame by incorporatmg 
rn<1ny of the eatures of traditio 1.11, walki'lble neighborhoods 
and towns., inchJding ntlrrow r eighborhood stree-ts. 

Chances of a Pedestrian 
Surviving a Traffic Ccl!isi:Jn Safe an.d Livable. There ts gro\"'ing appre· 

dation lot the relationship between st;Te;et 
width, vt?hlde fX'ed, the number of crashes, 
and resulting fatalities. Deaths and injuries 
to pedestriaru in rease ignlfiC<Jntly �s the 
speed or motor vehicles goes up. In 1999 .. 
planner Peter Swift studied approximately 
20,000 polke ;:u;; ::idenl reptJrls in Lortgmont, 
Colorado to detennme whu;:h of IJ physical 
charac eristics at e<�ch acdd('nt loGltinn (e.g., 
v,•idth, curvature, sidewalk typ-e, de.) il -
count for U1e crash The res 1lts are not 
en'irely surpn ing: the highest correlation 
was between calli ·ions and th�' width of the 
strc t. A typici!136-foo wide reskhmtial 
str�t h s 1.21 collisions/mile/year as op­
posed to 0.3Z for a 24 foot \Vide str�et. The 
£3fe t streE-t . w�re narrow, slm , 2. 4 - loot 
wide stre ls. 

40 mpll 3D 
n'\j)ll 

Sut��lvai Rates 

211 mph 

•">��: ilda!:w.! from "Be:ll Msnegeflleni 
P�s: �<!ld E:v.tr.g, t991>, d.ii'.a ln:rm 
·r ralt.c ManagC111Cfi1 am lle<"Y-! s�r1 · 

l).nk"' & Pt..oy 19112 

Ait>�lrd-�Vimriug. 't•i >ltborhoods. il1 Oregon, ci 1zens, ncn­
profit orga ni liHioru:, tran.-;porlMi or1 ild \'Ocates, .md stJ te 
:�gc·ncics interested in the liv,� ihty of o r communities ha,•e 
ad\'CX'i!l�:<1 reJuong U1.:? wi th ot netghborhood :;treels. 
Severill new deve lo pments th,H include n<Jrrow ndr,hh<lr· 
hocxi streets such i'l Fa1rvi \,.Village i.n Fairview, \-\'esl Bend 
\'ill,1gL� in Hend. and Orenco Sta t 1on i.n Hilbooro haw rt?· 
ceived Crrc,�mr:r'� Lito:</fr!ir_v AINrd5 IS-tv Ap_r'<'ndrx ll fiJT c�l."liaCt 

c 
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v. A Community 
Process for 
Adopting 
Standards 

Lnique tssues ,,.ilJ ,,rise 111 eJch commlmity, whe her n�l11�1'ti 
to hiH;;, h!ght:>r density neighborhoods, or e\isring stre<>t 
p11tlo;rn:;. Clu�e ollaburation with fire .:�nd emc:rg�ncy ser­
\"tCe provtders, pub !I work- <�genaes, refuse haulers., and 
other neighborh Ck..i �treet \lsers mt�st b-e m,1inti:linf;'·l 
throu�h ut he procc: < . • This will ensure t ha t the stmd<Jrds 
J.ev�lup�td to meet the general goals i lhe commw1Hy witJ 
u! me-et lht- s��cif1t needs of differe l t<lkeholder groups. 

Through bro..'ld·based inv.ahemmt, educational efforts, and 
sensitive iritera-.ction with stakehol.ders, a tvmmunity �n 
adopt new street stmutttrds tl at will meet tht trart...;porta­
ti(m ru�.d:t o.f tht' citiwlS, while providhrg PJtd encouraging 
a t•ery livable residerttial enviromnent_ 

The lollowlng steps retlc-ci a r alisbc process development 
and local g vemment adoptioL or �tandard_. fur n rrow 
neighborhoO<.:l streets 

Steps for Local Go emment Consideration and 
Adoption of Neighborhood Street Standard-

1. Determinestakeho1dcrs 

2. In oml/Edueate: What is the value ot narro\v resi­
den ti a I stret"!t standards? 

3. En \.lfe dial()g\•e <Hl'\ong stakeholders 
4. ldentii spe...ific issue , such as !>t?<'t$0nal needs and 

natural features 

5- PrepM� draft standards 

6- Revl ew draft with sta eholders/officials /p�:tbli 
7. Revise, xmdu public rev.iew, andl adopt standards 

8. Implement 11nd ensure pt."'iod.ic evoluation 

Determine strlkelwldas. There Me m.ztny benefits to J com 
mun ty etdopting narrow '>treet standMds. 1\tany stakehl.>ld­
ers ;,har iln inlerest in n:::aJfrnli,ll transportation i:.&lle . 

Tht.'Se stakeholders must be mduded from the outset of <lnY 
new s!rect stJnd.ud adoption process-

7 
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� 

V Connected Street Networks. Connected ·treet net­
works prov1de multtple wllys h)r emergt-ncy res-pons.: 
vehicles to access a particu 1M loc.c.non llnd multi pte 
C'V;}mation routes.ln addH.ion, J connected street "ystem 
em:ourage, slow, CJ. tious drh•ing s.ince drivers encounte r 
cro:;$ traHt ilt frc �ucnt mtc:t"l·als. 

T)'pi�al Subdlvlslon Cui-d&-Saics 

_: ''----------=--

r I Vle-JJ..Connected Stre!11 Hetwot1t 

-./ Adequate Parking. When pJ.rking opportunities are 
in:�dcquatc, people arc more likely to park illegally in 
to<ati{Hi that rniay bic.K'k access by emt:r&-'1'1C)' service ve­
hicles. Comm1mjtie n� to review their parking sta.ndards 
when they rons�der <1dopting narrov.· street standard. to 
m<.1k sure that adequ 'le on-str.e€t an off-street pa£king 
opp<Jrt uniti l!..� will e J v.lilable _ 

.Y Parf..1ttg tlfotun.mt. "lJIQ gui.ddi.nes are de-pen ent oo 
stri t �nforc:!:.m�nt vie:;-ing .restrictions�. Commun.i tie�; 
m tst ass-ure .w s;m:rAL.�mmitmrnt tiri'lel · and etiff' -�ng enfor�ment by (I n �PE r1ate :l en . I n li\(!o 
· bse1 ce@:SUch acommitme.nt, thesef'iarrow slreet tan" 

�,..;J:ri!rn1ould�J.doptea. 
-... �� ----------- 1-'1. ([seer (_ tc""c-e;C'c 9,-l{ 

v StJrinkltrs 1 ot Require.t. 'll1c d ·klist and model cross­
�ion, pnwid�d in this guid<."LXX>k do not depend upon 
having fire prinkler>- it\SI.ll�d \n residences_ I\·! ore t1e:-.ibili · 

h) st-:-eet design n t�y be J)fl$Sibl-e wbe1 sprit\klers Jrc prm·'idetl 
However, narrow sueet;; s•ilJ fleW to <J -,;.lmm()(.]at� fire app.!­
ruttl:> that respond to non-fire, rn'<'l.1ic<JI emergend�. Other 
types oi whides {such,,:; moviJ g \·OJn.s,. pubHc "'-ork� m,pQhin­
e ry, nn(_ gar' ,1ge/re<ycling trucks) also n d to !x> able to serve 
t:l neighborhood.. 

9 
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The 
ChefklU Comm(Jmt� ,t,�k.,t-.,J1Ji!r rvup shou! J ;,y;,.temdtl ·dllv pmcw through :he 

,ht."'!.:kli;,t >t•low dS fMrl of t1um deus.ion m& · m' pruu�""· Also, your <.:ommu­
nity !'!let\' wish to .:�dd to tlti� thccb.li�L ll1e lormat ot tb� ·heckl�t m;:ludL� 
ro0m lor LOmments. �'ncour<�ge st<�keholcers to make notes tegarding tlu�ir 
.:o11<."t"rns .>nd record decisions JlXJut 11 '•'' the items 111 tht' cl'K'cktis: hJ\'l' lx'<.:'n 
a d d res ;('<.i 

fhe t,1.:tor> arc mtE-rrdatcd and arc b-est ronsld(•rcJ togethe-r. The Jtcms ar(' 
grouped by category in ,llogicJJ order, but are not weighted . 

Community Proc.eSS/!Oeci·sion-Making Noes 

D Good City 0 pmmerrt Working Rel�lon<s 
Qe!.·elop f)Oed, dose w�kiog rei�OI"SSiP::> between Uw lire' 
E!!Tlefl1er<CY respcynse prcte�sional�. public works, buitctJng 
of!iciafs, land use and 1iansportali0t1 plamBf!;, r:ogiM:ers, and 
o!Mf large vehide opermcrs. Tl'le gc ls to aChieve trust!;'lg 
work ng relattoosr s tl'la1 ad to eff.�tive I'�Cfl of , , 

· 

e2ch others neecls reltt�eo to !!91"E!€ments el:Jom neig'hoomood f /. (), {1)1-1 � l1 \',:{.1,tJ;b 
�reet * daros. I) 1� �6" fi . -=sr1 p-�Ut� ·, 

s- tc n f 1'1 ·zo ;.Je p!i D. c.onslstencyofOtdlna� ti �<-ilL-Cl N� ·· 
. 

Re�1ewall aPi lcatxe codes snd ord· ances and rn.aXe them --�--------

D 

D 

oonslst>enl vMh ihe narrow ne-:ghborhoodS4reetstmda.."'d� �u ---------
are adop".i11g. Consider perforrnanoe-ba!;.&c! codes aoo O<l'di-
n�rn::es !P <�ddrel;S !helarg$1 dEl>'>lelcpmenl b'SSues, ot wtiletl 
street design is j 'tone part_ Am�I'IC! ordinances .Cf"L'y ... .neo yo 
tJ<we !11(;! conru-rrilnOB of ernergency Md large sel'o'lce vehicle 
prOvidE: IS. 

IJI'!ifQffl!lyAIIQwed 
Unifamly a!bw narrow netgttoorhoOO streets oy code ard 
ordinance ra'!hef !n&n req ring a� process. such� a 
·•atianre 0: planned 1J 00\o•e:opmen Or {l)f'l!;id!!'J' a �co 
process S<milar to the Oily of Elee'Jert011's lha! LJSes a multi--
d�IIMry · <eel'evieo.nand approval pto09SSd 9100 
delle>'opmen re'lliew prooess. Si.'ft A(J{Jf!-Mix A fO(moro Jl'lfo. 

community 'Process 
Dcte e y,nai your coro nlty (;lroces5 will l!;>e few d6'lll!.lop(tlQ 
aoo adop1i g �igl'lbo=:"hood st:tee: stand31� i:tletudiflg toile..\. g 
legal requiremen�, galn�ng !XJiitieal support. aoo eflOOllraging 
�blic ed!JQ!ition and invOI\'artiMI. Team-11\l::>rk and ·m<Cl•,'ef!W.nt 
of all �ge Yetlide SM\ri• provi<'letS l::. a ctitical component for · 
success. Corusil:ftN th@! potentilill benefits of nartow s!reets, such 
as -,y,� tt a:ffc,l;ess s'lofTTI'Ivater nmofl, a _ bv.<er ccs!s.. LOOk 
for \Y.Jys to minimize the fisk that fire apparat . .-·s, will not be able 
to QuicklY a� <�n efMiilency and mi · �le lflconve­
n;;f'!Ce for othef large vehidas. For mc>rllf(l.t'mJS!lt'.tt see Ctlaprer 
V. ·A Cqrpm!Jfl.1y Pl'ocil-S!l ict At:iq:1tiflg sta.m� " 

10 
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D Block Length 
� block !E� !0 e� Slt\1. ctJMGdMty. .B!oe.� 
r�tl'IS si'tou'rl (il'.lneitJ!ly ooHJxrooo 000 feet As b�ock tenglhs 
ir..crrul� m 300 rem. attentiOn to stleet 'Mdth and otner 
dcs..gn r�aMes becomes more •mportant Thls is becws.e tire 
app=tus preccMeo:ed hoses are .SO foot in leng h. IM1h a. 
oooneded street system �d 30Q.;foct tr:ocl\ ler.g!Trs, 1fi9 fire 
a ppamws c::n be parlled at ltle end of iha block wt"P-rt:t a fir6' is 
I� and the hOse can rooDh the tir&. 

Coorc!i �e blod< !eog1h requiret'JWnt!> with sp� req · 

ments for �1io-.n to <uteri. �ts. Preserve · tsgn1y, 
C$pacity, and function of 1ha rteigWomooc:!'s surroundll'lg 
arteri;;�l$ .and coUeetet"S b'Jf a:dl't� ng to aeress management 
standards.. 

Local Issues 

D 

. D 

D 

D 

Ev.l!!cu<Won Routes for Wildfire Hrumrd and Tsunami Zones 
�slgnatedl \� C!fiHl hazard« lStJ'iami zones ma� fleed wider 
sWats to proVide for C:SS:gootecf ewcue.tb !Qites., · · 20 
feetof.df!araoo .Wll:lbs.lruit..ed v.iW.lti. Oife�t «� 15Hs may 
ha'\1� c!Jfe.rem��� �dj� on vltletnec a Gel� 
bQI'I1ood l.$ 11;;ct:lt.e<lin OM of1t.e&il zones cr in a des!gnated 
�.�SCI,fSOOn. toutB· . 

Agrlctt!UJral EQuipment 
tf youH-:ommt.mlty iii -. i$Q!Onal .ogtieultu cen!er, qansid�r 
Rde®\i� pas-sag� t .ag.l'icWtttrm Cq>Jlj:lmern. �1.11<19e 
par;,s;age.oo rest&mltal s:treets. 
PreseNing Naturql Features 
If your community h.."Js sel'l!;j}ive narumt feau-es. :JCI'I !lS sleep 
slope:>, I."V'i!tf'J\'>'§)'s. or •:r.<:�Ms. !Ocate streem in a manner that 
preseN�s \liem iCI IM  groa10St exlent feasible. Care should be 
w.eo to �U!Ia. nawrat dta1n.age featUre$ 011 .� �::!· 
�pa. �roo<:�r�W�menmooauMfollown . ai, �!JtS� 
teature!;. w eoover posslbte, so ·�  't'iSU" SsW ph� access 
to me: narural! fearure � prov�e(;l a:;; approprGte. 
Srwvl c t r4 �  p,e-u:;;c; A t E rz ' 
If !>llCI.'' rerooval and stOfa�e Is an issue il ywr comm nity, 
OOI"iSidet snow s:torng,e locallom, aft(j whe1her tllmporaJY 1'1l!lting 
r�ans soow plo>t.·in; •Qf !ito�age.w· lie re-::;uited. Some. 
ccmmuruttes may cons.�eiiP-fl;l\lfdlng alil&iiary wirt ·er p� 
• side ne!ighborhoo� {ltleugh oot ooroside:�i eol:ectms) . 
. Woflo: with your publiC Y i1cs ·ar.d e>"'glneemg oopartmen!S tn SASS 
if any act; s1ments may be maee 1t1 erms of operalions ot stnlel 
des•gn that wcutd o "'ke oomw.- net"ghboitPod streets won� better 
for your co.mmuMy (·..-.der pari<Jows to stnre snow. for instance}. 

1 4  

l 

-CCF05052014_17.jpg----------------------------

3 of26 5/7/2014 9:34AM 



5/5 Meeting info 

- CCF05052014_18.jpg------------

4 of26 5/7/2014 9:34AM 



5/5 Meeting info 

D 
D 

D 

-CCF050520 14 _1 9 .jpg 

5 of2 6 

!.;;e 
maoo!lver.ring M iOJ ro:�.d'S· ss ao issUe WI yoor communliy, 

� ·. p�l<'itlgrestrictms near�t®fl\1ers, I.OOUary 
wtl'iter pa� at tne base of . vider Slre(!t QTOss-secti:OM 
on hills, cr seasonal <1� resttii:;!;ions en hiJ:s. 
Stopi 1'19 ot HiUy Ti1rntin 
If yo community h.a� steep Slopes, make specia d�J;Sign 
pi"DIIisions. This can be dOne tnrou.gtl utihty placement, 
c:onnectec1 streB�S, Sidewalk: placemem pf01;14'0n of one-wa1' 
S!teeis, property aooess, and mlftmiZI!l9· rut aro tilt Slopes. 

Other Community Concerns? 

1 5  
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V I I .  Model 
Cross-Sections 

No Parking At lnterections 
Orr n;rrrocc .; t rco!l:;. prn-M.-.1 cllrs nar r fhr m ler:.edic n .-.m mt<·r­

. ·ae :cr ! lr t/r;· lrtnrmg n:cn,emellfs oflarg,· t•cnic/c5 

The- �<l! uti,m ·� to rn·ol!ibit on 
o i rrrer:i.ccfinn '· 

L 

fhe follo ving three s..:enanos 01re p�n �:d a.: Hm!J<.Iel stan· 
d .1rd s." Howt'Vf.'r, they do not represent the full rattge of 
possible solutions. Commurtities cl Je EOncouraged to use 
t.h�.e a;;; ,, starling point innD\'.lJive olutions -an be delflgned 
tor loc.nl si h.t<l lions. Here a re a few key points to keep in mind: 

V Stree:s wider than � feet �re NOT. by de!Jmton. a arroA� street." 

-1 Two-waHtreet$ under 20feet are NOT{ecorm��e<l r., in a 
special dfcu(llS'<B.I1ce_. a. COOJmunity al!o• .. :s a stre�ll&$$ tlian 2.() feet safety me:a�ur&s such as �s{ce;j t · sprinklers', on�way<SJ'Jeet des!g­r.a1ions. aoo blOCk Jer4fls l�ss than 300 feetmary b€ �ed 

� • f, 'i- ·:prJn;)l!7'-. U'f_ 1•.'k"" arrd .L\l �::%!fV : f,tl�t"fll "t"=> fi'llr.;! bt J1Yf.','\'Il.J r� !i-.. f L.11·� l:n ... lfJ. tr ' 
.it.-p�rlm(liJ m J.n•nf .. ," �  ti ;llt �ttit•...AJ, - J.tJ',,:•rl"'t f·v rhl' Hto!MI'l�� t ·,hit> ..... / lr:1 ... 1:"lJ w1.dtr; 
: lH� .J _;J(... 
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I 
No.2147 __ _ 

. REQUEST FOR STATEMENTS 
• OF QUALIFICATIONS 
For the Whitefish New City Hall and. Parking Structure Fa9ade PrOJect 

In accordance with Title 18 
Chapter 8 (MCA) and adopted 
<;:ity policy for consultant selec­
tron, the City of Whitefish Mon-

1 tana is seeking Statements of 
· Qu�lifications from consultant 

desrgn teams to provide project 
management, public involve­
ment •

. 
analysis, design, and con­

structron management services 
for the Whitefish New City Hall 
and. Parking Structure Fa9ade 
Pr�Ject. Statements of Qualifi­
catrons will be accepted until 
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, Au­
gust 7, 2013. The teams will be 
ranked by a seven to thirteen 
member Selection Committee 
�nc;J three to five finalists will be 
rnvrted to interviews and a de­
sign competition at a subse­
quent date. 

Copies of. th� complete Request fo� Qualrfrcatrons, including de­tarled submittal requirements and . selection criteria, can be obtarned by contacting Chuck Stearns, City Manager, at 
406-863-2406; P.O. Box 158 Whitefish, Montana 59937; or cstearns@cityotwhitefish.org .. 

\ 

June 26, July 3, 10, 2013 
' 

STATE OF MONTANA 

FLATHEAD COUNTY 

AFFIDAVIT OF PUBLICATION 

ANGELA WEAVER BEING DULY 
SWORN, DEPOSES AND SAYS: THAT SHE IS THE LEGAL 
CLERK OF THE WHITEFISH PILOT A NEWSPAPER OF 
GENERAL CIRCULATION, PRINTED AND PUBLISHED IN 
THE CITY OF WHITEFISH, IN THE COUNTY OF 
FLATHEAD, STATE OF MONTANA, AND THAT NO. 2147 

LEGAL ADVERTISMENT WAS PRINTED AND 
PUBLISHED IN THE REGULAR AND ENTIRE ISSUE OF 
SAID PAPER, AND IN EACH AND EVERY COPY THEREOF 
ON THE DATES OF June 26, July 3, 10, 2013. 

AND THE RA TE CHARGED FOR THE ABOVE 
PRINTING DOES NOT EXCEED THE MINIMUM 
GOING RATE CHARGED TO ANY OTHER 
ADVERTISER FOR THE SAME PUBLICATION, 
SET IN THE SAME SIZE TYPE AND PUBLISHED 
FOR THE SAME NUMBER OF INSERTIONS. 

__ &t�,__Jj ___ :iA.i&1.llX-
Subscribed and sworn to 
�\ me �his July 10, 2013. 

UlJL!JlL_�!�-
ANDREA J. BROWNING 
NOTARY PUBLIC for the 

State: of fviontana 
Residino at Martin City, Montana 

My Commission Expires 
January 22, 2016 
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